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ABOUT
MINMETALS
LAND
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Minmetals Land Limited is a subsidiary and the sole
listed real estate flagship of China Minmetals
Corporation in Hong Kong. Minmetals Land
Limited’s principal business includes real estate
development, specialised construction and property
investment. Currently, its real estate development
business covers the Pan Bohai Rim, Yangtze River
Delta, Central China Region, Chengdu-Chongqing
Region and Pearl River Delta (including Hong
Kong).
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ATEH

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman

Mr. Liu Bo — Managing Director

Mr. Chen Xingwu — Deputy Managing Director
Mr. Yang Shangping — Deputy Managing Director

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. He Xiaoli
Mr. Huang Guoping (appointed on 1 February 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Selwyn Mar (resigned on 1 July 2022)

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny

Professor Wang Xiuli (@appointed on 1 July 2022)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis (appointed on 12 January 2022)

LEGAL ADVISOR

Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27th Floor, One Taikoo Place,

979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Company, Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

Chong Hing Bank Limited

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

DBS Bank Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716,

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Victoria Place,

5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM 10,

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,
79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: 2613 6363

Fax: 2581 9823

Email: info@minmetalsland.com

WEBSITE

http://www.minmetalsland.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MERE

REVENUE TOTAL ASSETS
LN EERR
R — Bim & -
LU 5 WODEESINS. [ STEST0NENN-
ceE wEN
571 § 712,885,638 a0 § 177,173,244
sgn S5+
N4 S m L <
1l 8 z S
§+ S 7,661,646 S 68,387,737
o
cHE o o
S S 11,261,431 S 48,961,365
2 ©
S 10,930,824 S 47,252,777

NAV" PER SHARE
BREEFE

BASIC (LOSS)/
EARNINGS PER SHARE
SREX (E1R) BF

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
FE(ER) SR

ik

Spmog
BT R (1,360,224)
fom _
551 8§ 631,807
S 2
L gm
S5y 8 437,340
o
tE o
g8 1,352,583
0
2 1,747,143

CORE PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY*
FRRREREARERLRR

pEm ] - S 8 ~ g o
£§L§ 204 §§$§m ggfﬁfg §ils.719
= 8l = &m g D‘L—I‘
T om g 2 _ | BN e —
00 8 299 §-+ 8 2.67 == § 356,369
ot MR-l SEZu °
< o Zsn o :Q 2 m
I [ @ =
g T S 3.36 5\l & ass778
o LR o £9
g T S P 2 2 894,670
o o 0
g T g e = 847,259
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEFE Percentage
2022 2021 change (%)
—E=-= T —F BHILEE (%)
Basic (loss)/earnings per share EARIRERE AEL
for (loss)/profit attributable to (518 BRZER
equity holders of the Company BEX(FE) BR
(HK cents) (FBAL) (40.71) 267 N/ANiE A
Net debt (HKS$ million)* BEFE(BEET) 15,883 8,983 +76.8%
Net gearing ratio (%)* F B8 B R (%) 94.5% 38.9% +55.6%
¥ Core profit attributable to equity holders of the Company excludes allowance/reversal — *  ARARIRER B AEGZ SN TRETERERE,

for impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of associates and
joint ventures, exchange losses/gain, fair value changes on investment properties,
reversal/allowance for impairment of receivables.

*¥

Change in percentage points

# Net debt = (Total borrowings — Cash and bank deposits) #
#  Net gearing ratio = Net debt "
Total equity

A Net asset value attributable to equity holders of the Company

O DIEBMERARASERRANTFERE EX
Ba REAVEZATREZEREREIRER S
B

RANHNES

BRFE = (BREHE — RERRITER

FRELE = BEEFE
SRR

AR ERBAREZEEFE

IRBERRDA
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HONOURS AND AWARDS
% 8 5 38 1

REAL ESTATE
DEVELOPMENT

EihERE

Minmetals Land Limited

hiEMERR AT
o 2022 Real Estate Outstanding Enterprise Performance
2022 HhE MR

o 2022 Top 100 Chinese Real Estate Brand Influential
Enterprises
2022 BEIEHERBTENBREE

. 2022 Chinese Real Estate Brand Social Contribution
Enterprise
202 BEHEmEH S BRI N B2

o 2022 Annual Top 20 Real Estate Enterprises with
Investment Value
20224F [E 1R A (B B 3 2= 1> % (2054)

. 2022 Quality Real Estate Benchmarking Enterprise
2022F mEMERTFRE

PROPERTY China Minmetals Tower
MANAGEMENT fFI 5 foif)rzzlegf\/lanaged Property Award
Y E R BB E RN

o Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings - Fresh Water
(Management System) (Gold)

AEEEHKRBAFE — RK(EERELS) ()
o Indoor Air Quality Certificate
NFENZERMEZAR

Minmetals Property Services (Hong Kong)

Company Limited

AEMERK (EB)BERAA

. Property Management Pioneer Awards

mE L& LKF29
. Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings - Fresh Water

(Management System)(Gold)
AREEEHKRAE — RK(EERLG) (£)

I EEEEEEEEE—————
MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFPRBHRE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
SRS R ZEZERF ZE-hEF ZE2-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Results E
Revenue A 10,064,529 12,885,638 7661646 11261431 10,930,824
Operating (loss)/profit s (E1E), mF (414,827) 1,193,649 652,873 2,079,235 3,425,762
Finance income U A 178,863 249,115 222,799 221,744 189,019
Finance costs B 7 A AR (138,144) (163,076) (69,471) (26,739) (137,524)
Share of results of DI E N R EE
associates (786,422) (264,007) 4,469 (3,761) (10,531)
Share of results of joint DIEAEERAIEE
ventures 137,773 48,253 (2,260) (10,380) (3,310)
(Loss)/profit before tax BEAT (B1E), S8 F (1,022,757) 1,063,934 808,410 2,260,099 3,463,416
Income tax expense RS’ (337,467) (432,127) (371,070) (907,516)  (1,716,273)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (FBE)%F (1,360,224) 631,807 437,340 1,352,583 1,747,143
(Loss)/profit attributable to:  (fE518), & FIEEEBR :
Equity holders of the ZAN/NGIE E
Company BB A (1,362,468) 89,209 112,370 942,689 934,964
Holders of perpetual KAEBEARTE
capital instruments BFEA 45,197 164,996 220,578 219,089 184,362
Non-controlling interests ~ JE1ZE IR A% R4 &% (42,953) 377,602 104,392 190,805 627,817
Assets and liabilities EERAE
Non-current assets FERBEE 7,244,734 8,123,710 7,700,506 5,875,617 5,322,165
Current assets TENE B 60,142,291 69,049,534 60,687,231 43085748 41,930,612
Total assets BERRE 67,387,025 77173244 68387737 48961365 47,252,777
Equity attributable to equity AR & RERFA A
holders of the Company L2 e 6,819,529 10,020,461 9,598,951 9,193,845 8,367,708
Perpetual capital KABRTE
instruments — 2,448,182 3,947,539 3,803,647 3,854,289
Non-controlling interests ~ JE{2 A% I% SR A 25 9,992,569 10,649,268 8,863,517 3,269,226 2,588,454
Total equity T 16,812,098 23,117,911 22410007 16,266,718 14,810,451
Non-current liabilities ERBBE 17,753,100 14,860,560 15,928,050 9,723,554 14,172,783
Current liabilities mENAE 32,821,827 39,194,773 30049680 22971093 18,269,543
Total liabilities BEES 50,574,927 54055333 45977730 32,694,647 32,442,326
Total equity and liabilities  #% & B (&4 67,387,025  77,173244 68387737 48961365 47,252,777

— =

—_=_

—E®
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GROUP PROPERTIES
SEY=

REAL ESTATE
DEVELOPMENT
PROJECTS

FiERREHE

# O Yingkou i

1t 32 Béijing WP
WP 555 Langfang
X 32 Tianjin i
” P82 Xining
R Z Taian '
#I 3 Nanjing P
% M Suzhou '
’ FX#B Chengdu
W & % wuhan
&) Changsha ’
5% Xiangtan i
™ & Nan'an
& N Guangzhou i » :}‘N )
{8111 Foshan ' gy Hutzhdd
%3] Shenzhen '
”??ﬁ Hong Kong
As at 31 December 2022, The Group's projects breakdown was listed as below:
RZEZZF+ZA=+—H AKBEHB Z2EXDOT :
Percentage
Construction share of
Location it Bh Site Area floor area Land Bank Land Bank
1 L S
WRMmME SAEEEE T i % Aokt
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
(FFFK) (FFFK) (FFF2K)
Pan Bohai Rim RAEME 2,270,000 5,226,000 2,609,000 33.4%
Yangtze River Delta k=AM 812,000 2,225,000 332,000 42%
Central China Region FErh i @ 2,419,000 5,983,000 1,717,000 22.0%
Chengdu-Chongqing Region XA b [& 658,000 1,626,000 1,394,000 17.8%
Pearl River Delta H=AtE
(including Hong Kong) (BIEDRE) 1,303,000 2,916,000 1,767,000 22.6%
Total et 7,462,000 17,976,000 7,819,000 100.0%
012 |

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Fortune Garden it X 40l

Location

I &,

Usage
R

Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

B EEE

Group's interest

REB 5

Construction completion

date
®THH

£

. Xibeiwang Town, Haidian

District, Beijing, the PRC
R B dE BT [& P 4L AT SR

. Residential
FE

: Approximately 139,000 square
metres
#1139,000F 77 2K

. Approximately 414,000 square
metres
#)414,000F 75 K

© 51%

. Completed
=N

Beijing Chao Yang One it S EH[E =55

Location

HE

Usage
Rz

Site area

AR E A

Construction floor area

HEEEEE

Group's interest

REBE ML E S

Expected construction
completion date

FEEt R T HE

: Wangsiyingxiang, Chaoyang

District, Beijing, the PRC
PRI R ARG E £ e 48

. Residential

E=

. Approximately 49,000 square

metres
#749,000F 7 K

: Approximately 189,000 square

metres

#9189,000°F 75 K

1 40%

: 2Q 2024

ZEDMEE=-F

Platinum Bay F 7% . 15 &

Location

L E

Usage
J3:E75
Site area

BB T 18

Construction floor area

BEEEE

Group's interest

REBE LS

Construction completion

date

¥ T HE

. Liaoning (Yingkou) Coastal

Industrial Base, Yingkou City,
Liaoning Province, the PRC
FEEEALSOMERE(EN)
TG EE R

. Residential
F=

. Approximately 396,000 square
metres
#1396,000F 75 K

. Approximately 377,000 square
metres
#7377,000F 75

: 100%

. Completed
B®T

Harrow Town F5 & /NE

Location

o E

Usage
i

Site area

A& E 18

Construction floor area

MR R R

Group's interest

REBAIERE S

Expected construction
completion date

R T HE

. Jiangxintun Town, Xianghe

County, Langfang City, Hebei
Province, the PRC

AR LA AL BB B T B0 R
B WA

. Residential

E=E

. Approximately 550,000 square

metres

#7550,000F 5 K

. Approximately 1,285,000 square

metres R
#91,285,000F J5 oK

. 50%

. Land plot No. 3 in 4Q 2024

F=HMR  — T PO4F
S

Minmetals International P Bl E B & A E

Location

I E

Usage
R
Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

B EER

Group's interest

REBE S

Construction completion

date
%THE

Neo-Metropolis 7~ 3 3

Location

HhE

Usage
R

Site area

AR 18

Construction floor area

B EER

Group's interest

REEPIE S

Expected construction
completion date

FERT 2 T A

. At east of Yingbin Main Road and

south of Tuochang Road, Tanggu
District, Tianjin, the PRC
REIREMELRDERNE
AR K e i5 8 A

. Residential and commercial

EEREE

. Approximately 21,000 square

metres

#921,000F 7 2K

. Approximately 183,000 square

metres
#9183,000F 77 K

: 100%

. Completed

BRI

. Yixingbuzhen, Bei Chen District,

Tianjin, the PRC
FREAEMILREEERE

. Residential

F=E

. Approximately 1,115,000 square

metres

#91,115,000F J5 >k

. Approximately 2,778,000 square

metres
#92,778,000F 77 3K

: 49%

: 4Q 2031

= —FENF

IRBERRDA

TR FR

013
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‘

Sello Royale TiE . LEA

Location
B

il

Usage
A
Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

B

Group's interest

REE Prib s

Construction completion
Qiate
3% T A 5

. At south of Hongjing Main Road,

Science Park, Jiangning District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
HETI# A R IE R 2R
shE KBUAR

. Residential
F=

. Approximately 179,000 square
metres .
#9179,000F 75 2K

. Approximately 270,000 square
metres
#9270,000°F 5 K

: 100%

: Completed
B®T

‘

Academic Royale FL¥& « 2 X &3

Location

I Eh

Usage
&

Site area

AR T 18

Construction floor area

B EEE

Group's interest

RE B P51 S

Construction completion
date
% T HH

Yan Shan Ju 21U FE

. At Tian He Road, Jianye District,

Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
rh BT & A R R R [ RO B8

. Residential
F=

. Approximately 136,000 square
metres
#9136,000F 77 2K

: Approximately 482,000 square
metres
#9482,000F 73 2K

: 100%

. Completed
B%T

‘

Location

HE

Usage
Rz

Site area

AR T8

Construction floor area

SR

Group's interest

REBPIE R

Construction completion
date

¥ T H B

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

At Zhong Ling Jie, Xuanwu

District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC
FEIHEE R ZR REERD

. Residential

*=

. Approximately 91,000 square

metres

#791,000F 7 2K

. Approximately 203,000 square

metres

#9203,000F 75 K

: 100%

. Completed

B®RT

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

‘
»

Enchanté Oasis T7& « 1% 4fi |2

Location
ih B

il

Usage
B
Site area

AR

Construction floor area
BEEME

o

Group s interest

REE PGS

Construction completion
date
8 T H Hf

. At the junction of Shuanglong

Main Road and Xuelindong Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC

A ./Ié$é ﬁ/‘?\/lmﬁgﬁgj(
BT EMER BE 22 R

. Residential

x=E

. Approximately 95,000 square

metres

#795,000F 7 2K

. Approximately 255,000 square

metres

#9255,000F 75 K
100%

. Completed
&

WT

Enchanté Cove T & « BB 5 1L

‘
;

Location
2

Usage
e
Site area

A& E 18

Construction floor area

EHE

Group's interest

ANEE PGS

Construction completion
date

% T H

At the junction of Fanggian Main
Road and Wushi Road, Jiangning
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC N
HEDT#E /UL E R 7 AT AE
HIEE KRR

Residential

F=

Approximately 68,000 square
metres

#768,000F 7 2K

Approximately 148,000 square
metres

#7148,000F 5 K
100%

Completed
BE%T

Jiang Shan Da Jing SI 1L K38

Location

o E

Usage
e
Site area

HARE S

Construction floor area

IR

Group's interest

REE P S

Construction completion
date

% T H Ef

. At the junction of Guangming

Road and Lixin Road, Pukou
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC \

BT &R A B OB D@ R
Eﬁii*ﬁﬁﬂ)&u

. Residential

£

. Approximately 83,000 square

metres N
#983,000F 77 K

. Approximately 285,000 square

metres

#7285,000F 75 K

: 39.8%

. Completed

2% T



Location

I Eh

Usage
it
Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

EEEEE

Group's interest

REBE LS

Construction completion
date

T HE

East of the Nanjing Jiangning
high-tech park Zhengfang Main
Road and south of Shimeng Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC

FETIHEE I ERSEE
FREUR - FEE AR
Residential

£

Approximately 61,000 square
metres .
#961,000%F 75 2K

Approximately 181,000 square
metres

#7181,000°F 75 K
100%

Completed
BRI

‘
2]

Majestic Mansion R I EfF

Location

HE

Usage
P&

Site area

AR 18

Construction floor area

EAEE

Group’s interest

REBPIE R

Construction completion
date

BT A

Location

L E

Usage
=t
Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

HZEEE

Group's interest

REE Fh =

Expected construction
completion date

JEEHR T HH

TR FR

. At the junction of Yanshan Road

and Shuiximen Jie, Gulou District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
AR BT #R A F RS @ AL R B
KEEPIR BT A SR

. Residential and commercial

EEREE

. Approximately 43,000 square

metres

#743,000F 7 2K

. Approximately 233,000 square

metres

#9233,000F 75 K

© 34.1%

. Completed

BE®T

N B T

-
-
‘
=1
=
-
5

. South of Min Sheng Road and

West of Xing Pu Road, High Trade
Zone, Suzhou Industrial Park,
Suzhou, Jlangsu Province, the PRC
EPI/IE*E@MH B JHI%IE
mERRBERE  BUHRA

. Residential

=

. Approximately 56,000 square

metres

#956,000F 77 K

. Approximately 168,000 square

metres
#7168,000F 77 K

: 55.0%

1 4Q 2024

—E-NEFEENE

015
ARHERTRLF
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GROUP PROPERTIES

- E/ES

Changsha Wanjing Yayuan RV EEHE

Location
B

R

Site area

AR E R

Construction floor area

RS R

Group's interest

REBE LS

Expected construction
completion date
TR T B

. East of East Nine Road, North of

Wang Xian Road, West of East
Ten Road, South of Te Li Road,
Changsha City, Hunan Province,
the PRC o
FEREERPTRDBRN
BEDABR ~ BAUBE AL - SRR
VAT ~ BB DAR

. Residential
pIC

=

: Approximately 137,000 square

metres
#9137,000F 75 K

. Approximately 315,000 square

metres

#9315,000F 75 K

: 51%

1 2Q 2025

—E-_RFE=_F

LOHAS International Community

R EEERHE

Location
24

Usage

B

Site area

AR TE 18

Construction floor area

MRS R

Group's interest

REBE LS

Construction completion
date
BT A

Scotland Town K&/ &

. At Yuntang Village and Yuetang

Location

M E

Usgge

A&
Site area

AR TE 18

Construction floor area
BIEEEE

Group's interest

REBE LS

Construction completion
date

¥ T HE

: At Gaoyun Road, Muyun Town,

Changsha, Hunan Province, the

PRC
TEEA RS TEEASER

. Residential

{EESE

. Approximately 643,000 square

metres

#7643,000F ;5 K

. Approximately 1,084,000 square

metres
#91,084,000°F 75 K

: 100%

. Completed
&

% T

Village, Muyun Town, Changsha,
Hunan Province, the PRC
FENREE RS e AEEN
& AEN

: Residential
(G2

. Approximately 333,000 square
metres
#7333,000F 75 K

. Approximately 442,000 square
metres
#7442,000F 75 K

: 100%

. Completed
=N

Changsha Minmetals Plaza &) A& &5

Location . Within the central business unit of

ih B Xiangjiang Riverbank area, south of
Baisha Road, in between
Xiangjiangzhong Road and Shuyuan
Road, Tianxin District, Changsha,
Hunan Province, the PRC
S R DT ADETE D
—iEERT IR BB - T

R R E R 2 [
Usgge : Commercial
& [HES
Site area . Approximately 22,000 square
AR EE metres

#722,000F 75 2K
Construction floor area . Approximately 192,000 square
BEEEE metres

#9192,000F 75 K
Group's interest : 100%
REBEMGEER
Expected construction 1202026
completion date ZTERFEF
TBEr% T B

Qin Royale H & « b B & 3

Location . At Fu Yuan West Road, Kaifu
I 2 District, Changsha, Hunan
Province, the PRC
E A B HHEE

BT
Usgge : R\esrigential\and commercial
A& EEREE
Site area . Approximately 150,000 square
A4 TH AR metres

#7150,000F 7 K
Construction floor area . Approximately 570,000 square
4R EETEIR metres

#9570,000F 75 2K
Group's interest : 100%
REBEMGE#ER
Construction completion : Completed
date B®T
% T HH

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



]
f
HiE

Xiangtan Scenery Cove #iE « B K F

Location

54

Usage
R

Site area

AR T 18

Construction floor area

MR EEEE

Group's interest

REBE L=

Expected construction
completion date

FEEtR T HH

- At No. 28 Xuefu Road, Economic

and Technological Development
Zone, Xiangtan, Hunan Province,
the PRC

AR B8 R R MR T A R AT R B
& 2211 5% 2857

. Residential

BEZE

: Approximately 428,000 square

metres

#9428,000°F 75 K

. Approximately 1,104,000 square

metres

#31,104,000F 75 K

: 51%

: 2Q 2027

T FEF

‘

Realm of Landscape & & &

Location
1

il

Usage
B
Site area

AR T 18

Construction floor area

BEEEE

Group's interest

REEEHE S

Expected construction
completion date

FERT 2 T A 8

. At No. 79, Section 2, Xiangjiang

North Road, Kaifu District,
Changsha Hunan Province, the

¢lﬁ@éﬁumﬁmﬁﬁlﬁ

%—EX79 L

. Residential

*=

: Approximately 87,000 square

metres

#987,000F 75 2K

: Approximately 311,000 square

metres

#9311,000°F 75 K

: 25.5%

: 4Q 2024

—E-FFNE

Greenland Centre #&ith F /0y

Location
bk

Usage
it
Site area

AR E S

Constructiog floor area
r%ru» g&’ *ﬁ

Group's interest

REBE LS

Construction completion

date

T HE

At No. 319, Section 1, Furong
Middle Road, Kaifu District
Changsha Hunan Province, the

¢Iﬂﬁéﬁuﬁﬁmtxa
& —ER3195%

=
O
.
d

. Commercial

A

: Approximately 23,000 square

metres R
#)23,000F 7 K

. Approximately 259,000 square

metres
#9259,000F 77 2K

: 255%

. Completed
B%T

Enchanté Crest LfE . WX EHE

Location

il

Usage
i
Site area

AR E A

Construction floor area :

HEEmIR

o =

Group's interest

REEPTIEE S

Construction
completion date
% T HE

At the junction of Songjiagangdong
Road and Huayun Road,
Panlongcheng Economic
Development Zone, Huangpi District,
Wuhan, Hubei Province, the PRC

¢Iﬁkéi%m%& & BT
BRERARR %%Ei?%xﬁ

Residential

*=E

Approximately 61,000 square metres
#)61,000F 7 K

Approximately 180,000 square
metres

#7180,000F 75 K
100%

Completed
B®T

Wuhan Scenery Cove & & B K =

Location

Mo E

Usage
Rz

Site area

AR 18

Construction floor area

A

Group's interest

REBE LS

Construction completion

date

% T H Ef

B
K
FIE

Between Third Ring South and
Fourth Ring South, Wuhan, Hubei
Province, the PRC
B4 A R TR = I s

R

Residential

T

Approximately 62,000 square
metres

#962,000F 5 2K

Approximately 215,000 square
metres

#9215,000F 77 K
100%

Completed
BRI

—E--f% LHEHEBRALA

017
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GROUP PROPERTIES
- E/ES

Taian Scenery Centre X L ERES

Location . Changcheng Road, Angao New
24 District, Taian, Shangdong
Province, the PRC N
B R R
R

Usage . Commercial
R [GES
Site area . Approximately 51,000 square
B EE metres
#951,000F 75 2K
Construction floor area . Approximately 148,000 square
BIEEmIE metres
#7148,000F 75 K
Group's interest © 51%
REBATIEER
Construction completion  : Completed
date B®T
% T B

Taian Scenery Cove =% - BIRKE

Location . Changcheng Road, Angao New

Hh2h District, Taian, Shangdong
Province, the PRC
PEILREFR T ERHE

R
Usage : Rpsidential
Rz F=
Site area . Approximately 270,000 square
A% TE AR metres
#9270,000F 75
Construction floor area . Approximately 699,000 square
HEEEMEIE metres
#9699,000F 75 K
Group's interest © 51%
REEFEER
Construction completion  : Completed
date B®T
% T B

Minmetals Chai Da Mu Plaza T 5% 4¢3 K &5

Location :© Wusi West Road, Haihu New

i B District, Xining, Qinghai Province,
the PRC o
PEESEOETENTR
FO P B

Usage : Commercial

iz [(SES

Site area . Approximately 152,000 square

HAEEE metres

#7152,000F 5 K

Construction floor area . Approximately 464,000 square

IR EEIE metres
#1464,000F 75 K

Group's interest © 51%

AREE PG R

Construction completion : Completed

date B%T

% T B

Chengdu West-Lake Future City FX 5 78 4 & 38 35

Location

I E

Usage
R

Site area

A& A

Construction floor area

HBEEEEE

Group's interest

REE L =S

Expected construction
completion date

FEFHIR T B

. Eastern new district of Dayi

County, Chengdu City, Sichuan
Province, the PRC
B IE K EB R B SR R B0 3T =

. Residential and commercial

EEMEHE

: Approximately 509,000 square

metres

#9509,000F 77 K

. Approximately 1,171,000 square

metres

#91,171,000°F J5 >k

: 100%

. Phase 1in 4Q 2023

F—H: T _=FFNF
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Chengdu Xindu Guiyu Mingdi B &8 %7 &8 #£ 55 & BB

Location
H2h

Usage
7
Site area

AR S

3

Construction floor area
SRR

Vo

Group's interest

REEEHE S

Expected construction
completlon date

BERT

'.‘“ '.Jmm

TR

; ,1” Illla”u;

West Begonia Fi 7%

Location

HE

Usege
Rz
Site area

AR T 18

Construction floor area

MR EEE R

Group's interest

REBE LS

Construction completion

date

% T HH

- No.5 Community, Huamei Village,

Dafeng Town, Xindu District,
Chengdu Sichuan Province, the

EF I@ Iléﬁﬁi%ﬂ?ﬁ%%ﬁﬁkﬂfﬁ
EXNA

: Re5|dent|al
- ==

BE=E

: Approximately 39,000 square

metres

#739,000F 7 2K

: Approximately 121,000 square

metres
#7121,000F 5 K

: 51.0%

: 2Q 2024

T_NFFE_F

BREER

: Wenjiajie Road, Qingyang District,

Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the

PRC
B G| 4 BB B IR
5

. Residential

==

. Approximately 22,000 square

metres

#722,000F 7 2K

. Approximately 80,000 square

metres

#780,000F 77 2K

: 100%

. Completed

BRI

Dayi Shaqu project R& A2 W RIEH

Location
B

Usage
A
Site area

AR E A

Construction floor area

MR R A

Group's interest

REE FTh S

Expected construction
completion date

FEFTIR T B

: Shaqu Subdistrict, Dayi County,

Chengdu City, Sichuan Province,
EPIE & K B 5 R

. Residential

F=E

. Approximately 44,000 square

metres

#944,000F 7 K

. Approximately 114,000 square

metres

#7114,000F 75 K

: 100%

: 4Q 2024

—E_PQFFNE

Chengdu Xindu Lanyue Xian Huayuan

X EB 3 #R M bR F1E E

Location

I E

Usage
i
Site area

A& A8

Construction floor area
EmE

Vo

Group's interest

REBE L=

Expected construction
completlon date

FAFRT

- =

TR FR

No.7 Community,Tuojiang,No.7
Community, Hancheng Village,
Xindu Town, Xindu District,
Chengdu Sichuan Province, the

EPIE IIéﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬂ?ﬁ%BI?_u%ﬁ%Biﬁ
EWAT A VBT

Residential
=

Approximately 44,000 square
metres

#144,000°F 75 2K
Approximately 140,000 square
metres

#7140,000F 75 K

51.0%

3Q 2024
—FOFEFE=F

IRBERRDA

019



020

GROUP PROPERTIES

£ kIS

Hallstatt See T 1& « I5 B 38 4%

Location

I Eh

Usage
P&

Site area

AR E AR

Construction floor area

B EEE

Group's interest

REBE LS

Expected construction
completion date

FERt R T B H

: Mai Tian Ling, Boluo County,

Huizhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
FEEREEMNMEEGEHS

. Residential

=

. Approximately 918,000 square

metres

#7918,000°F 75 K

. Approximately 1,549,000 square

metres
#91,549,000F 77 3K

: 100%

. High rise of Phase V in 4Q 2025

FERHBERND
EukEs

—TZhHF

Foshan Academic Royale f# |L| T 5% - 5= 32 & #

Location

I Eh

Usage
P&

Site area

AR T 8

Construction floor area

A

Group's interest

REB LD

Construction completion
date
BTAH

. Lujingdong Road, Chancheng

District, Foshan, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
AP B SR A R L A [ A R R B

. Residential

=

. Approximately 43,000 square

metres

#743,000F A K

. Approximately 214,000 square

metres

#9214,000F 75 K

: 100%

. Completed

BRI

Greenery Terrace Bl &

Location
H

il

Usage

.

Site area

BB T 18

Construction floor area
RIFEEMIE

Group's interest

REBPEHE S

Construction completion
date
%®THH

: Xingnan Main Road, Nancun

County, Panyu District,
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province,

the PRC
FEEREEMNTEREENE
RPN

: Residential
x=

. Approximately 17,000 square
metres
#717,000F 75 2K

. Approximately 29,000 square
metres
#129,000F 75 2K

: 100%

. Completed
BRI

Regent Heights H & 1A% ¥ 1L fF

Location

HE

Usage
R

Site area

H AR E AR

Construction floor area

HEEEE

Group's interest

REBE LI

Construction completion
date
% T A

ParcOne ZiE .= &

: Maogang Road, Huangpu District,

Guangzhou, Guangdong Province
the PRC
PEIEREEMNTEEES =R

: Residential
T=

. Approximately 21,000 square
metres
#121,000%F J5 2K

. Approximately 72,000 square
metres
#)72,000F 75 2K

© 51%

. Completed
B%T

Location

HE

Usage
P&

Site area

A&

Construction floor area

S =gk

Group's interest

REBE LD

Construction completion
date
% T A

. Changling Road, Huangpu District,

Guangzhou, Guangdong Province,
the PRC
PREIERAEEMNTEEERER

: Residential
T=

. Approximately 72,000 square
metres
#172,000%F 75 2K

. Approximately 258,000 square
metres
#9258,000F 5 K

© 51%

. Completed
2% T

Guangzhou Langyun Garden E M B ZE E

Location
i Bh

il

Usage
A
Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

MR EETH 1A

Group's interest

REE PGS

Construction completion
date
% T HH

. At Airport Expressway, Baiyun

District, Guangzhou, Guangdong
Province, the PRC*
P EE R RN T AR E S

=R DR

: Residential

=]

. Approximately 57,000 square

metres

#757,000F 15 2K

. Approximately 130,000 square

metres

#7130,000F 75 K

: 10%

: Completed

BE®RT

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Guangzhou River Skyline /& /i3I X B

Location

HE

Usage
P&

Site area

AR T 18

Construction floor area

MR EEEE

Group's interest

REBMIE R

Expected construction
completion date

FEET R T HH

. Complex on phase Il of metro line
no. 13, Baiyun District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
WI%%%?MmE*EmiB
SR &% — B SR UL IS UL AR A B8

: Residential and commercial
TEREE

. Approximately 77,000 square
metres

#977,0005F 75 K

. Approximately 340,000 square
metres

#9340,000F 75 K
: 45.9%
© 4Q 2026

ZEZRNFENFE

‘

The Greenville & & ff

Location

I Eh

Usage
P&

Site area

BB T T8

Construction floor area

B EEE

Group's interest

REB LS

Construction completion

date
3% T A 5

MAJOR
INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

TEREYF

: Maluan Subdistrict, Pingshan
District, Shenzhen, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
T EERE R E S AE

. Residential and commercial

FEREE

. Approximately 31,000 square
metres

#931,000F 77 K

: Approximately 178,000 square
metres

#9178,000F 77 2K
: 100%
. Completed
B%T

China Minmetals Tower F B R g K&

‘
<t}

Location

HEh

Usage
A&

Lease term

HEHIR

79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

ERNERDBERERE L TR

Commercial

[EES

Medium term

Gk

Nan’an Project 7 %18 B

Location

HhE

Usage
R

Site area

AR E 18

Construction floor area

MR R R

Group's interest

REBAIE TS

Expected construction
completion date

R T HE

Montego Bay & B2 R

Location

o E

Usage
R

Site area

AR E

Construction floor area

MR R TR

Group's interest

REBPIG

Expected construction
completion date

JEEHE T HE

LKF 29

Location

o E

Usage
R

Lease term

HEHR

. Xiaxi Village, Yingdu Town, Nan'an

City, Quanzhou, Fujian Province,
the PRC
FEEEA RN T EEBE
BRH

. Industrial

T

. Approximately 56,000 square

metres

#756,000F 77 2K

. Approximately 81,000 square

metres

#981,000F 75 2K

. 70%

: 2Q 2024

TR CNFE

18 Shung Shun Street, Yau Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

BRENEREREE185%
Rgsidential
F=x

Approximately 11,000 square
metres

#711,000F 77 2K

Approximately 65,000 square
metres

#965,000F 5 K
100%

4Q 2023
—E-=FFENE

29 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong
Kong

BERPRERG =5
Commercial

[HES

Long term

~H#

TR FR

ARBERRDA
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEHE

I am pleased to present to you the report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

RESULTS

During the year, the overall China’s real estate market went south due
to recurring pandemic outbreaks, macro-economy and policies on the
real estate sector. Under the principle of prudence, the Group carried
out assets revaluation and made corresponding provision for
impairment according to the market conditions, truly reflecting the
asset value. In addition, pandemic-induced delay in delivery and
recognition of some real estate projects posed a relatively considerable
and direct impact on the overall performance. In 2022, the Group
achieved consolidated revenue of HKS$10,065 million, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 21.9%. Net loss of the year was HK$1,360
million (2021: net profit of HK$632 million). Loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company amounted to HKS$1,362 million (2021: profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$89 million). Core
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company* amounted to
HK$107 million (2021: HKS$356 million), representing a decrease of
69.9% as compared to last year. The Board of Directors does not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: HK1 cent per share and a special dividend of
HK1 cent per share, totalling HK2 cents per share), retaining more cash
to cope with the uncertain market challenges and for future
development needs.

* “Core profit attributable to equity holders of the Company” excludes allowance/
reversal for impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of
associates and joint ventures, exchange losses, fair value changes on investment

properties and reversal/allowance for impairment of receivables.

KARAR BTREAEEHZ-_ZT_—
F+-RA=+—BIEFEZHRE -

Sz =
II\E

FHN - ZEBERE - RBCEREREHET
ENREREFE 2EEERMEMES
IREPRES - HREEERE - AEEREM
BIEREEFEEETHRIE  SEEEEE
FEFERH IR E R o LA - B EHEIRR H
R EERREEZIBMATEE - $E8:

BENTBEREEENFE . —T-—F K
EBERGEAWA10065EE T B L TEE
21.9% : FREEIB1360BBT(ZTE-—F:
FEAEEREBAETT) AR FIREFTE AEML
BB 1362 8B T (ZEZ—F « AR AIRER
BABMGAESERETL) : ARRIRERSE
AEMEZ G F* B 07EE T (ZE—F
3561BABTL) BEF TK69.9% - EEEEH
TER-E-__F+-A=+—HILFEZ
RERE (ZE=—F : FRR 1B - AREFR
EEER BN - & E2BW) MRBRZH
© o RETHEAMSBFBEERME -

* [FRFRIEIEGASE 0T T L RE
e S ERA BRI ERE - E
B REYEZ DA BEEE)RENKFRZE
B -
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MARKET REVIEW

In 2022, the foundation for China's economic recovery is not solid
since the drastic changes and a pandemic both unseen in a century,
coupled with the triple pressure of “shrinking demand, supply shocks
and weakening expectations”, the country’s real estate market
contracted sharply with the frequent occurrence of debt crisis for real
estate developers due to the double whammy of sagging sales and
funding constraints.

During the year, the regulatory authorities rolled out a flurry of support
measures under the principle of “houses are for living in, not for
speculation”, including special loans to ensure housing project delivery
and “three arrows” etc. to stabilize real estate market expectations. The
overall property sales volume in 2022 was sluggish, with a noticeable
drop in supply and demand despite continuous policy easing on the
supply and demand sides, causing by lingering pandemic, significantly
weakened expectations on household income, consumers’ housing
sentiment hovering at a low level and stagnant sales in the property
market. According to data from the National Bureau of Statistics, sales
of national commercial houses in 2022 recorded a year-on-year
decrease of 26.7% to RMB13.3 trillion, hitting a record low in the past
six years whilst the saleable area of commercial houses was 1,358.37
million square meters, representing a year-on-year decrease of 24.3%,
hitting a record low in the past seven years. On the supply side, both
the government and real estate developers have a low appetite for
land supply and acquisitions respectively as the ongoing overhaul on
China’s real estate market with impaired funding access for real estate
developers. According to data from the National Bureau of Statistics,
the investment in national real estate development in 2022 recorded a
year-on-year decrease of 10.0% to RMB13.3 trillion, and the housing
construction area of real estate development enterprises was 9,049.99
million square meters, representing a year-on-year decrease of 7.2%. In
2022, the new home sales in 100 major cities dropped by nearly 40%
year-on-year, the lowest level since 2015 (source: China Real Estate
Index System, CREIS). In addition, new personal mortgage loans in 2022
amounted to RMB 2,381.5 billion, down 26.5%. The nation’s outstanding
mortgages rose only 1.2% year-on-year to RMB 38.8 trillion at the year
end with a year-on-year decrease of 10 percentage points in its growth
rate, falling to the lowest level since 2010. (source: National Bureau of
Statistics of China and the People’s Bank of China)

™ 3% B BR

TECCF EYAFERMEALRIBHEE
R PREEERERDAERE  BMNFH
KU HE - TR EHES I —EBNT
2EFEMEMSRELREDE  ZHNHEE
HEENEREE  FRAREREH -

EIEEMYIMEERAREET  BEEHMAR
FRAZREEMERR  BREARXEFEE
T BHEI=X&HIF UBEEHETS
B - BEHFTRRBR T NE - ERIFH
B ERYBAEHREAES BREEEXE
BINREL - THEERY - ERHFRAR

Wi —E - _FEARMEHERERR
Eixpes) - REBRRXGABRBERER  —2=

—FEEREHEEAIIERTARE
Bt TBE26.7% » Bl 6F RAFTE B REH
EEEA1358378FF K AL TFE243%
AR 7FERAFE - IR AW - SEWEM
SEHERAE BEOBESRBEARE BT KL
BhEERTE - RERNKATREIEA
TR _FrEEHERERERIZIE
BIARE R TFE100% : Bl 2= &
¥EE M TEE04,9998 F 7K » Rt T &
72%°c —E- —FEIZHWHERRELL T
PR - BT — RF ARREAKTF (BUEK
TR - RIEEURCREIS) » B4N  Z B = ZFHE
FEAZRIBERSETARE T
265%  FRBAFFEEFBIEISERBITAR
B RILLEE R 2%  ERZFRDI10EE S
2 RA T —ZSFURKEAKF - (BIEK
B BRATBREPEARET)

IRBERRDA

TEZCFR
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFE®RE

OPERATION REVIEW

Actively responding to the downturn in the real
estate industry, accelerating the transformation into
an urban operator

In 2022, the national real estate market slid into a deep freeze. The
Group took proactive actions to address the extremely challenging
market conditions and strived to overcome the unfavourable external
environment by sticking to the general principles of pursuing progress
while ensuring stability as well as moderate high-quality development.
Against the backdrop of market downturn with some companies
struggled to survive, the Group, on the one hand, stepped up its
efforts to unload housing inventories with strict control over its
increment, launched online sales and marketing program with
innovative digital marketing initiatives under changing market
conditions, made flexible adjustments to the pace of sales based on
the particular circumstances of each project. On the other hand, the
Group performed in-depth monitoring of changing market landscapes,
remained calm and rational, strictly controlled new investments,
acquired a land parcel in Nan'an, Fujian at the base price, which not
only effectively controlled investment risks but also safeguarded the
sustainable development of the Group.

The Company has all along been unswervingly pushing forward its
strategy of transforming into an urban operator. Leveraging on
practical experience accumulated over years, a unique industry-city
business model and market competitiveness had been gradually
established for the industry-city business. On the Dayi Project, constant
regional development based on the industry-city business model has
been progressing during the year, creating synergies with the real
estate investment business; whilst the successful bidding of the Nan’an
Project signified the perfect implementation of the government-enterprise
cooperation model. The Company made ongoing efforts in propelling
the asset-light business model, facilitated emerging industries by
various means, such as industrial investment promotion, park operation
and maintenance as well as construction management, further
intensifying the transformation of its sustainable development.

RO

REBEHEMETETT  MiRM
[BHEEELEH I BREAR

T F  2REMEMSGEARL A&
BRI EL IR ATFMITERE  BEEFR
ki BEMNSEERRAEA AR
FERFPRIE - EITERBTIT SO ERE
KEMBRT AEE—FEMANETEF
EREE] BEMBSE/LCHAIEHEE
B REHTEHEERTE SAEEERE
o BERAREESE S AEFEABRT
B REBLFEBENRERE - BRITHNE
& UEEEIEEETIHIE - TEEUES
wWERE  RBORET RNEEMAFHER
E& °

D

/

i

AR —EREMNBHHEENTREELR
BAFROBE  EAXTEBZFNRR
MEE ZXEIKTERENENETR
AURTIEHEFES - FA - KEASHEB#
BUEBBRANDTREENRFAE  HRM
EREXEY  BLHEBKINFER - FRE R
BERATEZ L SEREEEEXEBKR
A BREXRAR ERESR FERRESFS
BREAMERRER  SARRE T RL
AR EERAER 25K o
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Actively achieving breakthroughs in its commercial
management business, gearing up to fight against
market challenges

During the year, the Company exerted all efforts to fend off market
challenges and continuously enhanced its commercial management
system, outperforming its peers in many aspects. Firstly, Changsha-Live
Phase 2, the commercial section, was opened in August 2022 with
both the signing rate and operating rate exceeding 90% on the
opening day, achieving industry-leading overall operation standard;
whilst Taian-Live maintained a stable occupancy rate of over 95% and a
100% rent collection rate, with the project operational effectiveness
went beyond the levels across the industry and neighborhoods. Those
made the Group out-performed other peers in terms of overall
operational standard. Secondly, integration of online and offline
marketing approach had been initiated for the Changsha and Taian-
Live, which is very effective in increasing online sales as well as driving
offline traffic and sales; all-inclusive vacation packages and all-scenario
immersive shows were launched and generated considerable revenue
for the Hallstatt See Small Town and Hotel. Those served as a
breakthrough of going out of its circle and becoming widely-known
amidst the headwinds. Thirdly, Taian Scenery Cove's de-stocking rate
outperformed its peers driven by Taian-Live, and its residential property
price, on average, was higher than those in the surrounding market
with over RMB1,000 per square metre; while the opening of Changsha-
Live Phase 2 boosted the sales of the apartments. Smooth operation of
the commercial properties plays a significant role in growing sales,
adding value in property development by running commercial
properties.

Implementing strategies for its property business,
enhancing scale and efficiency year-on-year

During the year, the Group actively expanded its business and
successfully secured a number of external projects, resulting in a
remarkable rise in the area under management. At the same time, the
Group made sustained efforts in optimizing its control initiatives, with
continuous enhancement in its property operation capabilities as well
as overall operation scale and effectiveness. Riding on its superb
services, the Group was ranked 147th among the 2022 Top 500
Property Management Companies in China in terms of Overall
Strength” and received numerous industry awards such as “2022 Top
50 State-owned Property Management Companies in China in terms of
Overall Strength”, constantly elevating its brand equity.

BAEXRBERBRE 2 HUET S
ﬁ

FR - ARARZABHMSKE  FERER
¥THEBEER  AEZERBITEKRFEAMRE -
—REBEBEKFITESEL c RAWERZE
TTFENREAEE_RE FEEBER
IR AR EEEBIBO0%  TLLVEIBLR
RIF95% LA 35 7 B 3 3 K 100% 19 18 & W4
% IHEEZERBITERABKE - Z2FIE
FERERBIEE] - RPEFLZUVERE [ &Z
F+ETIHES N EnEEHEE TR
TREER  BWREE - BB NEREE
FEI—EB2el+ 282N VEE | ERE
W AEBEIEABRKA - R EELERA
FEEE - BEEHEEEMIEFES  HiHE
EXTHBNEREER R"LEBKEESR
ZUVERNEH T - FEEBRBEEAEMSTIES
BT ITARE FX - HEEREHERRE
EAUVEZHIREDEBIRE T ABEREL °

VIRRBEZERR  SAENEELRE
}l.

FR - AEBRBRGHRES - KNG ZEN
HIEE  EEABREZRA - AN ALET
ETB(L BRI  BERAVELLEEN &
fEERENGEERBENE - REELDNRS
K AN B L2022 Bl W) 2 RS 247
A B 150058 15514748 ~ [2022h Bl B W) %
RS TESGAEE NS08 | SELHITERSE &
IR EEFER -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFE®RE

Staying committed to strategy of premium
properties, promoting high-quality development

The Group has been pursuing a long-term and steady development of
high-quality products, closely following the country’s dual-carbon goals
with untiring commitment to enhance product quality, strengthening
the systematic construction of scientific and technological innovation,
successfully developing the 5M product system with in-depth research
on ventilator, sintered stone, graphene floor heating and other new
products. Of which, a national patent of independent intellectual
property rights in the field of real estate development has been
received for the first time. At present, the 5M intelligent health product
system, which concerning merit in healthy living, mutual and intelligent
system for households and community, mindful of the need to provide
caring services and protective security system, merry and comfortable
lifestyle and environment and master green construction, has been
applied to all real estate development projects and won 32 national
and international design awards during the year, establishing a good
reputation in the market and gaining customers’ recognition.

Maintaining financial stability, broadening financing
channels for the real estate industry

Thanks to its robust business strategy and sound financial indicators,
the Group opened up innovative financing with a diversity of channels
and types, enhanced and refined the onshore and offshore financing
structure with sharp-witted capture of the financing window in 2022,
laying a solid financial foundation for the Group’s high-quality
development. The Group successfully raised a four-year HK$3.5 billion
offshore club loan, together with a three-year RMB 800 million onshore
corporate bonds despite the rising number of real estate enterprises
were teetering on the brink of bankruptcy. Meanwhile, the Group
secured a stable and healthy cash flow by various measures, revised the
allocation of long-term and short-term debts and optimised the assets-
liabilities structure, staying in the green camp of the “three red lines”.
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OUTLOOK

Looking ahead to 2023, it is expected to see more easing of China’s
real estate policies on both sides of the supply and demand under the
premise of “houses are for living in, not for speculation”. The Central
Economic Work Conference clearly stated that “it is necessary to ensure
the stable development of the real estate market”, and do a good job
in “ensuring the delivery of housing projects, people’s livelihood and
stability”. However, the economy and consumer confidence will take
time to recover. The tough operating environment of China’s real
estate market is not about to be reversed any time soon, albeit the
ongoing relaxation of regulatory policies and credit conditions. On the
demand side, housing upgrades are expected to become a crucial
driver for the property sector with weakening momentum in the
medium and long-term housing demand. On the supply side, the
investment in real estate development remains under downward
pressure through 2023 due to factors such as the shrinking scale of
land transactions in the past two years and the considerable capital
pressure on real estate companies.

There are opportunities and challenges lie ahead in 2023. The Group
will pay close attention to market changes, reinforce its robust business
strategy, adhere to the strategy of high-quality development with a
focus on premium products and further beef up its effort in cash flow
management. The real estate industry is entering a new phase of
development, returning to a people’s livelihood-led industry with a shift
from meeting basic housing needs towards high-quality living needs.
The Group will devote particular attention and efforts in the key
regions, intensify its business transformation, enhance its capabilities in
commercial properties operation, make intensive efforts to develop its
property management business, accelerate its transformation into an
urban operator; fully capitalize on its strengths in the capital market as
a listing arm with continuous innovation in financing tools, serving as
new growth drivers for the Group's sustainable development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEBFAWRDMN

OPERATION REVIEW

Overview

Unprecedented challenges facing China’s real estate sector, resulting
from the recurring pandemic-triggered lockdowns in various regions
across China, which had a certain impact on sales, land auctions and
construction activity, coupled with the weakened momentum in the
medium to long-term housing demand in 2022. The Group proactively
responded to the downward pressure on the industry, adhered to the
strategy of pursuing high-quality products, enhanced operation quality,
accelerated the transformation into an urban operator, and considered
sound operation as the top priority under the extremely unfavorable
industry environment.
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During the year, the Group's revenue decreased by 21.9% to HK$10,065
million compared with the corresponding period last year, net loss and
loss attributable to equity holders of the Company were HKS$1,360
million and HK$1,362 million, respectively. Loss for the year was mainly
attributable to: (1) some real estate development projects in the Pearl
River Delta experienced construction slippages caused by the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic, in particular the severe resurgence of the
pandemic in the fourth quarter of 2022, leading to delay in property
delivery to purchasers; (2) the decrease in the gross profit margin of the
real estate development business due to a higher proportion of real
estate development projects with lower gross profit margin being
recognised during the year; (3) for the sake of prudence, the increase in
the provision for impairment of inventory of the Group's real estate
development projects in light of the downturn of the real estate
market; (4) the decrease in rental and related income from investment
properties due to the economic slowdown as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic; and (5) according to the latest estimates, specialised
construction business recorded a loss as some projects experienced
cost overruns due to rising material and labour costs. The aforesaid
provision for impairment of inventory was non-cash in nature and the
Group's overall financial position remained healthy, maintaining the
"green” status of the three red lines.

Business Development
(1) Real Estate Development
Contracted Sales

During the year, stringent measures for prevention and control of
the COVID-19 pandemic had been imposed in some regions, in
light of the widespread outbreak in Mainland China, where the
sales centers were closed to the public and offline house
viewing was hindered, in addition to the sluggish residential
sales, giving rise to a decline in the Company’s contracted sales
in 2022.

The contracted sales of the Company together with its
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in 2022 decreased by
48.8% to RMB13.3 billion compared with the corresponding
period last year (2021: RMB26.0 billion) whilst the gross floor area
(“GFA”") contracted for sale decreased by 43.5% to 560,000 square
meters (2021: 992,000 square meters) compared with the
corresponding period last year. The Group's contracted sales
were mainly derived from the real estate development projects in
Tier 1 and core Tier 2 cities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNRR DM
The contracted sales breakdown was listed as below: BHREERERDOT
For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t+-HLEE
2022 2021
—E-Cf —E-—F
Contracted Contracted Contracted Contracted
Location 1t 2 amount GFA amount GFA
BHEE ANEBEER AHSE ANEEBEER
(RMB million) (sq.m.) (RMB million) (sq.m.)
(AR¥BEER) (Frx) (ARBBET) (FHxK)
Pan Bohai Rim REEHE 4,087 177,884 3,780 192,483
Yangtze River Delta R=AE 3,890 94,089 11,612 286,427
Central China Region ZEhipe 1,360 125,793 2,679 252,231
Chengdu-Chongging Region R 753 64,536 1496 88436
Pearl River Delta HK=AE

(including Hong Kong) (BREEE) 3,21 97,273 6,441 172,871
Total @t 13,301 559,575 26,008 992,448
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Revenue

Given the construction progress was delayed by the pandemic
during the year, some real estate development projects in the
Pearl River Delta were affected and a total of approximately
RMB5.8 billion of sales could not be recognised in 2022 as
scheduled. The revenue from the real estate development
business decreased by 21.1% to HK$9,875 million (2021:
HK$12,511 million) from the corresponding period last year due
to the shrinking scale of real estate projects recognised. The
revenue was mainly derived from the real estate development
projects in Central China Region and Chengdu-Chongging
Region. The gross profit margin of the real estate development
business dropped by 6.6 percentage points to 11.9% (2021:
18.5%) from the corresponding period last year, mainly due to a
higher proportion of real estate development projects with lower
gross profit margin being recognised during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWRDMN
(2) Specialised Construction

The Group is engaged in the business of specialised construction
mainly comprising the services of design, production and
installation of curtain walls in Hong Kong market via Minmetals
Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Company Limited (“Condo
Hong Kong"). During the year, Condo Hong Kong adopted a
relatively conservative bidding strategy to control risk and
therefore no new projects were undertaken.

Revenue from specialised construction business decreased by
54.0% to HKS148 million (2021: HK$322 million) as compared to
the corresponding period last year, resulting from fewer projects
under construction and project slippages caused by the ongoing
pandemic during the year. According to the latest estimates,
some projects experienced cost overruns due to escalated
material and labour costs, turning the specialised construction
business from a profit to a loss position.
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(3)

Property Investment

The Group's property investment business primarily comprises
two commercial office buildings in Hong Kong, namely China
Minmetals Tower in Tsimshatsui and LKF29 in Central. As at
31 December 2022, LKF29 recorded a relatively satisfactory
occupancy rate of 93.2% (2021: 91.8%). The vacancy rate of China
Minmetals Tower, which has a relatively high proportion of retail
and restaurant tenants, increased with an occupancy rate of only
63.2% (2021: 80.3%). During the year, the investment sentiment
in Hong Kong was dampened by the ongoing COVID-19
pandemic and the business environment was challenging,
therefore the revenue from the property investment business
decreased by 20.8% to HKS$42 million (2021: HKS53 million) as
compared to the corresponding period last year. The gross profit
margin decreased by 10.7 percentage points to 66.9% (2021:
77.6%) as compared to the corresponding period last year, mainly
due to the decrease in rental income and the increase in
operating costs as a result of building repair and maintenance
works during the year.

Land Bank

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has 44 real estate development
projects in 18 cities, namely Beijing, Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Hong Kong,
Tianjin, Nanjing, Changsha, Chengdu, Suzhou, Wuhan, Foshan, Taian,

Xiangtan, Huizhou, Langfang, Yingkou, Xining and Nan‘an, with a total
developable GFA (“Land Bank”) of 7,819,000 square meters.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFN®R DM

As at 31 December 2022, the composition of the Group's Land Bank RZ-ZZEZ—F+-_A=+—H KAEE L

was listed as below: AT
Percentage
share of
City Tier AR Land Bank Land Bank
16 T i
T th fE B Baokk
('000 sg.m.)
("'000%F 75 K)
First tier cities' — AR 2,613 33.4%
Second ftier cities? R 2,768 35.4%
Third tier cities® =Rk 2,438 31.2%
Total st 7,819 100.0%
Notes: 5T
1. First tier cities include Beijing, Tianjin, Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Hong Kong. 1. —BEmeEtr s X2 BN RIIREE -
2. Second ftier cities include Chengdu, Changsha, Wuhan, Nanjing, Foshan and Suzhou. 2. ZRETRERS &Y REBR - #ILURE

M-

3. Third tier cities include Yingkou, Langfang, Huizhou, Xiangtan, Xining, Taian and 3. SERMTeEED B BN OME - AE R
Nan‘an. ZRER -

Percentage
share of
Location i B Land Bank Land Bank
1 L &
T S BO

('000 sg.m.)

("'000%F 75 K)
Pan Bohai Rim 2957 lis3: ] 2,609 33.4%
Yangtze River Delta R=ZAME 332 42%
Central China Region FE PR 1,717 22.0%
Chengdu-Chongaing Region A i = 1,394 17.8%
Pearl River Delta (including Hong Kong) K=—AE (BEEE) 1,767 22.6%
Total ey 7,819 100.0%
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Newly Acquired Land Bank FTHE 1 il fE
In 2022, the Group's newly acquired Land Bank was listed as below: NTAREBR T —FRFE T nRHEE:
Attributable Estimated
interest to construction  Total land Average  Acquisition
Location/Project Property type the Group Site area GFA cost land cost date
x5EE BHaRE ¥13
e 2R HRER Fr it & BRER BEEE #ALgK THEA BARH
(RMB per
(sq.m.) (sqm.)  (RMB million) sg.m.)

(AR®  (B¥X
CERK)  (FIX) BET) ARERL)

1. Nan‘an Project Industrial 70% 56,000 81,000 17 310 08/08/2022

BLIER T%
Total @t 56,000 81,000 17 310
| 039
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Industry-City Business
Dayi Project

The West-Lake Future City, located in the eastern part of Dayi County,
Chengdu, is the closest part of Dayi County to the city centre of
Chengdu with a great ecological landscape. 829 mu of land has been
acquired to develop a future high-end community integrating
residence, leisure, entertainment and industry, according to the top-
level design requirements of the future park community in Chengdu.
During the year, constructions were carried out in an orderly manner
and incorporated elements of ecological integration, leisure
consumption, innovative entrepreneurship and co-construction,
co-governance and sharing, coupled with servicing resources such as
humanistic education and green transportation.

Xindu Project

The project is located in Shibantan, Xindu District, Chengdu, which is
the core area under the key development of the modern transportation
industry functional area of Xindu. The Group collaborated with
Chengdu City Municipality to establish two leading industrial
ecosystems of rail transportation and aviation in the area and
commenced in-depth cooperation in the fields of community facilities,
service facilities, basic ancillary facilities in the region, etc. During the
year, the construction management work of the railway and aviation
technology innovation centres progressed in an orderly manner, and
the two centres are expected to be put into use at the end of 2023
and the end of 2024, respectively. In addition, discussions on the
investment promotion and regional integrated operation service of the
two technology and innovation centres went smoothly, and the
implementation of the services was conducted in an orderly manner.
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Nan’an Project

The project is located in Yingdu, Nan‘an, Fujian. It takes valve business
as the leading industry, and actively introduces comprehensive
industrial supporting facilities around the core industry to build a
multi-functional industrial space that integrates production, research
and development, storage, exhibition, inspection and testing services,
etc, satisfying different needs of quality corporates and growing
enterprises. In August 2022, the Group acquired a prime industrial land
of 83 mu at the reserve price and aimed to develop a multi-storey
factory, with an objective to attract leading valve and fire safety
manufacturers and high-quality growing valve-supporting enterprises to
establish their presence there. The project marked a significant
achievement for the Group’s transformation into an urban operator, as
well as set a solid foundation for the Group's strategic deployment of
business in Fujian.

Opening of Minmetals Changsha-Live Phase 2

Minmetals Changsha-Live Phase 2 was grandly opened in August 2022
and was well received by the market with a signing rate of 92.2% on
the opening day. The opening of the Phase 2 focuses on building the
youth sports training centre in Hunan Province, which combines sports
industry and traditional commerce to set a new business benchmark
and create a cultural, sports, entertainment and commercial complex
with gastronomy, fascination and fun. Minmetals Changsha-Live is not
only a shopping mall, but a brand-new social life style with Internet of
Everything. It is hoped that it can bring new shopping and living
concept to everyone and every family for creating a better life.

Awards and Honours

Changsha Minmetals Plaza Project was Awarded WELL Gold
Pre-certification and Complemented by International Branded
Hotel

Changsha Minmetals Plaza project has been accredited by International
WELL Building Institute (or IWBI) and officially awarded the WELL
Pre-certification with an assessment result of Gold Standard. This is the
second time that Changsha Minmetals Plaza has obtained rating
certification from an authoritative organisation, following the LEED Gold
Pre-certification. Changsha Minmetals Plaza is also equipped with an
internationally branded hotel, introducing the first Hyatt Centric Hotel
in Central China and creating a high-end business lounge by the
Xiangjiang River in Changsha to meet business and leisure needs in an
all-round way.

BLXEH

ZEBMNNEREMETMEME  LEME
ReATEEE YEEXZOEEERSIE
RAEEERE BESLEEWME BR B
T BBRRARBEN —EBNZIEEEXT
M 2FUumnERERcERKEATGER
TRAFERk - —E==F)\A - "EBUKES
BEZCEERAMIM  FRZERE  EHK
SIFAFIAE I B EE B E N BEEREAR
FEECEARER - ZEB SAEE MR
MEAEBEEBEANEAKRE thAEAEE
B ARHEET TREAR -

HERERYD . Live—HiBG X%

AERD - LveZHIERZZE-_F\NABK
Mz mERERT FEZEBEFEHEX
9022% hXFAEN _HERITE T HEES
LDERBBIHP L HEEBEELEERR
¥ BNEFHEERR  TEgE - 05
FITH X BREELR A AERY - Live ™

EEESEYTL ETREEVMEBOZH
HRERZR  FLREAGEHNBEYEL

BERWEEEA - BEKE  BEL R
HIE e

RERKRE

RNAEBESEEEWELLERARE BE
B B* 8 B

B REESEB BIBERBWELLEEM R
(SIWB) BT 2 - IEX I TWELLTER B &
E MAEREISREE - ERRDAEE
SIEBH#IFFDS RTERER - BIXESER
HEILRAE EATEESEEERE S
MBS - Sl EERERIGEHEAE - TEER
DHIMSRASERE 2R EEE
RISk o

IRBERRDA

TR FR

041



042

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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“Aesthetics Experience Centre” of Guangzhou River Skyline
Project Won TITAN Property Awards

In 2022, the "Aesthetics Experience Centre” of the sales centre of the
Guangzhou River Skyline project won the Platinum Cultural Award, the
highest honour of the 2022 TITAN Property Awards in the United
States. TITAN Property Awards is one of the global competitions under
the American International Awards Associate (IAA), which aims to
recognise the highest achievements in the real estate industry. The
sales centre of this project won the sole Platinum Cultural Award in the
2022 TITAN Property Awards, highly reflecting the consistency between
the high-quality principle of the Group and the international principle
of the industry and representing the strong ability of the Group to
respect and integrate regional cultures in its product development.

Adhere to the Strategy of Pursuing High-quality Products and
Enhancing Product Quality

The Group adheres to the strategy of product quality and implements
the 5M intelligent health product system to all of its real estate
development projects, strengthening its product competitiveness.
Several quality works had been successively launched in 2022, with 15
projects including River Skyline, Regent Heights, The Greenville, Parc
One, Changsha Minmetals Plaza and Enchanté Park, etc. and received
32 national and international design awards, establishing a good

reputation in the market and gaining customers’ recognition.
Enhancing Brand Influence

In 2022, the Group further enriched its brand connotation, building a
sound and responsible image of a state-owned enterprise. At the same
time, the Group stepped up its efforts in the promotion of corporate
image, collaborated with industry media resources, built up a sound
brand image, actively participated in mega-brand campaigns across the
industry, and took the initiative to make its voice heard in the industry
media. During the year, the Group was honoured with various awards,
including 2022 Outstanding Corporate Performance in Real Estate”,
“2022 Top 100 Real Estate Brand Influence Enterprises in China”, “2022
Real Estate Brand Social Contribution Enterprise in China”, 2022 Annual
Top 20 Real Estate Enterprises with Investment Value” and "2022
Quality Property Benchmark Enterprise”.

BEMTXBEIEE [ EEBEGE | ZEEZEHTITAN
Ith BE K 4E

RZE - —F  BMNIXKBHEBEEERL[E
RS | BT~ —FEEETITANMER

BEBELIN 88 - ERTITANM E K122 3E
B E SR (AA)E N2 REEE 2 —
EERGEMETEANZKI - ZEEE
BHRLVES T - - FEEBTITANM ZE K42
m—mxmﬁﬁé SEBEASENBESL
FoHITERBESN —BE  RERTAE
lﬁﬁmﬁ%3&¢§$ﬁ@émﬁxmm

BENEI—ERE -

AEERFEREMEE SMEZRERR
%&E%ﬂ]ﬁﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂ%lﬁﬁ RITEmM
BEA e BEEMBAL - TR
BELR BHF TE6 RAITBEES B
1R 15 EE B S BAINRET AR
EmS BT RFOR  RISEFHNER -

=

BHmEZEL

RZBZ=F  AEEE—TLERERNE -
BIEBRREANRDES - R AEEMN
AEEFERERENE  BFTEREBER 17
BERITREFRS  BHR2NEARAKNEREE
B EITERBLFEHER - TR AKEE
BloonEESEHMMERERR] - [2022FEFE
MERBFENEBREE] (20220 HEiH
EmEdeaB ItE]  [2002FEKEE
B E D% (2058) | KX [20224F @G EIZ 4R
TEIZZHEE -

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



COVID-19 Outbreak and Effects on the Group’s
Business

In 2022, the Group's overall operation remained normal, despite the
widespread outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in China which
affected the construction progress of some of the Group's real estate
development projects located in the Pearl River Delta region.
Nevertheless, the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on
consumption and investment sentiment led to a drop in occupancy
rates for the Group's investment properties and rental income. In
general, the COVID-19 pandemic did not have any significant adverse
impact on the Group's overall operations.

Entrusted Asset Management

During the year, the Group recorded a management service income of
RMB2.40 million under the entrusted management service agreement,
of which China Minmetals entrusted the Company with the
management of its non-listed assets within its real estate development
segment, including real estate development projects in Beijing, Tianjin,
Shenyang, Liaoning, Jiangsu, Hunan and Guangdong.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The operating segments in the Group’s consolidated income statement
were reviewed and reclassified during the year. The revenue
contribution from the securities investment business as a percentage of
the Group'’s consolidated revenue has gradually decreased. Accordingly,
the “securities investment” business is no longer presented separately
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to better reflect the Group’s

business segmentation.

The Group’s revenue was primarily derived from three business
segments, namely real estate development, specialised construction
and property investment. The Group’s consolidated revenue in 2022
decreased by 21.9% to HKS$10,065 million as compared to HK$12,886
million for the corresponding period last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFN®R DM

The Group's consolidated revenue breakdown was listed as below:

AEBGARAZBRAOT

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+-HLEE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F

Percentage Percentage
HK$ share of share of Year-on-year
million revenue  HKS million revenue change

LELON 1EWA
BEAET Balk BEERT BOL RFEH
Real estate development B EER 9,875 98.1% 12,511 97.1% -21.1%
Specialised construction BEEE 148 1.5% 322 2.5% -54.0%
Property investment MERE 42 0.4% 53 0.4% -20.8%
Total Azt 10,065 100.0% 12,886 100.0% -21.9%

Revenue from the real estate development business decreased by
21.1% to HKS$9,875 million (2021: HK$12,511 million) as compared to the
corresponding period last year, and accounted for 98.1% of the Group’s
consolidated revenue. Construction progress was being dragged down
by the pandemic during the year, and some real estate development
projects in the Pearl River Delta with a total of approximately RMB5.8
billion of sales could not be recognised in 2022 as planned, causing a
decrease in revenue from the real estate development business.

Revenue from the specialised construction business decreased by
54.0% to HK$148 million (2021: HKS$322 million) as compared to the
corresponding period last year, and accounted for 1.5% of the Group's
consolidated revenue. The decrease in revenue from the specialised
construction business was primarily due to fewer projects under
construction during the year and project slippages caused by the
ongoing pandemic.

Revenue from the property investment business decreased by 20.8% to
HKS$42 million (2021: HK$53 million) as compared to the corresponding
period last year, and accounted for 0.4% of the Group’s consolidated
revenue. Revenue from the property investment business was mainly
generated from two commercial buildings in Hong Kong, and the
decrease in revenue was primarily due to the impact arising from the
COVID-19 pandemic and the economic slowdown in Hong Kong,
increasing the China Minmetals Tower’s vacancy rate and affecting the
overall rental and related income.
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The Group's overall gross profit margin decreased to 10.5% from 18.5%
of the corresponding period last year, mainly due to a higher
proportion of projects with lower gross profit margins recognised for
the real estate development business, losses incurred for the
specialised construction business and lower gross profit margin for the
property investment business during the year.

Other Income

The Group's other income was HKS$127 million (2021: HK$92 million),
representing a year-on-year increase of 38.0%, mainly due to the
government subsidy of approximately HK$40 million recognised by the
Group in Mainland China.

Fair Value Changes on Investment Properties

The Group's fair value loss on investment properties for the year
decreased by 54.9% to HK$69 million (2021: HK$153 million) as
compared to the corresponding period last year. During the year, fair
value loss was mainly attributable to the loss of HK$53 million from the
Taian project.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

The Group's selling and marketing expenses decreased by 15.6% to
HKS$395 million (2021: HK$468 million) as compared to the
corresponding period last year, mainly due to the decrease in sales
commission and related marketing expenses as a result of the decline
in revenue from real estate development business and contracted sales
during the year. The sales commission represented 51.6% of the total
selling and marketing expenses for the year.

Administrative and Other Expenses

The Group's administrative and other expenses decreased by 16.3% to
HKS$582 million (2021: HK$695 million) as compared to the
corresponding period last year, mainly due to the Group exercised
stringent control over the administrative expenses during the year.
Administrative and other expenses mainly comprised of the Group's
staff remuneration, which represented 49.9% of the total administrative
and other expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRD M

Provision for Impairment of Inventories

The real estate market was sluggish during the vyear, sales activity
slowed down in some areas where the Group's projects were located
with sales declined to various degrees, remarkably affecting the
product sales expectations and prices. The Group made a provision of
HK$550 million for the impairment of inventories with signs of
impairment under the principle of prudence.

Finance Costs

The Group's total finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2022
was HK$961 million, representing an increase of 16.2% from HK$827
million last year, mainly attributable to the increase in loans and rising
bank interest rates during the year. Finance costs charged to the
statement of profit or loss decreased by 15.3% to HK$138 million (2021:
HKS$163 million) as compared to the corresponding period last year due
to an increase in the interest capitalisation ratio for the year. During the
year, the weighted average borrowing cost of the Group increased by
0.5 percentage point to 4.1%.

Share of Results of Associates

The Group’s share of loss of associates increased by 2.0 times to
HKS$786 million (2021: HK$264 million) as compared to the
corresponding period last year, mainly due to the impairment of
inventories made by an associate in response to market conditions
during the year, and the Group recorded a loss in respect of the
impairment of inventories to a pro-rata share amounted to HK$709
million (2021: HKS46 million).
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Share of Results of Joint Ventures

The Group's share of profit of joint ventures increased by 1.9 times to
HK$138 million (2021: HKS$48 million) as compared to the
corresponding period last year. The share of profit for the year was
mainly attributable to the revenue recognised from an individual joint
venture project in the Yangtze River Delta.

Loss and Core Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of
the Company

In view of the above, the Group recorded a net loss of HKS$1,360
million (2021: net profit of HK$632 million), turning from profit to a loss
position during the year. The loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company was HK$1,362 million (2021: profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company of HK$89 million). Basic loss per share was
HK40.71 cents (2021: basic earnings per share of HK2.67 cents). Core
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company* was HK$107
million (2021: HK$356 million).

Financial Position

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's total assets decreased by 12.7%
to HKS$67,387 million (2021: HK$77,173 million) whilst net assets
decreased by 27.3% to HK$16,812 million (2021: HK$23,118 million). The
decrease in net assets was mainly attributable to the Group's
repayments of perpetual capital instruments of HK$2,448 million during
the year, a loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of
HKS$1,362 million, a decrease in exchange reserves of HK$1,647 million
and a fair value loss on financial assets of HK$182 million.

The contract liabilities, which mainly represent pre-sale proceeds
received by the Group that will subsequently be recognised as the
Group's revenue when presold properties are completed and delivered
to buyers. During the year, the Group's contract liabilities decreased by
28.0% to HKS$11,416 million (2021: HKS15,849 million), which was mainly
due to the Group’s revenue recognised was higher than the sales
proceeds generated from contracted sales during the year.

Note:

4. “Core profit attributable to equity holders of the Company” excludes allowance/
reversal for impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of
associates and joint ventures, exchange losses, fair value changes on investment

properties, reversal/allowance for impairment of receivables.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFN®R DM

The financial position of the Group remained healthy, and the “three
red lines” remained green. During the year, the Group's gearing ratio
(total liabilities to total assets) was 75.1% (2021: 70.0%). The rise of 5.1
percentage points in the gearing ratio was mainly due to the Group's
repayments of perpetual capital instruments of HK$2,448 million, the
decrease in its carrying amount when converting RMB-denominated
assets into Hong Kong dollar due to the depreciation of Renminbi and
the increase in borrowings during the year. The gearing ratio, net of
contract liabilities and deferred revenue, was 69.8% (2021: 62.1%). The
net gearing ratio (net debt to total equity) was 94.5% (2021: 38.9%).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group’s working capital was mainly derived from
cash flows generated from business operations and borrowings.

In terms of offshore financing, the Group entered into a 4-year term
loan facility amounted to HKS$3.5 billion with certain banks in June
2022, with the proceeds were used to refinance the existing
borrowings. In terms of onshore financing, the Group secured several
construction loans and issued a non-public directional debt financing
instruments amounted to RMB800 million in the National Association of
Financial Market Institutional Investors. The Group continues to give full
play to its competitive advantage as a listed flagship in Hong Kong,
adheres to prudent financial management principles and maintains a
sound financial position by enhancing cash flow and liquidity.

Total borrowings of the Group stood at HKS$24,309 million (2021:
HK$21,017 million) as at 31 December 2022, which mainly comprised
borrowings from banks and bonds. The increase in total borrowings
was mainly due to loans from non-controlling shareholders of real
estate development projects, construction loans and corporate loans.
The Group's weighted average borrowing costs increased by 0.5
percentage point to 4.1% (2021: 3.6%).
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The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings was as follows:

AEBEZEREHBERMT

31 December 2022

31 December 2021

—E-oF4+=ZH=+—-H Z—ZE-_—H+-A=+—H

Percentage Percentage

share of share of

HK$ million borrowings HKS million borrowings

BEBT HERBEISL BEAT HEXAESHL

Within one year —FR 7,132 29.3% 6,547 31.2%
In the second year FF 6,717 27.6% 4,179 19.9%
In the third to fifth year E=FEFRF 10,460 43.1% 9,395 44.7%
More than five years HR38 A F — 0.0% 896 42%
Total #sEt 24,309 100.0% 21,017 100.0%

The currency profile of the Group’s borrowings was as follows:

AREZEFRERERAT -

31 December 2022
—g-=—%+=fA=+-8

31 December 2021
—E—F+ZA=+—H

Percentage Percentage

share of share of

HKS$ million borrowings HKS million borrowings

BERRT GLERBEIL BESAST HERESL

Renminbi AR 5,686 23.4% 2,227 10.6%

Hong Kong Dollar T 15,317 63.0% 15,487 73.7%

United States Dollar ETT 3,306 13.6% 3,303 15.7%

Total st 24,309 100.0% 21,017 100.0%

During the year, the finance cost recognised in the statement of profit R » LM A E R TR BEAZR P E

or loss amounted to HK$138 million (2021: HK$163 million) after 823BEBIT(ZZT=——F :64BEL)E R
capitalisation of HK$823 million (2021: HK$664 million) into properties 1B R ANERZ M HER A B138EBE L (=T

under development. Z—F 163BET) °

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s cash and bank deposits
(excluding restricted cash and bank deposits) amounted to HKS$7,701
million (2021: HK$10,956 million), of which 97.7%, 1.9% and 0.4% (2021:
97.5%, 2.1% and 0.3%) were denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong
dollar and United States dollar respectively. The unutilised banking
facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2022 amounted to HKS$7,141
million (2021: HK$4,360 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFN®R DM

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND INTEREST RATES

Exchange Rate Risk

The Group conducts its business primarily in Mainland China with the
external financing being denominated mainly in Hong Kong dollar
while revenue being denominated mainly in Renminbi. The Group is
exposed to exchange rate risk as transactions are denominated in a
currency other than Hong Kong dollar (the reporting and functional
currency of the Company). The Group has been closely monitoring the
fluctuation in Renminbi exchange rate and has considered necessary
measures, including adjustment to the proportion of borrowings in
foreign currencies and utilisation of foreign exchange hedging
instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts or capped
forward contracts to minimise the impact arising from exchange rate
fluctuation.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk resulting from
fluctuation in interest rates. Most of the Group’s borrowings bear
floating rate and therefore, an increase in interest rate would raise the
Group's finance costs. In order to mitigate the interest rate risk, the
Group entered into an interest rate swap contract in which the Group
would receive interest of one-month HIBOR and pay monthly interest at
a fixed rate based on the notional amount of HK$1.0 billion. As at
31 December 2022, 23.0% (2021: 25.2%) of the Group's borrowings was
on a fixed rate basis with the remainder on a floating rate basis.

As at 31 December 2022, save as disclosed above, the Group did not
have/held any financial instruments for hedging or speculative
purposes.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2022, certain assets of the Group were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group and mortgage
loan facilities to the purchasers of the Group’s properties, and these
pledged assets of the Group included:

inventories with carrying amounts of approximately HK$12,729
million (2021: HK$6,472 million);

ii. property, plant and equipment with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$195 million (2021: Nil);

iii. investment properties with the fair value of approximately HK$186
million (2021: Nil); and

iv. 100% equity interest in a subsidiary.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to certain purchasers of the Group's properties
amounted to HK$8,919 million (2021: HK$11,189 million). Such
guarantees will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the
property ownership certificate (generally within one year after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties); or (i) the
repayment of mortgage loans by the purchasers. After taking into
account the net realisable value of these properties and the low
default rate, the Directors consider that the fair value of the financial
guarantee at initial recognition and subsequently at the end of
subsequent reporting period is not significant.

EMPLOYEES

The total number of staff (including the Directors) of the Group,
decreased 3.12% to 1,211 (2021: 1,250) as at 31 December 2022. The
Group will continue to adopt a remuneration policy in line with market
practice where it operates. The total remuneration and benefits for the
Directors and staff of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to HK$468 million (2021: HK$548 million).
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ANNUAL REPORT ON SUSTAINABLE BOND

ASEEZFERE

OVERVIEW

To further underscore its commitment to the environment and
sustainable community development, the Group published a
Sustainable Finance Framework (the “Framework”) in July 2021. Under
the Framework, the Group plans to enter into green and social
financing transactions (the “Sustainable Financing Transactions”) to fund
new and existing projects with environmental and/or social benefits
that are aligned with:

Green Bond Principles 2018 recommended by International
Capital Markets Association ("ICMA”")

Social Bond Principles 2020 recommended by ICMA

Sustainability Bond Guidelines 2018 recommended by ICMA

Green Loan Principles 2021
Association (“LMA")

recommended by Loan Market

Social Loan Principles 2021 by LMA

The proceeds from the Sustainable Financing Transactions will be
directed towards eligible green and sustainable projects in accordance
to the Framework, including green buildings, renewable energy, water
management, energy efficiency, and climate change adaptation and
others, in line with the United Nations’ sustainability goals and the
carbon neutrality target set by Chinese government. The Framework is
aligned with the captioned international principles and guidelines and
obtained with the Second Party Opinion from the leading ESG rating
agencies, Sustainalytics and S&P Global in July 2021.
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THE INAUGURAL SUSTAINABLE BOND
ISSUANCE

The inaugural sustainable bond of US$300 million was successfully
issued in July 2021 under the Framework and obtained the highest
rating of E1 of the S&P’s rating regime and Green Finance Certificate
(Pre-issuance Stage) from the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
(HKQAA). The issuance received an overwhelming response with 6
times over-subscribed, and the final issue price was narrowed by 40
basis points from the initial guidance price. This highly successful
transaction represents the first offshore green bond issuance by China
Minmetals Corporation’s arm and the first sustainable bond by a
state-owned real estate enterprise outside of China.

DETAILS OF THE INAUGURAL SUSTAINABLE
BOND ISSUANCE

Size US$ 300 million

Tenor 5-year

Issue Date 22 July 2021

Maturity Date 22 July 2026

Coupon Rate 4.95%

Listing Hong Kong Stock Exchange
ISIN X$2359944704

The issuance won the award of “The Asset Triple A Country Awards
2021 Best Sustainability Bond (China Offshore) — Real Estate” by The
Asset and the "Outstanding Award for Green and Sustainable Bond
Issuer (Centrally-Administered SOEs Real Estate Developer) — Largest
Single Sustainability Bond" at the "Hong Kong Green and Sustainable
Finance Awards 2021" organized by the HKQAA.

BHBRITHTHERS

EGER) T A EEMRETN A HERSE
2021 F7 AR ETT A RFEEE2RE TR
EREFERRTRSNEOERN > UEFEMS
ERERPREZCEMAFRTAES - It
REFBTHRFSEERBNE  MEREFT
A2 REBTEBRYIA RSB E40EE -
BRB BRI AFRHE  TEDEME
CEEBRETHEMSARKERS  BEH
BERMECKEINEEARERS -

BEHRBITHISEGSFRE

BT MEETT

FHA RF

®17H —E-—F+A-+=H
Elp-ch= —E-RF+HAZ+=H
FHEEX 4.95%

£ BAERSF

Bl B 78 5 5 1 X5$2359944704

RRBITRER(TE)MTEROTAABIR
RE2021 [P [ RERFHERRES (T EEE
F)— BHETE]  WkBEEMERER
B[ BB G5 E S FA 22021 |9
[EHEeNABEEFRTHE(REET
ETE)— RAREBEE-—ABERRES] -

IRBERRDA

TR FR

053



ANNUAL REPORT ON SUSTAINABLE BOND
AREESFERE

USE OF PROCEEDS SEESHEHABR

The Group will establish a register of Sustainable Financing Transactions ANEBFIRIEAIERZ T A/ FERERHE
under the Framework with Finance teams being responsible for the it MM EEF B EEEMERIE - HE—
management of proceeds. As of 31 December 2022, the proceeds, Z_—_F+_A=+—H BEE£EL3EET
amounting to US$300 million, have been fully allocated to re-finance B 2H D i FUEZR)FTI A T4 B ELELHER
three eligible projects under the Green Buildings Category as defined in ~ FEI={AA ERBH BRE -

the Framework.

Types of eligible projects and breakdown of fund allocation are as A ERBEHWNBERMEEHELT ¢

follows:
Proceeds
Allocated
(US$’000) Percentage
Lookback S EHE of Proceeds
Eligible Category  Projects Financed period £EESE {EEHEEL Project Green Label
SERIERER ERENEE =0 ¥ 5 (F%x) WEZ2E EEKEER
Green Buildings Chengdu West Begonia 2-year 65,465 21.8% Two star Green Building
GERE EBFLTE - 75X HEE M E Design Label
—EREEREENERE
WELL Gold Pre-certification
and official certification
of 1#/7# building.
WELL BERESRTER
BR—SRENRES
B RRE e
Green Buildings Guangzhou Regent Heights 3-year 76,531 25.5% Two star Green Building
e BN A E LS =% Design Label
—ERRERENERE
Green Buildings Guangzhou Parc One 3-year 158,004 52.7% Two star Green Building
e BMNAE. S E4 =4 Design Label

—EREERENEBERH

WELL Gold Certification

WELLEZ SR E S AR

(Expected to obtain the
certification in the
second quarter of 2023)

(BT 2023FE=FE
ARG

300,000 100%

054 I EEEEEEEEE—————
MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



SELECTED CASES 12 B £

CHENGDU WEST BEGONIA X #HiE. AEHE

. Rainwater recycling B9 7K @4

. Same-floor drainage [7] & HE 7K

- Energy recovery ventilation system % ZA 32 #5 [B| 2 £
+ Smart home system 2 86K B X4

. Radiant floor heating system & 57 11 8% X 4%

- Water-saving irrigation 807K 2 Ef

- Energy saving of envelope structure [E] 45 1% B9 £ AE
+ Multi-split air-conditioning system 2 B ## 7= 38 & &5

- Front-end water purification systems il &5 % 7K R £t

« Induction aisle light &% /& =X 38 38 /&

- Sponge City /& #33, ™

I GUANGZHOU REGENT HEIGHTS &

- Natural lighting and ventilation B A% ¢ iB/E

. Barrier-free design #EE B % 5

« Radiant walls & [ #8 57

- Leakage-proof and water-saving design B iR8E0K&ET
. Parking lot CO monitoring {2 5 15 — & {t fix &

- Energy-saving lighting £ 8% FR B

. Inverter-type elevator & 4% 1%

I GUANGZHOU PARC ONE J& /| T 5% -

« Carbon monoxide-controlled ventilation in underground
garage

WwTEE - LiREHBRE

- Energy-saving group-controlled elevator &1 §EAF12% & 146
. Secondary water-saving appliances — Bk 83 &

+ Recyclable materials A] B f&3R # £}

- Sponge City /843, T

. Advanced community support {fERETE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Directors and the management of the Company are committed to
and responsible for the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. The Board has put in place a corporate governance structure
for the Company which is principally responsible for setting directions,
formulating strategies, monitoring performance and managing risks of
the Group. The respective Board committees oversee particular aspects
of the Company’'s affairs and perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended
31 December 2022, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, except for deviations from code provisions B.2.2, C.2.1 and F.2.2.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. While pursuant
to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Besides, pursuant to code provision F.2.2 of the
CG Code, the chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the
“Group”) include property development, specialised construction,
property investment and securities investment. As a leading real estate
developer, the Group strives to provide high quality and reliable
products and services and to create value for stakeholders through
innovative and sustainable development.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company'’s affairs. The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company, however, are delegated to the management
of the Company.

The Board comprises nine members as at the date of this Annual
Report, the composition of which is set out below:

EEg

EXCRAAEREREARRZALE X E
BAERBAREBARAZER  MARA
EEABRIREGATARB AR ER
TBEEESEER -

]

RAFREE BEZShNEESHEK B
BEa T

Sustainable
Development
Executive Remuneration Nomination Committee
Name of Directors Designation Committee  Audit Committee ~ Committee Committee AHERR
EEps Bt HITEEE ERERE FMERE REZ8E ZEg
Mr. He Jianbo Chairman & Executive Director C M C C
&R 4 IRERNTESF
Mr. Liu Bo Managing Director M M
& Executive Director
ElSta ERRABRUTES
Mr. Chen Xingwu Deputy Managing Director M M
& Executive Director
BR B 58 A EFRRRBRHTES
Mr. Yang Shangping Deputy Managing Director M
& Executive Director
BRETEE EFRRCRRRTES
Ms. He Xiaoli Non-executive Director
) Brt FHTESR
Mr. Huang Guoping Non-executive Director
(appointed on 1 February 2022)
BETEE FRITESF
(RZZ-—#-A-HEZH)
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Independent Non-executive Director M M M
MRep B A BUFHITES
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny Independent Non-executive Director M C M
BREMELL BUFNTES
Professor Wang Xiuli Independent Non-executive Director @ M M
(appointed on 1 July 2022)
IABAR BUEHTES
(RZEZZF+A—REZME)
C: Chairman M: Member C:EFEM:KE

—E--f% HEHEBRALA
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Biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management's Profile” in this Annual Report. To
the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships amongst members of
the Board.

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules
to have at least three Independent Non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of members of the Board and with at
least one Independent Non-executive Director possessing appropriate
accounting and financial management expertise and professional
qualifications.

The Company received written confirmations from each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors confirming their independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

All Independent Non-executive Directors hold directorships in no more
than seven listed companies (including the Company) and would be
able to devote sufficient time and attention to perform their duties.

Every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, are
subject to retirement by rotation in the manner as set out in code
provision B.2.2 of the CG Code save for the Chairman and the
Managing Director of the Company where they are not required to do
so pursuant to the Private Company Act 1981 of Bermuda under which
the Company is incorporated.

The Directors acknowledge that they have a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company and commit themselves to
spend sufficient time to perform their duties. They are also aware of
their collective and individual responsibility to Shareholders. As such,
they have taken active interest in the Company’s affairs and obtained
thorough understanding of the business of the Company.

As a variation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, Mr. He Jianbo,
an Executive Director of the Company, serves as the Chairman of the
Board. He is responsible for the overall strategic direction of the Group,
management of the Board as well as organising the management of
the Company for strategic planning and business operations thereby
enabling more effective implementation of long-term strategies. It is
believed that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
as major decisions have been made in consultation with the Board
which comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors and two
Non-executive Directors offering their experience, expertise,
independent advice and views from different perspective.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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The chairman of the board should attend the annual general meeting
as set out in code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code. However, Mr. He
Jianbo, the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 26 May 2022 due to other
work commitment. Mr. Liu Bo, the Executive Director and the General
Manager of the Company, chaired the meeting on behalf of the
Chairman of the Board and was available to answer questions.

The Company has established “Mechanisms Ensuring Independent
Views Available to the Board” for directors of the Company to seek
independent professional advice in the discharge of their duties and
responsibilities, and to ensure that independent views and input are
available to the Board. The Board will review the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanisms annually.

The Company enables the Directors, upon request, to seek advice from
independent professional advisers at the Company’s expense in the
process of discharging their duties. The Company has also arranged for
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of legal
action against Directors arising from corporate activities.

During the year, a total of four physical Board meetings and one
general meeting were held. Notice of regular Board meetings is given
at least fourteen days in advance. The attendance of Directors during
their tenure of office in 2022 is as follows:

BEEERTRIZTANESEF22& EEE
FTRELFERERAFAS - HEESSEEN
BIE R EREM TIELEEREEHEARBR
TECCHFRATANHBOZEERFKR
T WITEEHRALNAETHKIEBRRLE
REEZEFSIFIF TR IRSLEE

RE A o

ARARCRIV [ HREFENFH LB K
Bl AFARRBDEERBETBRELEENS
KBUEXER BREFSAEIELE
HEREBER EFEEREBFRIXREIHIZE
HaAR S e BOAR

ARFIAEEEER  RHBETEXERRA
HREHBYEXER  UHBBEITEESR
B AEABARAXN  RARNRE LY
HENEENSAERABZEERR &
EERAHTAREHML| BUARFREFE
& o

ARARRFERABITTOREFEEH X
BRAE  -EZCTHERZBNE  ORE
RBTAMAESTHREARERESE - K
EER_FT__FhFLAERZBERNOT

Number of meetings attended/held

HEBITEERE
Board Meeting General Meeting
Name of Directors EENR g BRXE
Mr. He Jianbo Al &I 55 A& 3/4 01
Mr. Liu Bo R & 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chen Xingwu BoR 8L I 5 A 4/4 N
Mr. Yang Shangping L 4/4 1
Ms. He Xiaoli ]/ NBR L 4/4 1/1
Mr. Huang Guoping BEEHTEE 4/4 1/1
(appointed on 1 February 2022) (RZEZZF-—A—RHEZF)
Mr. Selwyn Mar BEELEE 2/2 N
(resigned on 1 July 2022) (RZE-—=—FtA—HET)
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy MR B EE 4/4 1
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny ZESOM S 4/4 1/
Professor Wang Xiuli FHEBEHE 2/2 0/0

(appointed on 1 July 2022)

(R—TE-_—_F+A—HEZM)
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, the newly appointed Director receives a
comprehensive induction package and training covering the Company’s
constitutional documents, internal policies, guidance and procedures as
well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a
Director to ensure that he/she is thoroughly aware of his/her
responsibility under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulations.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments or updates to
the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other regulatory
regimes. The Company provides monthly reports to Directors which
contain updates on business development and financial information of
the Group.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development.
The individual training record of Directors for the year ended 31
December 2022 is set out below:

ES2HERIIRER

ENMAZEEER HEZSESHFEOAR
BEREIEI - REARRASERRXXT - AED
B~ I REFURIERERE R AR

EERESRHEMARTAEEZER
PAHE (R EL 78 70 B AR L0 £ 70 AR A1) Ko EL At 4
EERIITZEE-

BN - ERTEMEMN EWRA - REER
REMBREPINEFTRERNER - AR
ANEEARNEEREAKESTETER
REAEEM Z®wE o

FTEERHE2EEETELRREE - NE
EZE-_F+-A=+—BIFE &
FZEILsmT

Attending expert

briefings,
Briefings & seminars &
updates on conferences
business and/or reading
operations & materials of the
compliance seminars
matters HESEBE -
BFREKEER WHERHE
HEEEZE® &k/HHEE
Name of Directors - REHFER HatE s
Executive Directors: HITES
Mr. He Jianbo Ay &l e v/ v
Mr. Liu Bo 2% = v/ v
Mr. Chen Xingwu BoR L I 5 A v/ v/
Mr. Yang Shangping B FEE v/ v/
Non-executive Directors: FHITES :
Ms. He Xiaoli A/ NBz+t v v
Mr. Huang Guoping FEFLELE v/ v
(appointed on 1 February 2022) (R—ZBE-_—_F_A—BEZEF)
Independent Non-executive Directors: BV FHITES :
Mr. Selwyn Mar BRELE v v/
(resigned on 1 July 2022) (RZEZZFtA—B&T)
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PRAR B S A v/ v/
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny IS Lt v/ v/
Professor Wang Xiuli FHEEH v/ v/

(appointed on 1 July 2022)

(R—ZE-_—_F+F—HEZMT)
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has established a set of guidelines as its own “Rules and
Procedures for Directors and Relevant Employees of the Company in
respect of Dealings in Securities of the Company” (the “Rules for
Securities Transactions”) on terms no less exacting than those
contained in the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiries, all the Directors have confirmed
in writing that they have complied with the Rules for Securities
Transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and its results and cash flows for the relevant financial period.
The Directors are also responsible for the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022, the Directors confirmed that the consolidated financial
statements had been prepared in accordance with the statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable, and the
consolidated financial statements had been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Directors confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, they are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement made by Ernst & Young, the independent auditor of the
Company, about their reporting responsibility on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” in this Annual
Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group and, through the Audit Committee, for reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems so as to protect Shareholders' interest
and safeguard the Group's assets. The Board has authorised the
management to design, implement and maintain its risk management
and internal control systems by clearly defining responsibility, authority
and accountability. Under the guidance of the Audit Committee, the
Internal Audit Department of the Company monitors the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting independent
reviews.

The Board acknowledges that effective risk management and internal
control are essential for business growth and sustainability of the Group
in the long-term. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

A. Risk Management Framework

The Group adopts a “top-down” and “bottom-up” approach
whereby the three lines of defence of business units, the
management and the Internal Audit Department working
together to identify, assess and manage significant risks at
corporate, operational and functional aspects.

Each business unit and its management team are responsible for
managing its own risks in the course of daily operations. It
requires the identifying, measuring and monitoring of the
management measures of individual risk to ensure that it is
within the risk appetite of the Group. It also requires the
implementation of risk management plans as recommended by
the Internal Audit Department and the Audit Committee to
address those significant risks that may affect business
operations.
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The Audit Committee together with the Internal Audit
Department and management regularly monitor and update the
Group's risk profile and appetite. By reviewing business and
operation reports from Internal Audit Department and the
management, the Audit Committee assists the Board to oversee
the risk management and internal control systems on an
on-going bases and review its effectiveness with the Internal
Audit Department.

Under the direction of the Audit Committee, the Internal Audit
Department follows a risk-oriented approach to furnish annual
internal audit plan. The Internal Audit Department performs
internal audit works and furnishes report findings to the Audit
Committee that provide the Audit Committee with independent
and objective assessment on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The
major internal audit works of the year include audit reviews of
operations, controlling mechanism, legal compliance and
compliance of internal rules and regulations. Special attention
was given to matters involving significant risks or changes.

Internal audit reports are presented at the Audit Committee
meetings. Major findings and recommendation are followed up
and reported to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. Minutes
of the Audit Committee meetings are then tabled at Board
meetings to report the Audit Committee’s findings on risk
management and internal control issues such as changes in the
nature and extent of significant risks since the last review, those
newly identified significant risks that require the attention of the
Board, and the recommendation or opinion on management’s
response thereto.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information in accordance with its “Policy on Disclosure of Inside
Information” to ensure that inside information remains
confidential until such time as it is disclosed and disseminated in
an efficient and consistent manner.
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B. Significant Risks and Control Measures

Significant risks have been identified through the process of risk
identification and assessment. A summary of the significant risks
of the Group together with the relevant internal control
measures imposed during the year is listed below.

a. Market Risk

Market risk is the key challenge of the Group. All of the
Group's residential and commercial property development
and investment in Mainland China are subject to risks
associated with the PRC property market such as policy
change, demand-supply rebalance, change in general
economic conditions and availability of financing which
may pose an adversely affected on the Group's financial
and operation condition.

b. Operational Risk

Operational risk is another significant risk identified by the
Group during the year. The events of default caused by
purchasers and strategic partners together with human
error and system inadequacies or failure can have an
impact on the Group's operations, resulting in financial
loss, litigation, and reputational damage.

C. Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems. The Audit Committee instructs
the Internal Audit Department to carry out independent
reviews to assess the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems.

EXREBRKEZER

E R 78 R B 8 5l S fF A5 72 Fr 15 DA SR
Ao BRARNEERFAZENERER
HEZ NP AR T

AR

mEREREAEEBHN—IHE
RKE®R - AEERARBANE
EREEMERRNIRE X3
BB HRBYE BREL
BRAEE P BEfKBEREFS
BYEMSERRAZMEE X
SURNEE M L EERNE
DEOVIEZ-

D

22 B

BERRASAEENFANEHDN
Z—HEAAR: KEEPEXK
BEXBEHONRETR KR
ABRRREFETRIKR
BRI e AR B 2B KA
T8 SIBPBEK ERFR
HEBEXE-

BEBEEERASBEZERL BT

EXBRERZBEERTAR
AEREERABEERGENE
M- BREZ B QB TANERG
HRETTIB L B AR (AR B IR
K R BB IR I R AR B R -

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



The management of the business units annually review
and update their risk registers to ensure that effective
controls are in place. They also conduct self-assessment on
internal control and confirm that appropriate internal
control policies and procedures have been established and
are being properly followed. Having regard to the Group’s
risk appetite (i.e. the extent of risk the Group is willing to
take in pursuit of its strategic and business objectives), the
Audit Committee reviews the following with reference to
the assessment made by the management and the
Internal Audit Department to assess the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems:

a. the provision of timely and comprehensive
information to the Audit Committee and the Board
to enable effective assessment of the monitoring
measures within the Group such as the reliability of
financial reporting, the compliance with applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the effectiveness of
risk management;

b. reviewing internal audit reports to ascertain the
efficiency in rectifying internal control deficiencies and
status of the implementation of recommendation
provided by the Internal Audit Department; and

C. reviewing management reports to assess the key
business risk and the management’s response to
changes in the Group's business and external
environment.

The Audit Committee initiates or as delegated by the
Board, directs independent investigations of significant
internal control deficiencies and reviews the findings and
the management'’s feedback thereon.

Based on the assessments made by the management and
the Internal Audit Department and taking into account the
audit work performed by the independent auditor, the
Board and the Audit Committee consider that no
significant areas of concern in respect of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems were identified
during the year of 2022.

Based on the review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems performed
during the year, the Board considers such systems to be
effective and adequate.
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BOARD COMMITTEES EEEZEY
A. Audit Committee A. BEXZEES

All the members of the Audit Committee are Independent EREEENEYABIUIERNITES
Non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is principally EFZBEAR  VHAEE 20
responsible for reviewing (i) the effectiveness of the financial BE ¥R 2 17 LA B2 L B 8 2 R0 A B BE 12 R 4
reporting procedures and risk management and internal control ZAEBME (VBB 2T R
systems of the Group; (i) the appointment of independent HITEBEMIELS  Ri)E R
auditor and the efficiency and quality of their work; and (iii) all B REUNEEEHZERENNE
internal audit reports as well as management feedback on such BR
reports.
The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year. The ERZEEREFRBTTZRERE &
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is as MELEEHRIBRAOT
follows:

Attendance
Members of the Audit Committee EREBEEHE R
Mr. Selwyn Mar — former Chairman BEBEEE — BIEERE 1/1

(resigned on 1 July 2022) (AT —_—F+A—HEHTE)
Professor Wang Xiuli — Chairman FTHEBHIX — XfF 2/2
(appointed on 1 July 2022) (RZBE_—_F+A—BHEZMT

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy MRAR B ST A 3/3
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BSOS L 3/3

The major tasks accomplished by the Audit Committee during
the year are summarised as follows:

a. reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, the
independent auditor's letter to the management and the
annual results announcement, and made recommendation
to the Board for approval;

b. reviewed the interim financial information of the Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2022 and the interim
results announcement, and made recommendation to the
Board for approval;

C. reviewed the management recommendation furnished by
the independent auditor and the response from the
management;
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d. reviewed the audit strategy provided by the independent
auditor and made recommendation to the Board for the
independent auditor's appointment, remuneration and
terms of engagement on audit services for the year ended
31 December 2022;

e. reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the
independent auditor for non-audit services;

f. reviewed with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group;

g. oversaw the implementation of the Group’s risk
management framework and assisted the Board in
conducting independent evaluation of the effectiveness of
the Group’s financial reporting procedures and risk
management and internal control systems;

h. ensured that the management has fulfilled its duty to
establish and maintain effective risk management and
internal control systems including adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff working in the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function;

reviewed the top-tier risks of the Group and recommended
actions to mitigate those risks;

j. furnished opinions to the management on risks associated
with significant matters of the Group;

k. reviewed internal audit reports prepared by the Internal
Audit Department, provided guidelines for internal audit
planning and reporting, and ensured that the internal
audit function was provided with adequate resources to
discharge its responsibility; and

reviewed the changes (where applicable) to the procedures
for monitoring connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions and the whistleblowing
mechanism.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company at www.minmetalsland.com.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the Chairman of the
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee is principally responsible for the review
of the remuneration mechanism and incentive scheme of the
Directors and senior management, and the establishment and
maintenance of a reasonable and competitive remuneration
package to attract and retain Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee was authorised by the Board to
determine the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and
senior management and make recommendation to the Board for
the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year.
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The attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee KELHFEHRIBERAT :
is as follows:

Attendance
Members of the Remuneration Committee EHMZEE2/KE R E
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny — Chairman BEWMBS LT — X% 1
Mr. He Jianbo Al 818 % &= 1/1
Mr. Selwyn Mar (resigned on 1 July 2022) BRELAE(RZTZ_FLA—AFT) /1
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Nl e 1/1
Professor Wang Xiuli (appointed on 1 July 2022) THEBHE (R_ZE-_—_FtA—HEZ(T) 0/0
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During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and
approved the proposals for the 2021 annual bonus and the 2022
annual salary adjustment and the directors’ remuneration of the
newly appointed Directors.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company at www.minmetalsland.com.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of the
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee is principally responsible for formulating
policy on nomination of Directors and leading the process of
identifying and nominating candidates suitably qualified to
become Board members. It reviews the structure, size and
composition of the Board and makes recommendation to the
Board on re-appointment of Directors as well as succession plan
for the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the
Company. The Nomination Committee also reviews the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.
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The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the equality of its performance. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diverse perspectives, which include
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, integrity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee has the
primary responsibility for the implementation of such policy and
review its effectiveness on an annual basis.

The Board also values diversity (including gender diversity) at all
levels of the Group. Details of the Group's gender ratio, together
with relevant data, can be found in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year.
The attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee is
as follows:
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Attendance
Members of the Nomination Committee REZEBEHE R
Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman RDEEE — £FF 1/1
Mr. Selwyn Mar (resigned on 1 July 2022) BHEEEERZEZFtA—HET) 0/0
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy B BE T 1/1
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny MRAER B S A Il
Professor Wang Xiuli (appointed on 1 July 2022) EFEBHE (R—ZE=-_—_FtA—HEZT) 1

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, the
structure, size and composition of the Board, the Board Diversity
Policy of the Company and the appointment of Directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company at www.minmetalsland.com.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consists of all executive Directors. The
Executive Committee is principally responsible for the daily
operations of the Company, including but not limited to,
approving transactions and/or expenses in the ordinary course of
business of the Group, loans or bank facilities to be granted to
the Group and the operations of bank accounts, etc.
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E. Sustainable Development Committee

The Sustainable Development Committee consists of the
Chairman of the Board, the Managing Director and a Deputy
Managing Director of the Company. The Sustainable
Development Committee is principally responsible for the
Group's sustainability-related matters, including formulating
sustainability strategies, identifying and managing sustainability
risks, enhancing sustainability performance, and conducting
sustainability reporting, etc.

F. Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is collectively responsible for determining the
Company's corporate governance policy and performing the
following duties:

a. to develop and review policies and practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

b. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct of the
Company; and

C. to review the Company’s compliance of the CG Code as
well as the disclosures made in the Company’s Corporate
Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the position on
compliance with the CG Code, approved the Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Company's 2022 Annual
Report and approved the amendments of terms of reference of
Executive Committee and Remuneration Committee.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, Ernst & Young, the
independent auditor of the Group, received approximately
HK$3,400,000 (2021: HK$5,000,000) for audit services, and approximately
HKS$750,000 (2021: HKS$2,000,000) for non-audit services which include
the review of the 2022 Interim Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis has been acting as Company Secretary of
the Company since January 2022. He is an associate member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute. Mr. Cheng has participated in professional
training activities for more than 15 hours in 2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

A. Convening special general meetings on
requisition and putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
share capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at
general meetings of the Company have the right to request the
Directors to convene a special general meeting of the Company.
The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by the requisitionist and deposited at the
registered office of the Company.

If the Directors fail to duly convene a meeting within 21 days of
the date of deposit of the requisition, the requisitionist, or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights
of all requisitionist, may themselves convene a special general
meeting of the Company.

B. Enquiries from Shareholders

The Company's website provides email address, postal address,
fax number and telephone number by which enquiries can be
made to the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTMENT COMMUNITY

The Company attaches great importance to communicating with
Shareholders and the investment community (which refers to the
Company’s potential investors and research analysts who report on and
analyse the Company’s position and performance).

Corporate information is communicated to Shareholders and the
investment community by way of the Company’s announcements,
corporate website, meetings with Shareholders and general investor
relations activities.

The Company believes that effective communication with investment
community is essential for promoting their understanding of the
Group's business development. The Company releases property sales
update by way of announcement and press release on a regular basis.
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Publication of announcements and corporate
website

The Company maintains its corporate website at
www.minmetalsland.com where announcements, financial
reports, press releases and update information of the Group are
available. It serves as a key channel for Shareholders and the
investment community to access reliable and timely information
about the Company. Shareholders would raise enquiries or
provide feedback via the designated section on the Company’s
website.

The following corporate information is posted on the Company's
website as soon as it has been released by the Company to the
website of the Stock Exchange:

— announcements, notices and circulars

— annual reports and interim reports

—  Bye-laws

— list of Directors and their roles and function

—  terms of reference of the committees of the Board

—  procedures for nomination of Directors by Shareholders
General meetings of Shareholders

Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings in
person or to appoint proxies to attend and vote on their behalf
if they are unable to do so. They are welcome to raise questions
and comments at general meetings, which members of the
Board and independent auditor of the Company are delighted to
answer.

Shareholders are informed of the voting procedures of general
meetings by the chairman of the general meeting. The Company
also provides Shareholders with sufficient and timely information
concerning the date, location and agenda of general meetings
and other information regarding issues to be decided at general
meetings.

The Company ensures votes cast are properly counted and
recorded. Independent scrutineers are appointed to count the
number of votes cast at general meetings. The Company
announces and publishes, on the same day of the general
meeting, the poll voting results on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.
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C. Investor relations activities

The Company believes that regular and effective communication
with investment community is essential to enhancing corporate
governance and in particular, to their understanding of the
Company’s business development. The Company endeavours to
maintain regular meetings and dialogues with the investment
community through participation in investor conferences, analyst
and media briefings, non-deal road shows and investors’ and
shareholders’ visits.

The Company adopted the Shareholders Communication Policy in 2022
with the aim of enhancing long-term shareholder value through
regular communication with its Shareholders, both individual and
institutional Shareholders. With the Shareholders Communication Policy,
the Company sets out the framework to promote effective
communication with Shareholders so as to enable them to actively
engage with the Company and exercise their rights as Shareholders in
an informed manner.

WHISTLEBLOWING AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICY

In accordance with provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Company has
adopted a whistleblowing policy (the "Whistleblowing Policy”). The
Whistleblowing Policy provides guidance and reporting channels for
employees and the relevant third parties who deal with the Group to
report any suspected impropriety in any matter relating to the Group
directly and confidentially to the designated person in the Human
Resources and Administration Department. The nature, status and
outcome of complaints received under the Whistleblowing Policy are
regularly reported to the Audit Committee.

In accordance with the new provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-Corruption
Policy”). It sets out the guidelines and minimum standards of conduct,
all applicable laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption and
anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to assist
the Group in defending itself against corrupt practices and to report
any reasonable suspicion of fraud and corruption or any attempt to do
so to management or through an appropriate reporting channel. The
Group will not tolerate any form of fraud or corruption among all
employees and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on
behalf of the Group and in its dealings with third parties.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents (i.e. the
Bye-laws) during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILE
EENGEEEAERN

DIRECTORS
ES

Mr. He Jianbo
107 81 % % &£

Chairman

B

Mr. He Jianbo, aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director and Managing Director of the Company
in December 2007 and is currently the Chairman of the Board. Mr. He is responsible for the overall
strategic direction of the Group and organising the management for the strategic planning and business
operations of the Company. Mr. He is a Senior International Business Engineer in the PRC and a Chief
Senior Economist in the PRC, a Vice President of the China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce and a
member of the Political Consultative Conference of Dongcheng District, Beijing, the PRC. He graduated
from the Peking University in 1992 with a Bachelor's Degree in Economics and holds a Master's Degree in
International Finance from Peking University and a Master's Degree in Business Administration from Saint
Mary's University, Canada. Mr. He joined China Minmetals in 1992 and had served the positions of
director of general administrative office, director of strategic planning division and a member of the
strategic planning committee of China Minmetals. Mr. He has extensive experience in real estate
development, corporate management, strategic planning and investment.
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Mr. Liu Bo, aged 57, acts as the General Manager of the Company since
January 2019 and was appointed as an Executive Director and the Managing
Director of the Company in March 2020. Mr. Liu holds a Master's Degree in
Engineering from the Architecture and Engineering Faculty of Xi'an University of
Architecture and Technology and is a qualified professorate senior engineer in
the PRC. He is also a vice president of the construction project management
committee and the foundation and underground space construction committee
of the China Construction Industry Association. Mr. Liu joined China
Metallurgical Group Corporation (“MCC Group”) in 1988 and was the chief
economist of MCC Group and Metallurgical Corporation of China Ltd. He had
served senior management positions in various subsidiaries of MCC Group for
constructional design, and development and promotional of construction and
technology works. He has extensive experience in land development and city
complex’s EPC general contracting construction (including the EPC contracting
construction of the Singapore Universal Studio project). Mr. Liu has participated

in the development and research works in various technological research and Mr. Liu Bo
has obtained various patents and technological awards in the PRC. Mr. Liu was 2% 54
granted a special government grant by the State Council in 2011 in recognition Managing Director
of his distinguished contribution to the development of constructional EEpc

technology in the PRC.
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Mr. Chen Xingwu, aged 53, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the
Company in June 2018 and an Executive Director and a Deputy Managing
Director of the Company in November 2018. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Economics from the University of International Business and
Economics and is a qualified Accountant and an International Business Engineer
in the PRC. Mr. Chen joined China Minmetals in 1991 and has been serving
various departments and subsidiaries of China Minmetals group in international
trade, international merger and acquisition finance and corporate management.
Mr. Chen has extensive experience in strategic financing and investment, and
corporate financial management.
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Mr. Yang Shangping
BiEERE

Deputy Managing Director
EEEBKE

Ms. He Xiaoli
A/ NEZ+L
Non-executive Director

FHITES

Mr. Yang Shangping, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director and a
Deputy Managing Director of the Company in June 2017. Mr. Yang holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Civil Structural Engineering from Tongji University and a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Fudan University. Mr. Yang
joined the Company as the general manager of a real estate development
company of the Company in Nanjing in 2007 and is now responsible for the
strategic investment and urban development divisions of the Company. He had
participated in project works for China Overseas Holdings Ltd. and Shanghai
Vanke Co., Ltd. for over 10 years. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in project

management, sales and marketing and costing management.
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Ms. He Xiaoli, aged 55, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
in February 2002 and a Deputy Managing Director of the Company in
December 2009. She was re-designated as a Non-executive Director of the
Company in November 2018. Ms. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics
(majoring in Accounting) from North China University of Technology and a
Master's Degree in Business Administration from the University of South
Australia. She is a qualified PRC Chief Senior Accountant and a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Company,
Ms. He was the head of business division and the deputy minister of accounting
information division of the finance department of the former China National
Nonferrous Metals Industry Corporation. She is currently a supervisor of
Minmetals Development Co., Limited, a non-executive director of Hunan Non-
Ferrous Metals Holding Group Ltd., the chairman of the supervisory board of
Minmetals Finance Co. Ltd. and a non-executive director of China Minmetals
H.K. (Holdings) Limited. Ms. He has extensive experience in corporate finance
and investment, capital market operations and financial management.
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Mr. Huang Guoping, aged 60, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company in February 2022. Mr. Huang holds a Bachelor's Degree in
engineering (majoring in non-ferrous metal metallurgy) from Central South
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (now known as Central South University). Mr.
Huang joined China Minmetals in 2000 and has been serving in various
subsidiaries of China Minmetals for non-ferrous metal metallurgy, trading and
corporate management businesses. Mr. Huang was a director and the chairman
of China Minmetals Rare Earth Co, Ltd. and is currently a specialised external
director and supervisor of China Minmetals and a director of Minmetals
Development Co., Limited. Mr. Huang has extensive experience in non-ferrous

metal metallurgy and business management.

EETELE  BERTHE RZTE__F_ARSTARARERITES -

BERERAPAEASRRE (RWTEAL) I22 L (FRLBLRER) 2 Mr. Huang Guoping
B BEEN-SEREMAGALR  TAAKRPEATRSRHEA A HEFRE
Al EREEBAS BOROCEEBEN - AALSRETERBL o T

BOERARESERESREY BATELBRIRIMNIEES UMD
BERENVARARES HEEARACLE AT NEEEE T EEFE

=
EARER o

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy, aged 75, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in September 2015. Mr. Lam graduated from
the University of Hong Kong. He also holds a Master's Degree in Science of
Management from the Stanford Graduate School of Business. He joined the
Hong Kong Government as Administrative Officer in 1970 and had worked in
areas like housing, environmental protection, land administration, procurement,
financial services, infrastructural development and large infrastructure projects
such as Hong Kong International Airport, etc. He had served as the CEO of the
Airport Authority and the Managing Director of the Urban Renewal Authority
and a member of the Lantau Development Advisory Committee and the
Country and Marine Parks Board. Currently, he is a director of Life Education
Activity Programme and a court member and an adjunct professor of the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam, a Justice of Peace since 2004, was
awarded the Golden Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government in 2008.

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
MR

Independent Non-executive Director
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Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny

BERF Lt

Independent Non-executive Director

BYFWITES

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, aged 70, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in April 2018. Ms. Law graduated from
the University of Hong Kong with an Honours degree in Science. She holds a
Master's degree in Public Administration from Harvard University and was named
a Littauer Fellow. She also holds a Master's degree in Education from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Before retiring from the civil service in 2007,
Ms. Law was the Commissioner of the Hong Kong Independent Commission
Against Corruption. During her 30 years in the civil service, Ms. Law has worked
in many fields, including medical and health, economic services, housing, land
and planning, home affairs, social welfare, civil service, transport and education.
Ms. Law is currently an independent non-executive director of CLP Holdings
Limited, China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited, Nameson Holdings Limited, China
Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited and New World Development
Company Limited (all listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange). She was an
external director of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and a member
of the Executive Council of the Government of the HKSAR. Ms. Law was awarded
the Gold Bauhinia Star and the Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2003 and 2017
respectively by the Government of HKSAR in recognition of her distinguished

service to the community. She is also a Justice of Peace since 2008.
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Professor Wang Xiuli, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in July 2022. Professor Wang holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Economics from Renmin University of China, a Master's
Degree in Management from the University of International Business and
Economics and a Doctorate Degree in Economics from the University of
International Business and Economics. She is also a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Professor Wang has been teaching at
the University of International Business and Economics since 1988 and is
currently a professor at the Business School of the University of International
Business and Economics. Professor Wang has extensive experience in financial
accounting, corporate financial statements analysis and internationalisation of

accounting standards.

Professor Wang is currently an independent director of Guoxin Health Insurance
Service Group Co. Ltd. Limited (listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and
Zhongke Cambrian Technology Co., Ltd. (listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange).
She was an independent director of Minmetals Development Co., Ltd, Three
Squirrels Co., Ltd. and Ecovacs Robotics Co., Ltd..
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Ning Heqiu
BEMREE

Deputy General Manager
Bl 4T

Mr. Dai Pengyu
BEEF KL

Deputy General Manager
Bl 4 4 38

Mr. Ning Heqiu, aged 58, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the
Company in March 2020. Mr. Ning holds a Master's Degree in Engineering from
Wuhan University and is a qualified professorate senior engineer in the PRC. Mr.
Ning has been serving in the construction sector for over 30 years since he
joined 23rd Metallurgical of China Minmetals in 1986. He is now the President
of 23rd Metallurgical, a vice president of Hunan Construction Industry
Association and a deputy director of China National Association for Non-ferrous
Metals Industries Construction. He has been recognised for his professional
achievement in Hunan Province. Mr. Ning has extensive experience in

construction business and corporate management.
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Mr. Dai Pengyu, aged 40, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the
Company in March 2020. Mr. Dai holds a Bachelor's Degree from Xi'an University
of Architecture and Technology, majoring in business administration. Mr. Dai
joined the Company in 2007 and has been serving senior management
positions in various real estate development subsidiaries of the Company in
central, eastern and southern China. Mr. Dai is now responsible for the
operational management department and marketing management department
of the Company. Mr. Dai has extensive experience in real estate operation

management and marketing.
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Mr. Tang Ying Kit, Edward, aged 49, joined the Company in April 2013 and is
now the Company’s Financial Controller and General Manager of Hong Kong
Business Division. Mr. Tang is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, and a Certified ESG Analyst (CESGA®). Mr. Tang holds a Bachelor
degree in Business Administration in Finance (Honours) from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Tang
worked in listed company and state-owned enterprise in Hong Kong. Mr. Tang
has extensive experience in corporate finance, financial and general

management.
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Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis, aged 48, was appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company in January 2022. Mr. Cheng is an associate member of
both The Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute. He has over 24 years of experience in compliance and

company secretarial profession.
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The Board would like to submit the Annual Report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are real estate development,
specialised construction and property investment. Details of the
principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 131 of this Annual Report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: final dividend of HK1.0 cent per
Share and a special dividend of HK1.0 cent per Share, totalling HK2.0
cents per Share).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy that sets out the principles
and guidelines in relation to the distribution and payment of dividends
to the Shareholders.

The Board has the discretion to declare or propose dividends to the
Shareholders subject to the limitations under the Companies Act of
Bermuda, the Bye-laws and applicable laws, regulations and accounting
standards. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the financial performance, cash flow
position, business requirements of the Company and the market
conditions.
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The Board may declare the payment of an interim dividend or propose
a final dividend which will be subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at annual general meeting. Under special circumstances
such as a temporary reduction in profit or changes in business
environment, the Board may, at its discretion and after due and careful
consideration, distribute a special dividend to the Shareholders.

Dividend payout would be in the form of cash or scrip or a
combination of both.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion
on the Group's corporate strategy, future business development,
possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” as well as the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 24 to 29 and pages 32 to 51 of this
Annual Report respectively.

The financial risk factors and management of the Group are set out in
Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

No significant events affecting the Group have occurred since the end
of the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the “Financial Highlights” on
page 7 of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

To promote sustainability, the Group strives to maintain a balance
between its real estate development business and the ecological
environment. The Group treasures green design and eco-friendly
construction that involves the use of materials and processes that are
resource-efficient and environmentally responsible throughout the life
cycle of property development. Details of the Group’s performance in
environment preservation are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report for the year.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group acknowledges the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. During the year under review, the Group had
complied with the requirements under the Companies Act of Bermuda,
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong), the
Listing Rules, the SFO (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) and the
relevant rules and regulations of places which it has operations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group's success depends on the support of key stakeholders, such
as employees, customers and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are an important and valuable asset to the Group. The
Group rewards and recognises the contribution of staff by offering
competitive remuneration package and standardised performance
appraisal system to provide incentives. The Group has a thorough
career development programme to promote career development and
progression by providing appropriate training and opportunities for
career advancement within the Group.

Customers

The Group's principal customers are the purchasers of its real estate
development projects. The Group has established property
management subsidiaries in Mainland China and Hong Kong to provide
customers with professional and caring property management services.

Shareholders

The Group strives to enhance corporate value to Shareholders. It is
poised to foster business development to achieve sustainable business
and earnings growth and reward Shareholders through stable dividend
payouts taking into account capital adequacy levels, liquidity positions
and business expansion needs of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 27 and Note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of the Group's major properties held for investment and
properties under development are set out on pages 12 to 21 of this
Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2022,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda,
amounted to HK$934,575,000 (2021: HK$940,263,000).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 9 of this Annual
Report.

SHARE OPTION

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 7 June 2013 to
recognise and acknowledge eligible persons for their contribution or

potential contribution to the Group.

No share options have yet been granted by the Company pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.
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The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as follows:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Participants

Any directors or any employees of any company of the Group
and any advisers of, consultants of, contractors to any company
of the Group or any person who has any relationship (whether
business or otherwise) with any company of the Group or any
person whom the Directors consider, in their sole discretion, has
contributed or will contribute or can contribute to the Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 333,785,270, representing approximately 9.97%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
Annual Report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No share options under the Share Option Scheme may be
granted to any eligible person, which, if exercised in full, would
result in the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon the exercise of the share options already granted or to be
granted to such eligible person under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such new
grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of such new grant. Any grant of further share
options above this limit shall be subject to the requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The period within which the Shares must be taken up under
a share option

The Directors may in their absolute discretion determine the
period during which a share option may be exercised and notify
each grantee, save that such period shall not be later than 10
years from the date on which the Directors make an offer of the
share option subject to the provisions for early termination as
stipulated in the Share Option Scheme.
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(5)

(6)

(7)

Time of acceptance and the amount payable on acceptance
of the share option

The offer of a share option made in accordance with the Share
Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 business days from
the date on which the offer is made and the amount payable on
acceptance of the share option is HK$10.

The basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board at the
time of grant of the relevant share option and shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price per Share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the relevant share option; (i) the amount equivalent to the
average closing price per Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant share option; or (iii)
the nominal value of a Share.

The remaining life

The Share Option Scheme is valid until 6 June 2023,

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Annual Report

are:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Jianbo
Mr. Liu Bo
Mr. Chen Xingwu

Mr. Yang Shangping

Non-executive Directors

Ms. He Xiaoli
Mr. Huang Guoping (appointed on 1 February 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Selwyn Mar (resigned on 1 July 2022)
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny

Professor Wang Xiuli (@appointed on 1 July 2022)
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Professor Wang Xiuli will retire from the office of Director at the AGM in
accordance with Bye-law 102 of the Bye-laws and, being eligible, offer
herself for re-election at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company
and any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

There is no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group, to which the Company and any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the Directors or an entity
connected with him is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly, which was entered into during the year or subsisted at any
time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors since the date of 2022 interim report of the
Company are as follows:

1. Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of New World Development Company
Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange) with effect from 1 December 2022.

2. Changes in Director's emoluments during the year are set out in
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The interests of Directors in competing businesses that are required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules as notified by
the relevant Directors are as follows:

Mr. He Jianbo, being the Chairman of the Board and an Executive
Director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings,
Liaoning Industrial Park and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Liu Bo, being an Executive Director and the Managing Director of
the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings.

Mr. Chen Xingwu, being an Executive Director and a Deputy Managing
Director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings
and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Yang Shangping, being an Executive Director and a Deputy
Managing Director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals
Land Holdings.

All of Minmetals Land Holdings, Liaoning Industrial Park and Minmetals
Real Estate are companies established under the laws of the PRC.
Minmetals Land Holdings is engaged in real estate development,
construction contracting and sub-contracting, property management,
surveying and design of construction projects, project investment,
provision of technical services, investment consultancy and corporate
management consultancy. Liaoning Industrial Park is engaged in the
development of Minmetals (Yingkou) Industrial Park. Minmetals Real
Estate is engaged in real estate development and operation,
construction, property management, real estate agency, real estate
advertising and exhibition and other real estate related business.

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, being an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company,
(Holdings) Co., Ltd,,
Limited which is engaged in real estate development operation in the
PRC and an independent non-executive director of New World
Development Company Limited which is a listed company in Hong
Kong and principally engaged in property development, property
investment and other investment businesses.

is also a director of China Resources
the holding company of China Resources Land

In the event that the Board decides that there is a conflict of interest
between the Group and the aforementioned companies, the Directors
with a conflict of interest will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolutions.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual Report, none of
the Directors or their respective associates (as if each of them were
treated as a controlling shareholder under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules) had any competing interests in a business which competes or is
likely to compete with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (i) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or (iii) were required, pursuant to the Model
Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Long Position in Shares RRGOZHR

Approximate

percentage of total

Number of issued Shares

Name of Directors Nature of interest Shares held HERITRA

Esng ERME FEEzROEE BEZHMABDL

Mr. He Jianbo Personal 2,040,000 0.06%
AT & o A & A

Mr. Yang Shangping Personal 1,846,667 0.06%
B FEE E&A

Ms. He Xiaoli Personal 783,333 0.02%
A/ NEZ T & A

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
had any personal, family, corporate or other interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as at 31
December 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age, was
granted or had exercised any right to subscribe for any equity or debt
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO) during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option” and “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, the Company had no other outstanding
options, convertible securities, warrants or other similar rights as at
31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there were no repurchase or exercise of
options and convertible securities during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or the
laws of Bermuda.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 December 2022, according to the register of interests kept by RZ-ZZE-—F+-_A=+—H REALAQT
the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the following entities had ~ HEHF M EKRNE ==+ NMEZRER
interests and short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which B 2 Bz Z e fiacsd - THTER AR AR
fall to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV 19 M ABEEI () P A IRB B H R E IG5

of the SFO: +ERE-RE=SBAALAAREZE
HRAR

Approximate percentage
of total issued Shares

Interest in Shares HERITRA
BR A7 #E BB

Long position  Short position  Long position  Short position
Name of Shareholders RRE®E e KB e KB
China Minmetals FERRE 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMCL RRERG 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMNH HREGER 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMN REEERG 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
Album Enterprises EHEE 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
Minmetals HK EANE 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
June Glory June Glory 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —

Note:  June Glory is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Minmetals HK, which in turn is owned as  F{&E : June Glory BB BRB 2z 2 EMB AR - HEREL

to approximately 39.04%, 38.95% and 22.01% by CMCL, Album Enterprises and Top RABKRG - B E KTop Create Resources
Create Resources Limited respectively. Album Enterprises and Top Create Resources Limited 7 Il # B £ #939.04% ~ 38.95% [ 22.01%A%
Limited are wholly owned by CMN, which in turn is owned as to approximately 1 o & F{> % K Top Create Resources Limited B FL A&
99.999% and 0.001% by CMNH and CMCL respectively. CMNH is a wholly-owned BERHE2EHEAR  AEACRMAHBARSE @
subsidiary of CMCL. CMCL is owned as to approximately 88.4% by China Minmetals. % & B 17 5 B H £799.999% £ 0.001% A% # ©
Accordingly, each of China Minmetals, CMCL, CMNH, CMN, Album Enterprises and IREEERATBRO 2 EEWB AR : M E
Minmetals HK were each deemed to have an interest in the 2,071,095,506 Shares AR A AR #188.4% % HE « Bt - PEAR
held by June Glory. AERGD  AEACER  ABAGKRG BERBND

¥EEATESEHER AR Iune Glory#iE 2
2,071,095,506 A% A& 17 7 A #E 2 ©
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the vyear, the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately
31% (2021: 15%) of the total purchases of the Group. Purchases from
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 14% (2021: 9%) of the
Group's total purchases. None of the Directors, their close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and any Shareholders (who to the best
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group's five largest
suppliers during the year.

During the year, the percentage of the revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group'’s five largest customers
combined was less than 30% (2021: less than 30%) of the total revenue
of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The connected transactions conducted by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

1. Loan agreements dated 26 July 2022 were entered into
Guangzhou Kuangyu (an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company), Shengshi Guangye (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and the holder of 51% equity interest
of Guangzhou Kuangyu) and China Merchants (holder of 49%
equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangyu) respectively, pursuant to
which Guangzhou Kuangyu agreed to provide loans to Shengshi
Guangye for an amount of RMB87,552,235.23 and China
Merchants for an amount of RMB84,118,814.24 based on the
same terms and conditions and in proportion to their respective
shareholdings in Guangzhou Kuangyu on an unsecured
interest-free basis ("Kuangyu Loan Agreements”).

China Merchants holds 49% equity interest of Guangzhou
Kuangyu and is therefore a substantial shareholder of Guangzhou
Kuangyu and a connected person at the subsidiary level of the
Company under Listing Rules. Accordingly, the provision of loan
to China Merchants under Kuangyu Loan Agreements constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company.
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A tenancy agreement dated 28 September 2022 was entered into
between Shengshi Guangye (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) as tenant and Fifth Plaza Co (a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of China Minmetals) as landlord for a lease of
office premises and car parking spaces at Minmetals Plaza,
Beijing, the PRC (“Tenancy Agreement”), details of which are set
out below:

Premises . Part of each of 7th, BM and B1 floors, Tower A,
Minmetals Plaza, 3 Chaoyangmen North Street,
Dongcheng District, Beijing, the PRC

Car parking . Seven car parking spaces at Minmetals Plaza
spaces
Term . 3 years commencing from 1 October 2022 to 30

September 2025 (both dates inclusive)

Rent . The rent for the premises (exclusive of
management, electricity and public facility
charges) shall be RMB283,380.35 per calendar
month

The rent for the car parking spaces (exclusive of
management fees) shall be RMB8,400.00 per
calendar month

Fifth Plaza Co is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals. China Minmetals is the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, Fifth Plaza Co is a
connected person of the Company and the entering into of the
Tenancy Agreement and the transaction contemplated
thereunder (the “Transaction”) constitute a connected transaction
for the Company under the Listing Rules.

In accordance with HKFRS 16, the Group, as the lessee, shall
recognise a lease as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability in
the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group. As
such, the Transaction should be regarded as an acquisition of
asset under the definition of transaction set out in
Rule 14.04(1)(a) of the Listing Rules. The value of the right-of-use
asset recognised under the Transaction is RMB9,316,016.15 (the
“Value of the Right-of-use Asset”). The amount of lease liability
recognised under the Transaction shall be the same as the Value
of the Right-of-use Asset recognised. The Value of the
Right-of-use Asset will be amortised over the lease period.
Accordingly, the entering into of the Tenancy Agreement and the
Transaction contemplated thereunder will be deemed acquisition
of right-of-use assets by the Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The continuing connected transactions conducted by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

1. A conditional construction contracting agreement dated 17 April
2020 was entered into between the Company and China
Minmetals whereby the Group may from time to time invite
China Minmetals Group to tender and award construction
contracts, subject to successful tender as construction
contractors in respect of the existing and future real estate
development projects of the Group in Mainland China and Hong
Kong for a term of three years from 19 April 2020 to 18 April
2023 (“Construction Framework Agreement”).

The Construction Framework Agreement and the annual caps
were approved by the independent Shareholders at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2020 whereby
the total contract sums which may be awarded by the Group to
China Minmetals Group shall not exceed the annual caps below:
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For the period from

RUTHE
19 April 2020 to 1 January 2021 to 1 January 2022 to 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2020 31 December 2021 31 December 2022 18 April 2023
—EBE-EHF B —F B F —E=-=
MA+AAZE —A—H=Z —HA—B=E —A—B=Z
—E-EF —E-—F —Eg=-= —E-=
+t=-—A=+t—AH +t=-A=+—~H +=A=+—H mA+ AR
RMB3,921,050,000 RMB3,693,150,000 RMBS5,401,960,000 RMB1,657,570,000
3,921,050,0007C A R ¥ 3,693,150,0007C A R & 5,401,960,0007C A R #& 1,657,570,0007T A R #
The aggregate contract sum awarded by the Group to China RBE_Z-__F+_-_A=+—RHILF

Minmetals Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
RMB3,013,423,383 (2021: RMB1,701,055,622).

2. A construction costing consultation framework agreement dated
28 April 2020 was entered into between the Company and CERI
(@ non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Minmetals) whereby the
Company may engage CERI to provide audit review over the
budgets or final accounts of the Company’s real estate
development projects, and CERI may accept such engagement
during the term of three years from 28 April 2020 to 27 April
2023 (“Consultation Framework Agreement”).
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The annual cap for the service fees payable by the Company to
CERI in respect of the Consultation Framework Agreement for the
period from 28 April 2020 to 31 December 2020, for each of the
two years ending 31 December 2021 and 2022 and for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 27 April 2023 were RMB4,500,000,
RMB9,750,000, RMB12,750,000 and RMB3,000,000 respectively. As
all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by the Company under the Consultation Framework
Agreement were less than 5%, the Consultation Framework
Agreement was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fee paid by the Company to CERI
for the year ended 31 December 2022 was RMB1,892,545 (2021:
RMB1,740,424).

(i) A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2020 was entered into
between Brightway Asset (a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as the landlord
(“Tenancy Agreement 1), details of which are set out
below:

Premises . 9th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong with a GFA of
approximately 5,793 square feet
("Premises 1")

Term . two vyears from 1 June 2020 to 31 May
2022 (both dates inclusive)

Rent . HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive
of government rates and management
fees)

Management fee :  HKS$30,702.90 per calendar month
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(i)

The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable
by Brightway Asset in respect of Tenancy Agreement | for
the period from 1 June 2020 to 31 December 2020, for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and for the period from
1 January 2022 to 31 May 2022 were HK$1,674,757,
HKS$2,871,011 and HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual rent and management fee receivable by
Texion under Tenancy Agreement | were less than 5%,
Tenancy Agreement | was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted
from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and management fee paid
by Brightway Asset to Texion for the period from
1 January 2022 to 31 May 2022 under Tenancy Agreement
I 'was HKS$1,196,255 (2021: HKS$2,662,463).

The Tenancy Agreement | expired on 31 May 2022.

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2022 was entered into
between Brightway Asset as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord in respect of Premises | (“Tenancy Agreement II"),

details of which are set out below:

Term . two years from 1 June 2022 to 31 May
2024 (both dates inclusive)

Rent - HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive
of government rates and service,
management and air-conditioning charges)

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, HK$30,702.90 per calendar month
management

and air-

conditioning

charges
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The annual caps for the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by Brightway Asset in
respect of Tenancy Agreement Il for the period from
1 June 2022 to 31 December 2022, for the year ended
31 December 2023 and for the period from 1 January
2024 to 31 May 2024 were HKS$1,674,757, HKS2,871,011
and HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of the
annual rent and service, management and air-conditioning
charges receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement Il
were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement Il was subject to
annual review, reporting and announcement requirements,
but exempted from circular, independent financial advice
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges paid by Brightway Asset to
Texion for the period from 1 June 2022 to 31 December
2022 under Tenancy Agreement Il was HKS$1,257,660 (2021:
N/A).

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2020 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as
the landlord (“Tenancy Agreement IlI"), details of which are
set out below:

11th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong with a GFA of
approximately 5,793 square feet
("Premises 1)

Premises

Term . two years from 1 June 2020 to 31 May
2022 (both dates inclusive)

Rent - HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive
of government rates and management
fees)

Management fee HK$30,702.90 per calendar month
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(i)

The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable
by Minmetals Cheerglory in respect of Tenancy Agreement
Il for the period from 1 June 2020 to 31 December 2020,
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and for the period
from 1 January 2022 to 31 May 2022 were HKS$1,674,757,
HKS$2,871,011 and HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual rent and management fee receivable by
Texion under Tenancy Agreement lll were less than 5%,
Tenancy Agreement Il was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted
from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and management fee paid
by Minmetals Cheerglory to Texion for the period from
1 January 2022 to 31 May 2022 under Tenancy Agreement
I was HKS$1,196,255 (2021: HK$2,662,463).

The Tenancy Agreement Il expired on 31 May 2022.

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2022 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory as the tenant and Texion
as the landlord in respect of Premises Il (“Tenancy

Agreement V"), details of which are set out below:

Term . two years from 1 June 2022 to 31 May
2024 (both dates inclusive)

Rent - HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive
of government rates and service,
management and air-conditioning charges)

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, HK$30,702.90 per calendar month
management

and air-

conditioning

charges
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The annual caps for the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by Minmetals
Cheerglory in respect of Tenancy Agreement IV for the
period from 1 June 2022 to 31 December 2022, for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and for the period from
1 January 2024 to 31 May 2024 were HK$1,674,757,
HKS$2,871,011 and HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual rent and service, management and
air-conditioning charges receivable by Texion under
Tenancy Agreement IV were less than 5%, Tenancy
Agreement IV was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges paid by Minmetals Cheerglory
to Texion for the period from 1 June 2022 to
31 December 2022 under Tenancy Agreement IV was
HK$1,257,660 (2021: N/A).

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2020 was entered into
between Minmetals HK (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord
(“Tenancy Agreement V"), details of which are set out
below:

19th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong with a GFA of
approximately 5,793 square (“Premises Ill")

Premises

Term . two years from 1 June 2020 to 31 May
2022 (both dates inclusive)

Rent - HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive
of government rates and management
fees)

Management fee HK$30,702.90 per calendar month
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(i)

The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable
by Minmetals HK in respect of Tenancy Agreement V for
the period from 1 June 2020 to 31 December 2020, for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and for the period from
1 January 2022 to 31 May 2022 were HK$1,674,757,
HKS$2,871,011 and HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual rent and management fee receivable by
Texion under Tenancy Agreement V were less than 5%,
Tenancy Agreement V was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted
from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and management fee paid
by Minmetals HK to Texion for the period from 1
2022 to 31 May 2022 under Tenancy Agreement V was
HKS$1,196,255 (2021: HK$2,662,463).

January

The Tenancy Agreement V expired on 31 May 2022.

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2022 was entered into
between Minmetals HK as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord in respect of Premises Ill (“Tenancy Agreement

VI"), details of which are set out below:

Term . two years from 1 June 2022 to 31 May
2024 (both dates inclusive)

Rent - HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive
of government rates and service,
management and air-conditioning charges)

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, HK$30,702.90 per calendar month
management

and air-

conditioning

charges
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The annual caps for the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by Minmetals HK in
respect of Tenancy Agreement VI for the period from
1 June 2022 to 31 December 2022, for the year ended
31 December 2023 and for the period from 1 January
2024 to 31 May 2024 were HKS$1,674,757, HKS2,871,011
and HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of the
annual rent and service, management and air-conditioning
charges receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement VI
were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement VI was subject to
annual review, reporting and announcement requirements,
but exempted from circular, independent financial advice
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges paid by Minmetals HK to
Texion for the period from 1 June 2022 to 31 December
2022 under Tenancy Agreement VI was HKS$1,257,660
(2021: N/A).

6. A tenancy agreement dated 30 June 2020 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord (“Tenancy Agreement VII"), details of which are set out

below:

Premises - Unit 1201 of 12th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,
79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong with a GFA of approximately 1,629
square feet

Term . three years from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023
(both dates inclusive)

Rent . HK$58,644 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

Management fee : HK$8,633.70 per calendar month
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The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable by
Minmetals Cheerglory in respect of Tenancy Agreement VIl for
the period from 1 July 2020 to 31 December 2020, for each of
the two years ending 31 December 2021 and 2022 and for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023 were HK$403,667,
HK$807,333, HK$807,333 and HK$403,667 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of
the annual rent and management fee receivable by Texion under
Tenancy Agreement VIl were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement
VIl was subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and management fee paid by
Minmetals Cheerglory to Texion for the year ended
31 December 2022 was HK$748,688 (2021: HK$748,688).

A tenancy agreement dated 30 June 2020 was entered into
between MMG (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord (“Tenancy
Agreement VIII"), details of which are set out below:

Premises - Unit 1208 of 12th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,
79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong of a GFA of approximately 1,840
square feet

Term . three years from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023
(both dates inclusive)
Rent . HKS$66,240 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

Management fee HK$9,752 per calendar month
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The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable by
MMG in respect of Tenancy Agreement VIII for the period from
1 July 2020 to 31 December 2020, for each of the two years
ending 31 December 2021 and 2022 and for the period from
1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023 were HK$455,952, HK$911,904,
HK$911,904 and HK$455,952 respectively. As all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of the annual
rent and management fee receivable by Texion under Tenancy
Agreement VIII were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement VIII was
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and management fee paid by
MMG to Texion for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
HK$845,664 (2021: HKS$845,664).

A loan framework agreement dated 13 July 2020 was entered into
between Guangzhou Kuangrong (a 51%-owned subsidiary of the
Company), Shengshi Guangye (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the holder of 51% equity interest in Guangzhou
Kuangrong) and Guangzhou Merchants (holder of 49% equity
interest in Guangzhou Kuangrong) whereby Guangzhou
Kuangrong may during the term from 13 July 2020 to 12 July
2023 provide loans by way of entrustment loans or directly to
Shengshi Guangye (or its designated fellow subsidiaries in
Mainland China) and Guangzhou Merchants based on the same
terms and conditions and in proportion to their respective
shareholding in Guangzhou Kuangrong on an unsecured
interest-free basis (“Guangzhou Kuangrong Framework
Agreement”).

The caps amount of the loans to be provided by Guangzhou
Kuangrong to Shengshi Guangye (or its designated fellow
subsidiaries in Mainland China) and Guangzhou Merchants for the
period from 13 July 2020 to 12 July 2023 were RMB688,500,000
and RMB661,500,000 respectively.
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Guangzhou Merchants is a substantial shareholder of Guangzhou
Kuangrong and is therefore a connected person at the subsidiary
level of the Company. As the Board has approved the continuing
connected transactions of the Company and the Independent
Non-executive Directors have confirmed that the terms of the
Guangzhou Kuangrong Framework Agreement are fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms and in the interest of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole, the Guangzhou
Kuangrong Framework Agreement was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and Shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

The loans provided by Guangzhou Kuangrong to Guangzhou
Merchants for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
RMB651,700,000 (2021: RMB588,000,000).

A financial services framework agreement dated 2 February 2021
was entered into between the Company and Minmetals Finance
whereby Minmetals Finance would provide current and fixed
deposit services, loan services and settlement services to the
Company and its subsidiaries in Mainland China for a term of
three years from 20 April 2021 to 19 April 2024 (“Financial
Services Framework Agreement”). Pursuant to the Financial
Services Framework Agreement, the annual cap on the maximum
daily outstanding balance of deposits (including accrued
interests) to be placed by the Company and its subsidiaries in
Mainland China for each of the three years from 20 April 2021
to 19 April 2024 was RMB3,000,000,000. The provision of the
deposit services by Minmetals Finance to the Company and its
subsidiaries in Mainland China and the aforesaid annual cap were
approved by the independent Shareholders at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 19 March 2021.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits (including
accrued interests) placed by the Company and its subsidiaries in
Mainland China with Minmetals Finance for the year ended
31 December 2022 was RMB2,974,578,950 (2021:
RMB2,972,930,374).
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A loan framework agreement dated 26 April 2021 was entered
into between Beijing Wanhu (@ 51%-owned subsidiary of the
Company), MLIML (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and the holder of 51% equity interest in Beijing Wanhu) and
Beijing Vanke (holder of 49% equity interest in Beijing Wanhu)
pursuant to which Beijing Wanhu may during the term
commencing from 26 April 2021 to 25 April 2023 provide loans
to MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned subsidiaries in
Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke based on the same terms and
conditions and in proportion to their respective shareholdings in
Beijing Wanhu on an unsecured interest-free basis (“Beijing
Wanhu Framework Agreement”).

The caps amount of the loans to be provided by Beijing Wanhu
to MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned subsidiaries in
Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke for the period from 26 April
2021 to 25 April 2023 were RMB2,142,000,000 and
RMB2,058,000,000 respectively.

Beijing Vanke is a substantial shareholder of Beijing Wanhu and is
therefore a connected person at the subsidiary level of the
Company. As the Board has approved the continuing connected
transactions of the Company and the Independent
Non-executive Directors have confirmed that the terms of the
Beijing Wanhu Framework Agreement are fair and reasonable, on
normal commercial terms and in the interest of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole, the Beijing Wanhu Framework
Agreement is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and Shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

The loans provided by Beijing Wanhu to Beijing Vanke for the

year ended 31 December 2022 were RMB1,992,780,000 (2021:
RMB2,007,480,000).
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A loan framework agreement dated 26 April 2021 was entered
between Guangzhou Kuangmao (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company), Shengshi Guangye (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the holder of 51%
equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao) and Xiefeng (holder of
49% equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao) pursuant to which
Guangzhou Kuangmao may during the term commencing from
26 April 2021 to 25 April 2024 provide loans by way of
entrustment loans or directly provide loans to Shengshi Guangye
and Xiefeng (or their respective direct holding company, or
designated fellow subsidiaries in the PRC) on an unsecured
interest-free basis ("Kuangmao Framework Agreement”).

The caps amount of the loans to be provided by Guangzhou
Kuangmao to Shengshi Guangye and Xiefeng (or their respective
direct holding company, or designated fellow subsidiaries in the
PRQC) for the period from 26 April 2021 to 25 April 2024 were
RMB969,000,000 and RMB931,000,000 respectively.

As at the date of the Kuangmao Framework Agreement,
Guangzhou Kuangmao was an insignificant subsidiary of the
Company as all relevant ratios pursuant to Rule 14A.09(1) of the
Listing Rules based on the financial statements of Guangzhou
Kuangmao for the period from 12 December 2018 (date of
incorporation) to 31 December 2018 and for the two years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, respectively were less than
10%. Xiefeng was therefore not regarded as a connected person
of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.09 of the Listing Rules and
the transactions contemplated under the Kuangmao Framework
Agreement did not constitute continuing connected transactions
for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Based on the unaudited financial information of Guangzhou
Kuangmao and the Company for the year ended 31 December
2021, the relevant ratio (as defined under Rule 14A.09(1) of the
Listing Rules) of Guangzhou Kuangmao exceeded 10% for the
year ended 31 December 2021, and thus Guangzhou Kuangmao
has ceased to be an insignificant subsidiary of the Company
under Rule 14A.09(1) of the Listing Rules and Xiefeng shall
become a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level under the Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.60 of the Listing Rules, the Company is
required to comply with the applicable reporting and disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules regarding
such continuing connected transactions. As the Board has
approved the continuing connected transactions of the
Company and the Independent Non-executive Directors have
confirmed that the terms of the Kuangmao Framework
Agreement are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms
and in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole, Kuangmao Framework Agreement is subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of
the Listing Rules.

The loans provided by Guangzhou Kuangmao to Xiefeng for the
year ended 31 December 2022 were RMB931,000,000.

A pre-delivery property management service contract dated
31 January 2022 was entered into between Jiahe Risheng (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals
Properties Hunan (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, which is owned as to 51% and 49% by the Company
and 23rd Metallurgical respectively) whereby Minmetals
Properties Hunan would provide the following pre-delivery
property management services to LOHAS International
Community for a term of three years from 1 January 2022 to
31 December 2024 ("Service Contract I"):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units;
(i)  pre-delivery services such as pre-delivery inspection,
preparation works for residential units to be delivered to

buyers;

(iiiy  follow up on repair work in delivered residential units
during the rectification period; and

(iv)  provision of services to and/or arrangement for relationship
activities for property owners.
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The annual cap for the service fees payable by Jiahe Risheng to
Minmetals Properties Hunan in respect of Service Contract | for
the three years ended 31 December 2024 were RMB799,100,
RMB155,000 and RMB130,000 respectively. As all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the service fees payable by Jiahe
Risheng under Service Contract | were less than 5%, Service
Contract | was subject to annual review, reporting and
but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

announcement requirements,

The aggregate sum of service fees payable by Jiahe Risheng to
Minmetals Properties Hunan for the period from 1 January 2022
to 27 September 2022 was RMB49,795 (2021: N/A).

Service Contract | was superseded by Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement dated 28 September 2022 entered
into between the Company and Minmetals Properties Hunan.

A pre-delivery property management service contract dated
31 January 2022 was entered into between Zhongrun
Chengzhen (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and
Minmetals Properties Hunan whereby Minmetals Properties
Hunan would provide the following pre-delivery property
management services to Scotland Town for a term of three years
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 (“Service Contract II):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units,
such as security inspection, repair and maintenance and
calculation of property management fees for units of
properties remain unsold; and

(i) follow up on repair works of delivered residential units
during the rectification period such as calculation of
management fee allowance to be provided to owners and
coordination with owners on maintenance and repair.
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The annual cap for the service fees payable by Zhongrun
Chengzhen to Minmetals Properties Hunan in respect of Service
Contract Il for the three years ended 31 December 2024 were
RMB491,800, RMB165,000 and RMB165,000 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Zhongrun Chengzhen under Service Contract Il were
less than 5%, Service Contract Il was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fees payable by Zhongrun
Chengzhen to Minmetals Properties Hunan for the period from
1 January 2022 to 27 September 2022 was RMB14,165 (2021:
N/A).

Service Contract Il was superseded by Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement dated 28 September 2022 entered
into between the Company and Minmetals Properties Hunan.

A pre-delivery property management service contract dated
31 January 2022 was entered into between Hunan Kuangdai (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals
Properties Hunan whereby Minmetals Properties Hunan would
provide the following pre-delivery property management services
to Qin Royale for a term of three years from 1 January 2022 to
31 December 2024 (“Service Contract III"):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units,
sales office, show flats and commercial units;

(i) pre-delivery services such as pre-delivery inspection,
preparation works for residential units to be delivered to

buyers and on-site garbage collection; and

(i) provide services to and/or arrange for relationship activities
for property owners.
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The annual cap for the service fees payable by Hunan Kuangdai
to Minmetals Properties Hunan in respect of Service Contract Il
for the three years ended 31 December 2024 were RMB2,545,000,
RMB1,973,300 and RMB1,420,000 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Hunan Kuangdai under Service Contract Ill were less
than 5%, Service Contract Il was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fees payable by Hunan Kuangdai
to Minmetals Properties Hunan for the period from 1 January
2022 to 27 September 2022 was RMB642,594 (2021: N/A).

Service Contract lll was superseded by Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement dated 28 September 2022 entered
into between the Company and Minmetals Properties Hunan.

A pre-delivery property management service contract dated
31 January 2022 was entered into between Minmetals Land
Wuhan (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and
Minmetals Properties Hunan whereby Minmetals Properties
Hunan would provide the following pre-delivery property
management services to Enchanté Crest for a term of three years
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 (“Service Contract
V")

(i) property management services for unsold residential units,
sales office and show flats;

(i) pre-delivery services such as pre-delivery inspection,
preparation works for residential units to be delivered to
buyers and on-site garbage collection; and

(i) other customer-related services such as arrangements for
relationship activities for property owners.
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The annual cap for the service fees payable by Minmetals Land
Wuhan to Minmetals Properties Hunan in respect of Service
Contract IV for the three years ended 31 December 2024 were
RMB5,049,958, RMB2,928,000 and RMB2,460,000 respectively. As all
the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Minmetals Land Wuhan under Service Contract IV
were less than 5%, Service Contract IV was subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the

Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fees payable by Minmetals Land
Wuhan to Minmetals Properties Hunan for the period from
1 January 2022 to 27 September 2022 was RMB838,373 (2021: N/A).

Service Contract IV was superseded by Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement dated 28 September 2022 entered
into between the Company and Minmetals Properties Hunan.

A pre-delivery property management service contract dated
31 January 2022 was entered into between Wuhan Runling (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals
Properties Hunan whereby Minmetals Properties Hunan would
provide the following pre-delivery property management services
to Wuhan Scenery Cove for a term of three years from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2024 (“Service Contract V")

(i) property management services for unsold residential units,
sales office and show flats;

(i) pre-delivery services such as pre-delivery inspection,
preparation works for residential units to be delivered to

buyers and on-site garbage collection; and

(i) provide services to and/or arrange for relationship activities
for property owners.
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The annual cap for the service fees payable by Wuhan Runling to
Minmetals Properties Hunan in respect of Service Contract V for
the three years ended 31 December 2024 were RMB5,060,765,
RMB1,560,547 and RMB921,700 respectively. As all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the service fees payable by
Wuhan Runling under Service Contract V were less than 5%,
Service Contract V was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fees paid by Wuhan Runling to
Minmetals Properties Hunan for the period from 1 January 2022
to 27 September 2022 was RMB1,299,886 (2021: N/A).

Service Contract V was superseded by Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement dated 28 September 2022 entered
into between the Company and Minmetals Properties Hunan.

A property management services framework agreement dated
28 September 2022 was entered into between the Company and
China Minmetals whereby the Group would provide property
management services to China Minmetals Group for the period
from 28 September 2022 to 27 September 2023 (“China
Minmetals Framework Agreement”).

The annual caps for the property management services fees
payable by China Minmetals Group to the Group in respect of
the China Minmetals Framework Agreement for the period from
28 September 2022 to 31 December 2022 and for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 27 September 2023 were RMB16,000,000
and RMB24,000,000 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the property management services fees
payable by China Minmetals Group under China Minmetals
Framework Agreement were less than 5%, China Minmetals
Framework Agreement was subject to annual review, reporting
and announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of property management services fees paid
by China Minmetals Group to the Group for the period from
28 September 2022 to 31 December 2022 was RMB3,730,429
(2021: N/A).
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18. A property management services framework agreement dated
28 September 2022 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Properties Hunan (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, which is owned as to 51% and 49% by the
Company and 23rd Metallurgical respectively) whereby
Minmetals Properties Hunan would provide property
management services to the Group for the period from
28 September 2022 to 27 September 2025 (“Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement”).

The annual cap for the property management services fees
payable by the Group to the Minmetals Properties Hunan in
respect of the Minmetals Properties Hunan Framework
Agreement (including but not limited to pre-delivery property
management services provided by Minmetals Properties Hunan
to the Group included in the pre-delivery property management
service contracts entered into by the Company on 31 January
2022) for the period from 28 September 2022 to 31 December
2022, for each of the two years ending 31 December 2023 and
2024 and for the period from 1 January 2025 to 27 September
2025 were RMB33,090,000, RMB29,290,000, RMB28,610,000 and
RMB17,350,000 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the property management services fees
payable by the Group under Minmetals Properties Hunan
Framework Agreement were less than 5%, Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of property management services fees paid
by the Group to Minmetals Properties Hunan for the period from
28 September 2022 to 31 December 2022 was RMB7,985,124
(2021: N/A).

The related party transactions except those with joint ventures,
associates and persons connected with insignificant subsidiaries as
disclosed in note 39(a) to the consolidated financial statements also fall
under the definition of connected transaction or continuing connected
transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules, and the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A55 of the Listing Rules, the above continuing
connected transactions (‘Continuing Connected Transactions”) have
been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors who have
confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions were carried
out:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Company
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and

(c)  in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s independent auditor, Ernst & Young, was engaged to
report on the Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
"Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected
Transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 95 to 114 of this Annual
Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The transactions set out in paragraphs 1, 9, 17 and 18 of the section
“Continuing Connected Transactions” above are considered as contracts
of significance under paragraph 16 of Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO
RULES 13.18 AND 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

Massive Leader (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
the borrower, the Company as the guarantor and certain banks
as the lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a term loan facility
agreement for a 5.5-year secured term loan facility (“Facility 1) in
the principal amount of HKS$5,500,000,000 on 20 March 2017
(“Facility Agreement 1"). On 24 December 2021, the parties
entered into a supplement to Facility Agreement | (the
“Supplement to Facility Agreement’, together with the Facility
Agreement |, the “Facility Agreements”) to extend the final
maturity date of the Facility | to 30 September 2023 or 6 months
after the date of issuance of the Certificate of Compliance (as
defined in the Facility Agreements), whichever is the earlier.

Pursuant to Facility Agreements, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially
(directly or indirectly) not less than 31% of the entire issued
share capital in the Company as well as remain the single largest
Shareholder of the Company and has management control over
the Company. A breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would
constitute an event of default and the Lenders may (i) cancel all
or part of the commitments under Facility Agreements; and/or (ii)
declare that all or part of the loans, together with accrued
interest, and all other amounts accrued under Facility | be
immediately due and payable; and/or (iii) declare that all or part
of the loans be payable on demand; and/or (iv) exercise or direct
the security agent to exercise any or all of its rights, remedies,
powers or discretions under the Finance Documents (as defined
in Facility Agreements) and in respect of the Transaction Security
(as defined in Facility Agreements).

Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the
grant of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$150,000,000 (“Facility 11I") on 26 October 2017. Facility Il is
subject to annual review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility Il, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall maintain
remain the single largest shareholder of the Company
maintaining (directly or indirectly) not less than 31%
shareholding interest of and has management control over the
Company. Upon a breach of the aforesaid condition, all amounts
due under Facility Il shall be immediately due and payable and
the Bank shall not be required to make any further advances
under Facility II.
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Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the
renewal of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$70,000,000 (“Facility 1lI") on 1 March 2019. Facility Il is subject
to annual review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility lll, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company maintaining
(directly or indirectly) not less than 31% shareholding interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, all amounts due under Facility
Il shall be immediately due and payable and the Bank shall not
be required to make any further advances under Facility Ill to
Condo Hong Kong.

OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLI as the guarantors and
certain banks as lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a term loan
facility agreement for a 4-year term loan facility (“Facility IV") in
the principal amount of HK$6,000,000,000 on 20 January 2020
("Facility Agreement IV").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement IV, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall beneficially owned
(directly or indirectly) at least 51% equity interests of and has
management control over the Company. A breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions would constitute an event of default and the
Lenders may (i) cancel all commitments under Facility
Agreement IV; and/or (ii) demand that all or part of the loans
together with accrued interest and all other amounts accrued
under Facility IV be immediately due and payable; and/or (iii)
demand that all or part of the loans under the Facility IV be
payable on demand.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount
of HK$700,000,000 on 11 May 2022 (the “Facility V").

As one of the conditions of Facility V, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall maintain,
directly or indirectly, 51% interest of the issued share capital of
the Company and maintain control over the Company. Upon a
breach of any of the aforesaid conditions, Facility V is repayable
in full amount on demand by the Bank.
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The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a 364-days revolving loan facility in an aggregate
amount of HK$800,000,000 on 11 May 2022 (the "Facility VI").

As one of the conditions of Facility VI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest shareholder of the Company and hold
beneficially not less than 31% (directly or indirectly) of the
shareholding interest in the Company. Upon a breach of any of
the aforesaid conditions, Facility VI is repayable in full amount on
demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower and certain banks as lenders (the
“Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for the granting by
the Lenders to the Company of a 4-year term loan facility (the
“Facility VII") in an aggregate amount equal to HK$3,500,000,000
on 17 June 2022 (the “Facility Agreement VII").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement VII, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially
(directly or indirectly) not less than 51% of the issued shares of
the Company and have management control over the Company.
A breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would constitute an
event of default and the Lenders may (i) cancel all commitments
under Facility Agreement VII; and/or (ii) demand that all or part
of the loans together with accrued interest and all other
amounts accrued under Facility VIl be immediately due and
payable; and/or (iii) demand that all or part of the loans under
Facility VIl be payable on demand.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the "Bank”) for a 1-year revolving loan facility in an aggregate
amount of HK$1,500,000,000 on 28 July 2022 (the “Facility VIII").

As one of the conditions of Facility VI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 51% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, Facility VIl is repayable in full
amount on demand by the Bank.
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The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a 1-year revolving loan facility in an aggregate
amount of HK$1,800,000,000 on 31 August 2022 (the “Facility IX").

As one of the conditions of Facility IX, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 51% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, Facility IX is repayable in full
amount on demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a 364-days revolving loan facility in an aggregate
amount of HK$780,000,000 on 19 December 2022 (the "Facility
X").

As one of the conditions of Facility X, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 51% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, Facility X is repayable in full
amount on demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower and certain financial institutions as
lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for the
granting by the Lenders to the Company of a 3-year term loan
facility (the “Facility XI) in an aggregate amount equal to
HK$970,000,000 on 3 February 2023 (the “Facility Agreement XI").

As one of the conditions of Facility XI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall, amongst
other things, beneficially (directly or indirectly) own not less than
51% of the issued shares of the Company and have control over
the Company. Upon a breach of any of the aforesaid conditions
would constitute an event of default and Lenders may (i) cancel
all commitments under Facility Agreement XI; and/or (ii) demand
that all or part of the loans together with accrued interest and all
other amounts accrued under Facility XI be immediately due and
payable; and/or (iii) demand that all or part of the loans under
Facility XI be payable on demand; and/or (iv) exercise any or all
of its rights, remedies, powers or discretions under the Facility
Agreement XI.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other disclosure
obligations under Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the notices submitted to the Company pursuant to the SFO,
the Directors are of the view that sufficient public float exists for the
issued Shares as at the date of this Annual Report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed with the
independent auditor the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022 and has also discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control, and financial reporting matters
including the review of the accounting practices and principles

adopted by the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements as contained in this Annual
Report have been audited by Ernst & Young.

By order of the Board
He Jianbo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
1 N % BUE R

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY::

To the shareholders of Minmetals Land Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Minmetals
Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 131 to 319, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

FAEEZER

FAREBEZEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNERNMEEARERSRETRE

Valuation of investment properties

REMEME

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's investment properties
were measured at fair value amounted to HKS2,774 million.
Decrease of HK$S69 million in fair value of investment
properties was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year then ended.
RZZBZZF+-A=+—H8 BEEBERQAREFNEZR
B Y ¥ R2,774,0000008 T - WEMEARBR D
69,000,000 TTERBEZ B ILFE ARG IBMmKRER ©

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter because the valuation process is based on an
estimation of future results, a set of assumptions and a
determination of key inputs, which are judgmental. Any
changes to these inputs may have a significant impact on the
fair value. Management determined the fair value of the
Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2022 with
the assistance of an independent external valuer.
BAEREMREEZIR REREZEE  REAZMGER
BIVARREEZ A5 —ERRNREEZ T2BWABE
RER FERZETBERABMNE - Z2FHR AR EM
SRR H AR EEREATE - EREEBHLINDE
BB T BEEEEREREMER_T__F+_H
=t+—BZAnE-"

Details of the investment properties and the related key
estimation uncertainty are set out in notes 15 and 3,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
BAREMERBAETEGATHAAERZ FBED RIER
e BmRM TSR3 -

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties mainly included:

B EREHREMERERTZEFIEREAT
BIEREFF:

1. Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuer engaged by
management;
HAFEEREMTEMINBEEM 2 ER - B
APSE-S X

2. Obtaining a copy of the valuation report prepared by
the external valuer and discussing with the external
valuer to obtain an understanding of the basis of
determination of valuation; and
HAEIGHINBEEM R BN GEERS - L EIN
B ELBBIA T R ERTKE

3. Assessing, with the assistance from our internal
valuation specialists, the methodologies and
judgements used in valuing the investment
properties and obtaining the market evidence that
the external valuer used to support the key inputs.
EHRMAOABEEZEROGE T FEHREDE
B P e A By 73 AT #I - I 2 BR S ER (4 (B R AR
R FFAG M A BURR IS5 BIE

—T-—F HEHMEERAT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

HREREE

FAREZEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNERNMHEARERSRETRE

Revenue from sales of properties

HEMRBA

Revenue from sales of a property is recognised when the
completed property is transferred to the customer, being at
the point that the customer obtains the control of the
completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.
HEVERATRRIVEEBREEPK (AIEPRER
T RIEGIRE N B R B AR WS X BB AT gEER
B2 ER -

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised
revenue from sales of properties of approximately HK$9,406
million.

HE_ZT__F+_A=1t—HIFE EEEEIHE
1) 2 U8 A 479,406,000,000 % 7T

We identified the revenue from sales of properties as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the amount and
volume of sales transactions recognised during the year and
there is judgement involved in determining the appropriate
point at which to recognise revenue from sales of properties.
HRFARRBNHEERZISRNBENEEZN - HAKY
FHEWARTERSBRENSFE  LAGEEEHIYEE
B WA E E B B P K H -

Details of revenue from sales of properties are set out in note
5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRAHEMFBRAFBEN R M BERKRMEES
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Our procedures in relation to revenue from sales of
properties mainly included:

BPREEMERABTZRFEERRE

1. Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and testing
the key controls over revenue recognition on a
sample basis; and
TR RFEIEB MR B AR AN
ERE A

2. Selecting property sales transactions on a sample basis
and:

RBWEREDREERS L H
(1)  reading the signed sale and purchase
agreements to obtain an understanding of the
relevant terms of the timing of property
delivery and title transfer;

FECRZEERE MR A THRYEINKE
N EREE R MR

obtaining evidence regarding the property
delivery and title transfer;

REMERN RELEW RN EE

(3)  reviewing the relevant supporting documents
in relation to the property delivery to buyers
prior to the year end, on a sample basis, to
assess whether the revenue has been

recognised in an appropriate period; and

MEEHFRATME R E AR Z A

M ARHE R AR R RS HIMHER

G

reconciling the monetary amounts of recorded
transactions and related payments to those in
the signed sale and purchase agreements.
RELHEXZNEE B REBANRED %
EEEWHEYR-



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

FAEEZER

FAREZEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNERNAHERERSHE

ITRE

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

BERPUNERSELENRNTEERFE

Properties under development and properties held for sale at Our procedures in relation to net realisable value of

the end of each reporting period are stated at the lower of properties under development and properties held for sale

cost and net realisable value.
FEPHRESE AR -

Net realisable value for properties under development is
determined by reference to estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less estimated costs to completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sales. Net
realisable value for properties held for sale is determined by
reference to estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sales.
BERPYENAERFEDN2EAEXBBEPNMGETE
ERE AT 5T TR BOETTIHE PR B0 5t IR EEE © F51E
HEMENAZR FEN2EBETERBRTNMETEE
MEITHEMT OB ARERE -

As at 31
development and properties held for sale amounted to
HK$39,506 million. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group recognised impairment losses of HK$550 million on
properties under development and properties held for sale.
RZBZZF+A=+—H EXENERTYWERE
YEH & Y13 /539,506,00000087C - EZE T - —_F+=A
=+—RHILFE ESERERPYERSELEDEE
R 18 E518.550,000,0007 7T

December 2022, the Group's properties under

mainly included:
REBERRERPYELFELEMERNAEATZER RMAREEBRERTYELFELEYETER FERTT
IR TR

1.

2.

Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and testing
the key controls over cost budgeting for estimated
costs to completion;

T FELAABFTIRANKATEENT
2l

Assessing the reasonableness of estimated selling
prices by comparing the management’s estimated
selling price to the recent average contracted selling
price in the same project or the prevailing market
price of comparable properties with similar type, size
and location;
BBRREREMAFNEERIMARERNDF
HWFHEBHMEERE - X/ &iﬂﬂﬁﬁ’]*ﬁﬁﬁ%%
VERTHEETHE  UFAEAEERESE

—T-o—FH ILEMEESRAT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) HREEZSEEm®
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
HREREIER BMNEZNAHBARELRSRETEE

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale (Continued)

BRRETUERFELENENTERFEE(E)

We identified the net realisable value for properties under 3. Assessing the reasonableness of estimated costs
development and properties held for sale as a key audit necessary to make the sales by comparing with the
matter as a significant management estimate is required in average historical expense rate of the Group, and
assessing the net realisable value. reviewing the supporting documents of the
ARFAAERFETEEATEEGE RS HAIZ adjustments that management made according to
BRMERBELEMENASRFEELRBREZS historical data; and
18 © FREESENBETHERETHER  FHhE
THEMBNMETRANEGEN  TEREERE
Details of net realisable value of properties under RIEBTEBRETHABRNIFEH &
development and properties held for sale are set out in notes
20 and 3, respectively, to the consolidated financial 4. Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated costs
statements. to completion by comparing the latest estimated
BREPMERFELEDMEN ] ETEEFIED RN ER costs to completion to the budget approved by
B BRI 20 %3 o management and examining the supporting

documents such as construction contracts, internal
correspondence and approvals.
BRANBSEHEF T IR AN ELER EHENTE
HARBE X FEXH (REEES R - RER@E A
NER) AFEREATINACEREE °
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

HttERBRRFRA

EAREFAHAMENAE - K ERE
EERNNAR BT BERAMBRRR
BME IR -
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Y EE 5 A5
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ERMEEMER  HEURRET  ZEEME
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TR RAFEEREBREUFFEE
REERRANFER - ERBEFADTHITOHTIE
MREMRBREMENFESAHERRL
BMBERESZEE -G HhE - RPREE
A& o

EENGEMBHRRAXKEN
B

BERRESARARBEREGTMAGEM
HCEB M B RS ER) RBEECRFTHEGD
BEATRHUEEMPBNGEAMBERE
VTHERRBEEEVBRROBRIFES
REFERERME BN B AERRAFTF A
NEEHIBE o

EREGAVBBRRE ERREFART
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STA

TEMENTS (coNTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

compl

ied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Kwok Yin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

e BER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-Z-_—F+=-A=1+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
M5 FHET T
REVENUE WA 5 10,064,529 12,885,638
Cost of sales SHE AR (9,011,215) (10,500,165)
Gross profit ER 1,053,314 2,385,473
Other income H A 6 126,839 91,590
Fair value changes on investment REMERAREEZS
properties 15 (68,814) (153,467)
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHEER (394,500) (468,420)
Administrative and other expenses TR REMAS (582,408) (695,485)
(Allowance)/reversal of allowance for FERE(BE),
impairment of inventories BB [B] 7 7 (550,403) 47,598
Impairment losses reversed/(recognised) FEHIE EEBIRAIIA |
under expected credit loss model, net Bl (FER) 2
BIEE R 10 1,145 (13,640)
Finance income R LGN 8 178,863 249,115
Finance costs BF 5 R AN 8 (138,144) (163,076)
Share of results of associates DALEEE N B A 17 (786,422) (264,007)
Share of results of joint ventures D EE R RIESA 18 137,773 48253
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBLAT (BEB), SRR (1,022,757) 1,063,934
Income tax expense Fris i X 11 (337,467) (432,127)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEE (BB BT 7 (1,360,224) 631,807
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE (BB EF
attributable to: BER
Equity holders of the Company RARIRERE A (1,362,468) 89,209
Holders of perpetual capital KABRTEFEEA
instruments 45,197 164,996
Non-controlling interests FETE IR AR R R 2 44(b) (42,953) 377,602
(1,360,224) 631,807
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ARRRERFEAEMLZ
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY R (BR) BF
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY, AL
IN HK CENTS
Basic R 13 (40.71) 267
Diluted i 13 (40.71) 267

R FR

ARBERRDA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meBEEREMEERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E=-= B —%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt & FER FHET
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEE (FB) 8 (1,360,224) 631,807
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/ H{t 2@ (X ), WA
INCOME
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  &EHIR A REEF D EE
that may be reclassified to profit or loss Bz EM2HE
in subsequent periods: (), WA -
Currency translation differences bE 3 =% (2,521,773) 820,438
Fair value gain on hedging instruments 3R & RESHRI SR T A
in cash flow hedges Z AR EWE 33 54,709 36,407
Share of other comprehensive DIHEE AR EMEE
(expense)/income of associates (ZH) WA 17 (249,951) 97,917
Share of other comprehensive DMEEE AR EMEE
(expense)/income of joint ventures () mA 18 (23,784) 6,688
(2,740,799) 961,450
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  ZEHHMTZEHNHEE
that will not be reclassified to profit or 1Bz EMAEME
loss in subsequent periods: (), WA -
Gain on revaluation of owner-occupied ¥ T IEAVMEEBL S
properties upon transfer to KREMER 2EM
investment properties W #5 2,726 39,424
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair 3% i@ H {th 2 [ Ue 25
value through other comprehensive BAREFE 2%
income BEME4LZ
N EEE 19 (182,343) (267,345)
(179,617) (227,921)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/ ZAFEEHM2ME ()~
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF WA - EMERBIE
TAX (2,920,416) 733,529
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/ AFEZ2ME (XH) WA
INCOME FOR THE YEAR EE (4,280,640) 1,365,336
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AEEZ2@E (ZH) WA
income for the year attributable to: #AHEEER :
Equity holders of the Company RAGIREREA (3,133,994) 487,604
Holders of perpetual capital KABERTEFEEA
instruments (162,576) 234,811
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR AR R 2 (984,070) 642,921
(4,280,640) 1,365,336
132 L
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= B35 R R R

31 December 2022 =E==F+=-A=+—H

2022 2021
—E=-= —EF-—
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
M5 FET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EFBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB k& 14 662,273 487,803
Investment properties wEYE 15 2,774,432 2,664,793
Interests in associates NN 17 2,269,633 3,306,006
Interests in joint ventures REE AR 2R 18 341,852 227,863
Financial assets at fair value through other % i@ H fth & T Uk 25
comprehensive income RARBEFE 0%
BE 19 401,428 555,433
Other financial assets H A Bt 5 & = 33 31,270 —
Other receivables H fth fE W k1A 9,039 9,813
Deferred tax assets EIEFIAE E 30 754,807 871,999
Total non-current assets EMENE EETE 7,244,734 8,123,710
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories EE 20 39,506,138 43,113,619
Prepayments, trade and ERNHRE - BHR
other receivables H i & W 518 21 11,009,807 12,522,896
Prepaid income tax A RIS 818,011 876,091
Contract assets BREE 22 144,360 286,253
Contract costs BRI 23 238,300 217,454
Cash and bank deposits, restricted X R HIIR & MIETTFR 24 724,314 1,077,095
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted PEZRHIIRE RRITIFK 25 7,701,361 10,956,126
Total current assets MBE EBE 60,142,291 69,049,534
Total assets EEMARE 67,387,025 77,173,244
EQUITY R
Share capital fi& 7 26 334,691 334,691
Reserves f# 27 6,484,838 9,685,770
Equity attributable to equity holders ZXAFREIFE AENLZ
of the Company = 6,819,529 10,020,461
Perpetual capital instruments KAEARTR 28 — 2,448,182
Non-controlling interests JEIERBRER 44(b) 9,992,569 10,649,268
Total equity ERBER 16,812,098 23,117,911

R FR

ARBERRDA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R & B R &

31 December 2022 =ZE==#F+=A=+—H

2022 2021
—_=E- —_=F_—
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mo aE FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Borrowings B 29 17,176,328 14,469,201
Other payables H & 5 5RIE 31 250,256 —
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 30 316,495 370,398
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 10,021 16,390
Other financial liabilities HEMBIsaE 33 — 4,571
Total non-current liabilities ERE B EEE 17,753,100 14,860,560
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Borrowings B 29 7,132,439 6,547,465
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk EH A E FRIE 31 13,581,206 15,656,127
Contract liabilities EHEE 32 11,415,551 15,848,803
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 18,893 35,115
Taxation payable FET IR 673,738 1,088,395
Other financial liabilities HEMBIaE 33 — 18,868
Total current liabilities mEBERTE 32,821,827 39,194,773
Total liabilities BEH%E 50,574,927 54,055,333
Total equity and liabilities EEREEAE 67,387,025 77,173,244
Net current assets REBEERE 27,320,464 29,854,761
Total assets less current liabilities EERABERRBER 34,565,198 37,978,471

He Jianbo 1 &l &%
Director &%

Chan Xingwu BR 8 &

Director %

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED
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'CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

mEERBHXR

Year ended 31 December 2022 HEZZF=_—F+=-A=+—HIFE

EQUITY

Attributable to
equity holders of the Company
ARRRERE AR
Perpetual Non-
capital controlling
Share capital Reserves Total instruments interests Total equity
KA FEHERR
RA @ e BATA e £ EnaE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THET THT THT T T
(note 26) (note 27) (note 28) (note 44(b))
(Mi5E26) (M3E27) (EE28)  (HizE44(0)
At 1 January 2021 R-Z=-—-%—f—H 334,691 9,264,260 9,598,951 3,947,539 83863517 22/410,007
Profit for the year FREF = 89,209 89,209 164,996 377,602 631,807
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMZEKA = 398,395 398,395 69,815 265319 733,529
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax ~ AEEBRB % 2 ERALE — 487,604 487,604 234811 642,921 1365336
Contributions from non-controlling shareholders MB AR ZIFERRE 2
of subsidiaries A& = = = = 1,210,590 1210590
Gain on partial disposal of equity interests in HER—RHBARBS
a subsidiary B2 Wi — 844 844 = (844) —
Redemption of perpetual capital instruments BEKAEATA — — — (1,560,075) — (1,560,075)
Distributions paid to holders of perpetual capital MXABATARE AR
instruments ZRE = — — (174,093) = (174093)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company RAAARREZ I ZRE
(note 12) (PE12) — (66,938) (66,938) - — (66,939)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling shareholder of H—RHBARZ—%
a subsidiary FERBREL 2 RS = = = — (66,916) (66,916)
At 31 December 2021 RZB=Z—%+=A
== 334,691 9,685,770 10,020,461 2,448,182 10,649,268 23117911
(Loss)/profit for the year FER(BE)/#F — (1,362,468)  (1,362,468) 45,197 (42,953)  (1,360,224)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMEZEX M - (1,771,526)  (1,771,526) (207,773) (941,117)  (2,920,416)
Total comprehensive expense for the year, net of tax ~ AFEBRBE 2 EX HAE — (3,133,994)  (3,133,994) (162,576) (984,070)  (4,280,640)
Contributions from non-controlling shareholders EDAZFERREZ
of subsidiaries g - - - — 491,923 491,923
Repayment of perpetual capital instruments ERKAEATIA - - - (2,238,800) - (2,238,800)
Distributions paid to holders of perpetual capital RAKABRTERAB AL
instruments 2B - - - (46,806) — (46,806)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company RARAIRRLZ M ZRE
(note 12) (FitzE12) - (66,938) (66,938) — — (66,938)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling shareholder of H—RHBARZ—%
a subsidiary FHERBRRLZ 2 RE - - - - (164,552) (164,552)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—&+-A
=1+—-H 334,691 6,484,838 6,819,529 - 9,992,569 16,812,098

ARBERRDA

R FR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HEZZF=_—F+=-A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
Bt &% FHET FHT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHRESRE

ACTIVITIES
Cash (used in)/generated from mEER (FTR),/

operations FEXRSE 36(a) (1,458,801) 4,917,862
Income tax paid EENRIES (648,118) (1,327,455)
Interest paid EIFE (958,523) (822,614)
Net cash flows (used in)/from RESEE (FTA) g

operating activities HeFE (3,065,442) 2,767,793
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHHRERE

ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and BEWZE  BWEMEE

equipment (5,909) (7,497)
Proceeds on disposals of property, HEME  BRERZE

plant and equipment PS8 824 283
Additions of investment properties NEREMSE (2,949) (257,873)
Net cash inflow on acquisition of assets ~ WEE B EIR &R AFHE 35 80 —
Advances to associates Bl Dl NG — (42,651)
Repayment from an associate ERE —RKBE QR 8,171 106,939
Repayments from joint ventures BEHRBEERA 43,867 1,721,495
Advances to non-controlling shareholders #v& T} BB A 7] < FF3% R

of subsidiaries PR (702,214) (2,357,446)
Advance to a fellow subsidiary BET-RKERME LA (2,687) —
Interest received BB 178,863 249,115
Net cash flows used in investing RETEFMARSFE

activities (481,954) (587,635)

I —————
MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
Bt &% FHET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE
ACTIVITIES
New borrowings g fE K 3,364,751 4,645,188
Repayments of borrowings BEER (1,004,924) (3,286,617)
Advances from/(repayments to) fellow BEy (BRT)RAE
subsidiaries g5 NG| 36(b) 1,615,603 (498,108)
Advance from a joint venture —RAEERAZBE 36(b) 19,086 41,666
(Repayments to)/advances from BENRZ (B, BE
associates 36(b) (233,189) 112,850
(Repayments to)/advances from non- MEA R IEERIRR 2
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries (B, &% 36(b) (11,304) 209,781
Dividends paid to shareholders of the RS FARRB] R 2 /S
Company (66,938) (66,938)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling KT —RKHBRARZ
shareholder of a subsidiary —BIEERIRR 2 IR R (164,552) (66,916)
Repayment/redemption of perpetual B BRI KABARTA
capital instruments (2,238,800) (1,560,075)
Distributions paid to holders of perpetual JEff FXAEART A
capital instruments BEAZRE (46,806) (174,093)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEEAE 36(b) (36,240) (29,876)
Contributions from non-controlling MiE Az TR R 2
shareholders of subsidiaries A& 2,015 1,210,590
Net cash flows from financing RMETBEEESFE
activities 1,198,702 537,452
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH iﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ £/
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W) KR (2,348,694) 2,717,610
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning fﬁ%ﬂzfﬁi&iﬁbi—rf,\%
of the year 10,956,126 8,238,516
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [ERE BT EF
net (906,071) —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEERRELEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR 25 7,701,361 10,956,126
—E-_—FH TABEHEARLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B AR A

31 December 2022 —Z-—F+=-A=+—H

2.1

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Minmetals Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
real estate development, specialised construction and property
investment. The People’s Republic of China is the major market
for the Group's businesses.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding
company is June Glory International Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate holding company is China
Minmetals Corporation (“China Minmetals") (incorporated in
Mainland China).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section to the annual report.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. In addition, these financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, derivative financial instruments and equity
investments which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS" or
"HK dollar(s)") which is also the functional currency of the
Company, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(©)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the equity holders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % WK M

31 December 2022

2.1

2.2

—E_—_#+-fF=+—H

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first

time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

Annual Improvements to  Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
HKFRSs 2018-2020 lllustrative Examples accompanying

HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

2.1

2.2
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (conNTINUED)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual
Framework”) issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a
business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of
the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to business combinations that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there were no
contingent assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities within
the scope of the amendments arising in the business
combination that occurred during the vyear, the
amendments did not have any significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % WK M

31 December 2022

—ET-—F+=-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (coNTINUED)

(b)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items as
determined by HKAS 2 /nventories, in profit or loss. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to
items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after 1 January 2022. Since there was no sale of
items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments did
not have any significant impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for
an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling
the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract unless they are explicitly
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations
at 1 January 2022 and no onerous contracts were
identified. Therefore, the amendments did not have any
significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (cONTINUED)

(d)  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as
follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the
terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group
has applied the amendment prospectively from
1 January 2022. As there was no modification or
exchange of the Group's financial liabilities during
the vyear, the amendment did not have any
significant impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % WK M

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 2.3 EER B AEMNE BB

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING %3 & 2 A
STANDARDS
The Group has not early adopted the following new and revised REEW RN ZFEM R T IR RN
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these AT B M ERERA ] RAEIEETH
financial statements. BEMBwELER o
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between BEYBmE HKEZHABERF]
HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or Joint ZRIE10R R A EREZAL
HKAS 28 (2011) Venture ARG BELEXTE
ZERIFE 2858 2
1B5]
—T——4)
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and BEYBmE ERAMEONHEEEE
HKFRS 16 Leaseback? ZERIFE 1652
1B7]
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' BEYBRE REEA)
ZERIZE 1758
Amendments to Insurance Contracts"® BEYBEmE HREEA S
HKFRS 17 ERIFE 1752
1B7]
Amendment to Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and BEVBmE BEYEHETER
HKFRS 17 HKFRS 9 — Comparative HRNEVRZ ZBI/HEREEHFE
Information® 1B7] HEERFE N BN
A — HE&EEES
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or BEGTEN SHEEERTEK
Non-current (the “2020 FVRIER]  FERB([=F
Amendments”)* ZEFEEF))
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants BEGEL  HEZERIETE
(the “2022 Amendments”)? F1R2EF] BE(ZZF=——F
EET1)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies’ BEGER BHEEFEE
and HKFRS Practice FIHRRES
Statement 2 B mE
R B
NEFIRZ
1B7]
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates' BEBGHER @ EHTZIEE
F85E ZIER]
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and BEGER HE-XGEAR
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single E1R 2B BEREBEEREAR
Transaction' BRI
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23 EEMEMARERNERY
e AR @)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the 2020
Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments
and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020,
HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits
insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of HKFRS 17
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 2.3 EER B AEMNE BB

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do
not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered
into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e,
1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, in particular the determination over
whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current. In addition,
the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures by an entity
that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as
non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of those
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments and whether existing loan
agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 2.3 EER B AEMNE BB

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and -earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or
after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings or other component of equity as appropriate at that
date. In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively
to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on
a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all of
the fair values of the gross assets acquired are concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price to the individual identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an
asset and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date;

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair values.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on
how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity
interest.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or fair value less costs of
disposal in HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition, the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as below:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.

24 FEESTTBEBRE @)

BRERBE QAT REE QT @)

AEEFEETERTRERBTIRED
AN A E AR AR BETH
B - MEEAEEREFE K8 (B
AE)NEHRERESRIFE—BEEYL
REBGFERERBBHE KD
SR (EAEBEMAAER L EKAE
ZB=E) BREE L BRIAETTRE
A - EREERZBERBERCRED
EEEAEE BRHB)EXARE
REERN 8D o WREZ A RE S5
HgET - REBEZ AR D SRR
B GERE36RHER

EAEETHYBEARHAERAEA
BEXFENE  SARIMEHEERZ
WIRET 2 2 #htEs - MAELEZ s
B BANBEER - EAKEREH
KA SRR AE AR #ED - ARE
MESNTABEMBEREIEIRATE
MM BEERRR  ARERNEBRRA
REAERERED  MZAABERASR
MRERARE - BERRHAE AT
MEREE EAREREAABEREE
REERRHAE R RIEREER 2 EW
ISR EZREA ALERERFRE
BRAERAR - BIN REBER LR
REM 2 E K SR EZME AR RE
ERRBABESBERLEE AR
BERFERHERHEEXREMR
EZEEARR - AU - fdziE 2k
BE QAR E M2 KRS R 2 U
SaREEREFOBRELERREEN
BEZKRSERER  SHE MOHE
HEBE AR ERAR  AEEH
oz WakBREF D BERLD (F
REFDERAE) -

ARBERRDA

R FR

157



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % WK M

31 December 2022 =Z=—f+=-FA=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHEEBE @
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to
the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that make strategic decisions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of respective entities of the Group using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

—  Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings; and

—  Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFTBEEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of
the reporting period;

— income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss
are translated at average exchange rates (unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint venture or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal
of associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and
liabilities arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

—  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

—  the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHEEBE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depicts the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with
a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the Group
adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a
significant financing component, the Group applies a discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to
a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e.
the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an
agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would
not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset
if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHEEBE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application or arising
from business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; and

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the
end of the useful life. The right-of-use assets are buildings which
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease terms of 3
to 5 years.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were
owned. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property and inventory are presented within
“‘investment properties” and “inventories” respectively.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHEEBE @
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Leases (Continued) HE @)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) FKEBEZAHAN (&)
Lease liabilities HEEE

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
when the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected
to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the
change is a lease modification if all of the following conditions
are met:

the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as,
or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised
in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration
in a contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the basis of
their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Leases (Continued) HE @)
The Group as a lessor (Continued) KEFERBLHHEA (F)
Lease modification HEBET

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the
Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale, the Group
as a seller-lessee measures the right-of-use asset arising from the
leaseback at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of
the asset retained and recognises any gain or loss that relates to
the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor only.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
included in the “other income”.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHEEBE @
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed in the profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to allocate
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:
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Leasehold land and buildings 2%-5% MEL i RETF 2%-5%
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining period HEMHEEE T 4 70 & B
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Machinery 5%-25% 25 5%-25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%-25% RE KB LRME 15%-25%
Motor vehicles 20%-30% 0 20%-30%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Gain and loss on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction
for such purposes).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets upon application of
HKFRS 16 and subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating
lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has been changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any differences between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified as
right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained earnings.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A
leased property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is
derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the
sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHEEBE @
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties (Continued)

Transfer from inventories to investment properties carried
at fair value

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment
properties when there is a change in use to hold the property to
earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs (Continued)
Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group assesses
and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to
the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards.
Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the
costs which relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the carrying
amount of the cash-generating unit to which they belong for the
purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs (Continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) other than goodwill is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Inventories represent properties under development and
completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development which are intended to be sold
upon completion of development and properties for sale are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets upon the application of
HKFRS 16, properties under development/properties for sale are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on a specific identification basis including allocation
of the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for the properties less
estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make the
sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties for sale upon completion.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHERBMEmW@

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) BT A (|

Financial assets (Continued) HBEEE (&)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets WBEENS B RHAKTE (&)

(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if: WEEE THlG  BIMBEEETRER

BIEER :

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling HEFZREENAREHANLE
in the near term; or 54

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified R P ERE HARNEEHKF
financial instruments that the Group manages together B A #ANMETREAEH —
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; oy WEEEBHENMMNEHE
or BRiE 2k
it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a . HEBRIWIEEE RIEAE B H
hedging instrument. THMTETH-
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset BEAN - i a0 bk RDEBR SR BB A & 5T 88
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or fair it - BN E AT A BE IR E & 1%
value through other comprehensive income as measured at fair B ASERAEMEEREEARE
value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly FrECMBEERA B ABRE -

reduces an accounting mismatch.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at fair value through other

comprehensive income

Investments in equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income are subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred
to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including cash and
bank deposits and trade and other receivables), and other items
(lease receivables, contract assets and financial guarantee
contracts) which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment is done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables,
contract assets and lease receivables. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant increase in
credit risk or related parties and collectively for the rest using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % WK M

24 TESTHEBME @

BT A @)

BB EE ()

B A ERAERE B SRE LR
SR IE T AR TR A ST i 0 E b I8 B
AEBRPBEE(BERSRETHE
HUARE 5 Kt FE U R IE) K 18
B(EKASHE ANEERIBE
RAK)ERBEEENBREEES
Ve R E) RITESAE B R ((Ta
EEEE ) EEIE TR ET S -
FEEESERSREAYEY UK
RSB B AR AR B F)

EHEHEEEHRENERETAREN
S AMA R ERNENEFMERNTE
HEEBE - AR 2EARREES
B (28 AEMEEER]) AEBRHEN
WEAMRDEARNAIEEENENSE
HMEHNHL 2 HRBAEEEE - 7F
ENREASEREEERELR I
REEFAFERE - REKEEMRA
KERIRE B B2 2 AR R R R AR
BRI TR IEHEE

AEE-ERESHRKFE NEE
LREWHAERAERE2BEMEERS
B-ZFEENRAGEBRENGEE
[ [ R 2 58 ) B MR R TR Sk R B U R AT
BRI R ENRSEMEEFERAE
EE A B R AR R A 1T SR B AT A o

SAAHMTAMS - AREFEFHIE
BESNR2EAEMEEEE  KRIFE
EE R B RTERAREZ L7 B
RZBERTARERIAMEREEES
B-HARTEEAFHNEREESE
TotRIE B V)ia MR LA TR 3 A 38 100 7 B
MR E ETTE o



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’'s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i)
it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(©) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable,
the cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with HKFRS 16.

24 FESTTBEBRE @)

BT A @)
BB EE ()
S EERERBE ST BHREENS
SR IE AR TRE T A IEE ()

(iv)

v)

B R

BERBERRZTRERBEEVRRK
EB R A BERF (12032 5 77 1
BRICEARERTE) A%
BAIMESBEE - EEBEAR
BRE(HEE) - B
BEARNDARANEEKDEF
EITRBITTIEE - MEHEBAAR
LIFHERETH o (EAIH R KRB IR
mPRER

B EE R aTE R IER
BHEEBENTEDEROM
xR BROEBEX (BENERER
IR ) M2 AR KR - 21
BERENBEREHFHERE
LRBBLEARBEUEENAE -
EREEBENRETLERRE
MEFHEE UEBHLED
MERRESHETE AKELE
EBEEEBERERRERRE
BEYEAEREDRAGTES
EURENEREESR LR
FILE T BN AE S AT
SRR EER HE

—RimE BREEBEBERRE
BHRNAKRENMEGHNRS
mEAEERHURRNASRE
ZHEBZERE  WAVRBRGE
JEHIREZR R BEIR o 5L KA B K
AME BERBEEBEMA
MREREEREFEVHRE
R F 165k ERWEE AN
ReRE—-

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by recognising the
corresponding adjustment through a loss allowance
account, with the exception of financial guarantee
contracts where the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss by adjusting their carrying amount.

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at fair
value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash
flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any
fees received, and discounted using the original effective interest
rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset,
after reducing gross carrying amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial assets and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHEEBE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual capital instruments, which include no contractual
obligations for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets
or the Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of
distribution and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are
classified as equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including borrowings and trade and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition/substantial modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative factors.
If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of
the original financial liability. Accordingly, such modification of
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10
per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments
for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is
highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

For the purpose of determining whether a forecast transaction
(or a component thereof) is highly probable, the Group assumes
that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash
flows (contractually or non-contractually specified) are based is
not altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of
the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

there is an economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument;

the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship; and

the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge
that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness
requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the
same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging
relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the
qualifying criteria again.

In assessing the economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, the Group assumes that the interest
rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows and/or the
hedged risk (contractually or non-contractually specified) are
based, or the interest rate benchmark on which the cash flows of
the hedging instrument are based, is not altered as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

For the purpose of reclassifying the amount of gains and losses
accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve in order to
determine whether the hedged future cash flows are expected to
occur, the Group assumes the interest rate benchmark on which
the hedged cash flows (contractually or non-contractually
specified) are based is not altered as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in cash flow hedging reserve are reclassified to
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit
or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively only
when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet
the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This
includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is
sold, terminated or exercised. Discontinuing hedge accounting
can either affect a hedging relationship in its entirety or only a
part of it (in which case hedge accounting continues for the
remainder of the hedging relationship).

For cash flow hedge, any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transactions is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or
loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the Company's
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
Group's consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHEEBE @

196

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

BN HA &% I 7E i 18 (@)

Deferred tax (Continued) A HE (4&)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary BEBIBEEDHEEERWE AR

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting periods and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting periods, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale, except for freehold land, which is always presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on
a net basis.

24 FEESTTBEBRE @)

B 5 &% IE #E 08 ()

EEHE ()
RERAAREREANE Y IREMEET
REMS  RIEBTHED  BEME
EEERTAEBNERE - ¥ 5HIR
EYERTHERNERAR LA
SHEREMEANNKBEREAEN
TEUHESANELERISE - 59
RERATHHER A LRELHB
Oh L — AT ATRB L E
28k [E -

RRASERAERREERAHEEE
BECHERSHERELHE  A5E
BAEEVNRNREE BN ERAESR
EXHEAE-

15 84
EREEARITRAOKENATIRE E R
VAR R AR - B AR5
HRARE -ERNERHMENIARES
BERAFEELEGHANARAEENE
Bl AR EREERAEE
FEEEH

—T-—F HEHMEERAT

197



198

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % WK M

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHEEBE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity
leaves are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies participate in various defined contribution
pension schemes. The schemes are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be
a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the Group's financial statements unless the possibility of
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Critical accounting judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Critical accounting judgement (Continued)
Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors have reviewed the Group's investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group's investment
properties located in Hong Kong are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time. Therefore, in measuring the Group's deferred taxation on
investment properties located in Hong Kong, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties located in Hong Kong are recovered
entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has
not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
investment properties located in Hong Kong as the Group is not
subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of the
investment properties on disposal.

With regards to the Group's investment properties located in
Mainland China, the Directors considered that they are held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in these
investment properties over time. Therefore, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties located in Mainland China are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
recognised deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the Group's
investment properties located in Mainland China on the basis
that the entire carrying amounts of these properties are
recovered through use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing uncertainty to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities are discussed below:

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuer. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of
market conditions which are set out in note 15.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on the risks of
change in macroeconomic environment through performing
sensitivity analysis in relation to the Group’s investment
properties.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$2,774,432,000 (2021:
HK$2,664,793,000). More details are set out in note 15.

Construction contracts
The Group recognised income and cost generated from
construction contracts, which were derived from the latest
available budgets of the construction contracts with reference to
the overall performance of each construction contract and the
management’s best estimates and judgements.

construction income is determined in accordance with the terms

Estimated

set out in the relevant contracts. Estimated construction costs
which mainly comprise sub-contracting charges and costs of
materials are estimated by the management on the basis of
quotations from time to time provided by the major contractors/
suppliers/vendors involved and the experience of the
management. Because of the nature of the construction industry,
the management regularly reviews the progress of the contracts
and the estimated construction income and costs.

When the actual costs incurred are significantly more or less than
expected, or changes in circumstances which result in revision of
management’s estimates on the percentage of completion, the
effect of such change is recognised prospectively in the profit or
loss in the period of the change.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % WK M

31 December 2022

3.

—E_—_#+-fF=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred taxes

As at 31 December 2022, deferred tax assets of HK$754,807,000
(2021: HKS$871,999,000) have been recognised in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position as set out in note
30. The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. The Directors determine the profit
projections of the Group for coming years during which the
deferred tax assets are expected to be utilised. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are more or less than
expected, an additional recognition or a reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a recognition or reversal takes place.

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and
contract assets

Trade and other receivables with significant increase in credit risk
or amounts due from related parties are assessed for ECL
individually.

In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to estimate ECL for
the trade receivables and contract assets that are not assessed
individually. The provision rates are based on debtors' aging as
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade and other
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in notes 42, 21 and
22 respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of inventories

The Group tests regularly whether inventories have suffered any
impairment based on the assessment of net realisable value.
Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable
evidence available at the time the estimates are made, and the
amounts the inventories are expected to realise. Significant
management estimates are required in the estimates. Where the
actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimates, such differences will impact on the carrying
amounts of inventories and the impairment loss.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the
executive directors. The executive directors review the Group's
internal financial reports in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. The executive directors have determined the
operating segments based on these reports as follows:

Real estate development:  Development and sales of
residential and commercial
properties

Design, installation and selling of
curtain walls and aluminum
windows, doors and other
materials

Holding of properties to generate
rental income and/or to gain
from the appreciation in
properties’ values in the long-
term

Specialised construction:

Property investment:

No operating segments identified by the executive directors have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R & B R R A

31 December 2022 =Z=—f+=-FA=+—H

4,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group changed
the internal reporting structure for making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. The “Securities
investment” segment is no longer disclosed separately.
Accordingly, the amounts previously reported under the
reportable operating segments have been aggregated to

conform with the current year's presentation.

4,

l%ggll“/ Bﬁﬂ(mﬁ
BHE_ZT-_—_F+_FA=1—HLLF

B AEEZ2EANBHRSERE - J«M’Eﬁ
BHEERNERREFHEEREK

FERE I DB TBEBIIR - Al 115?&
ERRERENH T 2R SBERE
M NERFEEN2TRT B

= =
Segment revenue and results PHBRARESR
Real estate development Specialised construction Property investment Total
EHERE LE £ NERE it
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 201 2022 2021
—E-CE& —3-_-f% —E-CE —3-_-F —E-CE —Z--F —E-CE —3-_-f%
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
THR TiEn FEL TR FHER TAL TEx TiEn
(Restated)
(23))
Revenue WA
Total segment revenue %@ AEMA 9,874,962 12,511,033 147,538 301,444 48,286 60,168 10,070,786 12,892,645
Inter-segment revenue AEHEBA - = - = (6,257) (7.007) (6,257) (7,007)
Sales to external customers  $ANEFHE 9,874,962 12,511,033 147,538 301,444 42,029 53,161 10,064,529 12,885,638
Results 5
Segment results AHEE (76,840) 1,396,636 (174,427) (4692) 10,691 8821 (240,576) 1,400,765
Unallocated corporate RARRERY 38
expenses, net (174,251) (207,116)
(414,827) 1,193,649
Finance income BBIMA 178,863 249,15
Finance costs BT (138,144) (163,076)
Share of results of MEBE AR EE
associates (786,422) (264,007)
Share of results of joint MEAERRIEE
ventures 137,773 48253
(Loss)/profit before tax BHA (B8)/&F (1,022,757) 1063934
The accounting policies of the reportable and operating EWMRLEDE 2 SR BN 2457
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies MR EEBSEBR - - »EBEER

described in note 2.4. Segment results represent the (loss)/profit
before tax without allocation of unallocated corporate income
and expenses, finance income, finance costs and share of results
of associates and joint ventures.

Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market rates.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFTEHER @

(CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

THEERER

Real estate development Specialised construction Property investment Total
FHERR SEEH NERE aE
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —Z--F —EC-CE —E--F —EC-CE —E--% —E-CE —Z--%
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Fhx Titn THx Tt TEn FHT Fhx Ti#n
(Restated)
(8 &5)
Assets BE
Segment assets HBEE 58,273,797 67,125,762 190,449 376,585 2,084,007 2,099,569 60,548,253 69,601,916
Unallocated corporate FAARLEEE
assets 6,838,772 7571328
Total assets BELE 67,387,025 77,173,244
Liabilities af
Segment liabilities HBEE 49,213,791 52,070,383 98,193 179,234 13,675 11,702 49,325,659 52,261,319
Unallocated corporate FAARLEARE
liabilities 1,249,268 1794014
Total liabilities BELE 50,574,927 54055333
Segment assets consist primarily of interests in associates, DHEEFZBREREE QR 2R

interests in joint ventures, property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, other financial assets, inventories,
receivables, contract assets, contract costs and operating cash JEURGRIE - BHEE BHARAREE
but exclude items such as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, bank deposits for corporate use
and deferred tax assets. Segment liabilities comprise all operating
liabilities but exclude items such as taxation and certain other

payables.
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,‘NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B R M

31 December 2022 =ZE==#F+=A=+—8H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REEHER @

(CONTINUED)
Other segment information HihpHER
Real estate development  Specialised construction Property investment Segment total Unallocated Total
EHERR EXBE NERE ARER AR &g
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

SRoCE ZPo-F CBoCE ZPoofF CRoCF ZRoofF CBoCF ZRo-fF CRoCF ZRo-fF CRoCF ZR0fF
HKS'000  HKSO0  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKS'000  HKSO0D  HKS'000  HKSODD  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO0D
TER  TAR TEx TR TER  TER  TEx  TErT TR TRR  TEn  TER

Amounts included in -~ EEBETAS SRS

the mezsure of AAPEE:

segment profit or

loss or segment

assets
Interests in associates ~ WEFEA R 2B 2,269,633 3,306,006 - - - — 2,269,633 3,306,006 - — 2,269,633 3,306,006
Interests in joint REEREZER

ventures 341,852 227863 - - - - 341,852 27863 - - 341,852 27863
Capital expenditures EREY 12,637 264,633 96 - 27 39 12,760 264,672 11,098 698 23,858 265370
Depreciation BRIHE

recognised 40,505 49376 57 54 334 377 40,896 49,807 5,104 5453 46,000 55,260
Fair value changeson ~~ REMFARE

investment 29

properties 53,014 135,767 - - 15,800 17,700 68,814 153467 - - 68,814 153467

Alowance/[reversal o~ FERIERSE/
allowance) for (REES)

impairment of B

inventories, net 550,403 (47,598) - - - - 550,403 (47,598) - - 550,403 (47,59)
Impairment losses BREEERER

(reversed)/ BT (E%)/

recognised under BR2AES
expected creditloss  BFE

fodel, net - - - —nus) e (05 1360 - - nus) 1360
Geographical information i & & K
The Group operates its businesses in two main geographical REBZEBEEZE D AW EMEL
areas: g
Hong Kong: Real estate development, specialised BB BHEER  BERZ
construction and property ERYMERE
investment
Mainland China: Real estate development and AR A A EHEZRRME
property investment A&
2016
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BEDHBER @)
(CONTINUED)
Geographical information (Continued) hEE R (@)
In presenting geographical information, sales are presented REFME BRI - HEZ 2T IIRE
based on the geographical locations of the customers. Total PeHBUERELE - FERBEELTE
non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax TEEVETIAREEHRIBEE -
assets.
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
&8 A A g
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C B CZE-C B CZE-C B
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TERT T TERT T TERT FET
External sales HHMEE 194,432 378002 9,870,097 12,507,636 10,064,529 12,885,638
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 2,147,434 2175599 3,900,756 4510866 6,048,190 6,686,465
Information about major customer ERETEEFZEH

No revenue from transaction with single external customer is
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for both

AEEBVESE —RZFRAMESFE ZK/A
BRA10%E A £ o

years.
5. REVENUE 5. A
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WARITAT -
2022 2021
—E-= —E—
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FETT
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFEHIBIHA 10,022,500 12,832,477
Revenue from other sources H R A
Rental and management fee income KEREMENEE R
from investment properties EEBERA 42,029 53,161
10,064,529 12,885,638
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,‘NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B R M

31 December 2022 =ZE==#F+=A=+—8H

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5. WA @
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHBA
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) WAHZEH
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_T-_—_F+-_H=1T—H
IFFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments i) development construction Total
EiiEERE BEEFE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FEx TER FERr
Types of goods or services SR &R
Sales of properties HEWE 9,406,085 — 9,406,085
Specialised construction services BEEERS — 147,538 147,538
Management services EERMG 468,877 — 468,877
Total revenue from contracts with REEP &L RA
customers Pk 9,874,962 147,538 10,022,500
Geographical markets BE 5
Mainland China HEIA 9,870,097 — 9,870,097
Hong Kong BB 4,865 147,538 152,403
Total revenue from contracts with REEP &L RA
customers Pk 9,874,962 147,538 10,022,500
Timing of revenue recognition LON A
Properties transferred at MR E — B
a point in time EE 9,406,085 — 9,406,085
Specialised construction services BEREERK
transferred over time e — 147,538 147,538
Management services transferred over & 3 IR 75 BE A 5
time #E 468,877 — 468,877
Total revenue from contracts with RERFEHHEA
customers k] 9,874,962 147,538 10,022,500
208 |
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5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

5. WA @)

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHKRA (@)
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) UAHZEH (4E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021  E_ T -_—F+=-H=1+—H
IEFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments D Ep development construction Total
FHEERE HEEE fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHBT
Types of goods or services B R R
Sales of properties HEME 12,094,514 = 12,094,514
Specialised construction services BEREERK — 321,444 321,444
Management services B R 416,519 — 416,519
Total revenue from contracts with RERFALHKA
customers HEE 12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477
Geographical markets B W5
Mainland China B A 12,507,636 — 12,507,636
Hong Kong BB 3,397 321444 324,841
Total revenue from contracts with RERFALHKA
customers HEE 12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477
Timing of revenue recognition DON AT
Properties transferred at a point in WERE -2
time (L5 12,094,514 = 12,094,514
Specialised construction services BERERB
transferred over time WE B 8 = 321,444 321,444
Management services transferred over & 12 R 75 B B
time HE 416,519 = 416,519
Total revenue from contracts with REZFALMKA
customers Y] 12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477
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“;“NdTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B R M

31 December 2022 =ZE==#F+=A=+—8H

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5. WA am
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHKA @)
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) WAHDEF ()
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from LWTARREEPEAMNKAES
contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in the HERMEESENERE

segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8H
LEFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments i} development construction Total
EERRE HEEF st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FEr TER FER
Revenue from contracts REEFEHHNKBA
with customers
External customers HINEF 9,874,962 147,538 10,022,500
Inter-segment sales DEEEE — — —
9,874,962 147,538 10,022,500
Inter-segment adjustments and 5 BB R 8
eliminations - — —
Total revenue from contracts with REEFE LR KA
customers ot 9,874,962 147,538 10,022,500

210 I —————
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5.

REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers

5. WA @)
REEFESHHRA (&)

(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) WA EZER ()
For the year ended 31 December 2021  E_ T -_—F+=-H=1+—H
IEFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments D Ep development construction Total
FHEERE HEEE fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET
Revenue from contracts REEFESHHNKA
with customers
External customers R 12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477
Inter-segment sales DEEEE = = =
12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477
Inter-segment adjustments and DE TR R
eliminations — — —
Total revenue from contracts with REEPALNHKA
customers ot 12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477
(b) Performance obligations (b) EHEME

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Real estate development

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the Group's performance does not create an
asset with alternative use to the Group. Taking into
consideration of the relevant contract terms, the legal
environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant
properties to the customer. Revenue from sales of
properties is therefore recognised when the completed
property is transferred to customers, being at the point
that the customer obtains the control of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and
collection of the consideration is probable. Payment in
advance is normally required.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e % WK M

31 December 2022

5.

- —F+=-A=+—H

REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations (Continued)

Specialised construction

The Group provides specialised construction services to
customers. Such services are recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the Group creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these
construction services based on the stage of completion of
the contract using input method. The payment is generally
due within 90 days from the date of billing.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations of sales of properties as at
31 December 2022 was HKS$15,737,706,000 (31 December
2021: HK$19,036,087,000) and is expected to be recognised
as revenue within two years.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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6. OTHER INCOME 6. HWA

2022 2021
—E=-C - —4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Government subsidies BT & B 41,582 317
Dividend income NG 49,081 59,922
Management fee income from WERZMBE AR 2
fellow subsidiaries EEBEIRA 2,794 4813
Others EHAh 33,382 26,538
126,839 91,590
7. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 7. XEE (Eﬂ’é)/)‘ﬁ_ﬁ%l]
2022 2021
—E=-= - —4F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Cost of properties sold (i) Ak ES % N() 8,703,169 10,196,779
Cost of specialised construction FHERERAR 294,145 291,474
Direct operating expenses incurred for BEES WA ZIREY
investment properties that generated rental ~ EAE T BEEZEMY
income 13,901 11,912
Depreciation e 46,000 55,260
Auditor's remuneration Z AT B 4,150 3,650
Employee benefit expense (including EERMNIZH (BREES
directors’ emoluments) (note 9) <) (KT 5E9) 290,771 323,565
Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for GFERERE
impairment of inventories CRBER#) 550,403 (47,598)
Net exchange loss 5 i FE 23,808 5,949
()  Included in cost of properties sold are capitalised interest () BEHYMERKARPEIE265389,000
expenses of HK$265,389,000 (2021: HK$619,054,000). I (=T = —4F : 619,054,000
TL) X ERMEFEZH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

8. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 8. BB ARKE
2022 2021
—E=-= —ET-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Finance income BRI
Interest income from bank deposits RITIE KA B A 66,374 84,572
Interest income from non-controlling LS ER B B8~ R Y FE 12 %
shareholders of subsidiaries A& 2 A E WA 28,196 26,026
Interest income from an associate WE—REE & R FZ
M EWA — 1,788
Interest income from joint ventures WEE & RRZFE
WA 84,293 136,729
178,863 249,115
Finance costs B TS B AR
Bank borrowings wholly repayable ARAFANBHEEZ
within five years RITIER 651,224 442,693
Bank borrowings not wholly repayable BEARAFANBEEER
within five years ZIRITIER — 35,121
Other borrowings wholly repayable ARAFAEBREEZ
within five years H &5k 307,299 345,400
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGEZHE 2,542 3,599
961,065 826,813
Less: Amount capitalised as properties B AE AT XA
under development (i) BRBPYE L
& F () (822,921) (663,737)
138,144 163,076
()  Borrowing costs were capitalised at rates ranging from ()  ERBKAIREFIEE1.55%%6.50%
1.55% to 6.50% (2021: 1.47% to 6.50%) per annum. ZE—F 1 47%E650%) T A
BRI o
214
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

9. EE®AIXH

2022 2021
—E-= — T4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Wages, salaries and bonus IE - e kitsd 411,228 496,128
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  BRE KA — FEREH R
(note 34) =t (M 3E34) 56,838 51,652
468,066 547,780
Less: Amount capitalised as properties B AE AT XA
under development BRAYEZSE (86,732) (123,643)
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W ETAHBER AR Z
ol (46,814) (52,285)
Less: Amount included in selling and B ETAHE K& H
marketing expenses BERNz & (43,749) (48,287)
290,771 323,565

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the
Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of

contributions.
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31 December 2022 =ZE==#F+=A=+—8H

9.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (conTINUED)

(a)

“;“NdTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B R M

9. EERALZHm

Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM=
The remuneration of each director for the year ended HE-T-_—_F+=-A=+—H
31 December 2022 is set out below: IEFE  SEE2MeH0T
Employer’s
contribution to
Salaries and  Discretionary pension
Name of directors EEng Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total
Bk
HEEE
BE HFeREH BERL E mE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER THEr TR FHER THEr
Executive directors HTES
Mr. He Jianbo* BEEA — 335 1,337 67 1,739
Mr. Liu Bo el ke — 313 1,271 67 1,651
Mr. Chen Xingwu B & & — 295 1173 67 1,535
Mr. Yang Shangping ML - 807 881 73 1,761
Non-executive director FHTES
Ms. He Xiaoli /NERE — 226 462 43 731
Mr. Huang Guoping (i) R () - 6 - - 6
Independent non-executive ~ BYFHTEE
directors
Professor Wang Xiuli (ii) TEEHEI) 200 — - - 200
Mr. Selwyn Mar (i) B AR IR L A i) 200 - - - 200
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy MABELE 390 — — — 390
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BeWE Tt 400 — - - 400
1,190 1,982 5,124 317 8,613

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (conTINUED)

9. EERALZH mw

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEME @
The remuneration of each director for the year ended HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—H
31 December 2021 is set out below: IEFE  SEEZMeHINMT -
Employer's
contribution to
Salaries and Discretionary pension
Name of directors BENS Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total
FEEE
e e Rl [lpr N R k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT TR T THT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. He Jianbo* BEEA = 347 1,563 63 1973
Mr. Liu Bo Bl bt = 324 1485 63 1872
Mr. Chen Xingwu B 7t & = 305 1329 63 1697
Mr. Yang Shangping BMFEE = 1788 1,066 68 2922
Non-executive director FHITES
Ms. He Xiaoli N BRL = 315 708 63 1,086
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE
directors
Mr. Selwyn Mar (i FARIR S A (i) 400 — — 400
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy MARBEE 4 390 = = 390
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BeWBTL 400 — — — 400
1,190 3,079 6,151 320 10,740

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive director’'s and independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services as directors of the Company.

FRATEEMEETES REEF
ARBRANKE N E R EHIE
HARF

ERERTEERB T ENTE
EHETESRBERASLF
% -

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e % WK M

31 December 2022

9.

- —F+=-A=+—H

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (cONTINUED)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Discretionary bonuses were determined by the
management with regard to the performance of the
Directors and the Group's operating results.

During the year, no directors of the Company waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments (2021: Nil).

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the Directors as an inducement to join or as
compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).

The executive director marked “*" above is also considered
as the chief executive of the Group and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered by him
as the chief executive.

(i) Appointed on 1 February 2022

(i) Appointed on 1 July 2022

(i) Resigned on 1 July 2022

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

9. EERALZHm

(a)

EEME @
MIBEAMERET RESFRA
RASEEEXERET -

FA G ABRNRBDEZTREXRA
ERECAME (T =_—F:
&)

FAAEERERAERESS
NS IERBRIIMAREEZ #2
B ERBREE (T —F:
&)

BEZHTEETHREAAE
BziTBas HRN EXWEN
M B EETRAARIR MK
REOBE -

() RNR-ZBE-_—_F-_F—HEZ
£

iy MZETE-__F+HA—HEZ
BE

(il MR- —F+H—HBH{E

I —————
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (conTinvep) 9. EEEA X H @)

(b) Five highest-paid individuals (b) EEEEFMAL
In 2022, five highest-paid individuals in the Group include RZEBEZZF AEBREES
three (2021: two) directors. These directors’ emoluments FMATHRE=2(CZF=—
are disclosed in (a) above. Details of the emoluments of FoMB)EF - HEEMER L
the remaining two (2021: three) individuals are as follows: X@EFHE - EpmZ (2=

—F=ZR) AL ZBEFRIT

2022 2021
—=E-= T —4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 2,934 4,979
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 707 1,474
Employer's contributions to pension RIKEEHEIE E R
schemes 156 240
3,797 6,693
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e &HELT -
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—4F
HKS$1,500,001 — HKS$2,000,000 1,500,001 L&
2,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 — HKS$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 L &
2,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HKS$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7T &
3,000,000/ 7T — 1
2 3
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FANAEBEBRERZEALS
to these individuals as an inducement to join or as e ERRSIMARER 2 8
compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil). B ERBEREE (- —F:

&)

' 219
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R & B R R A

31 December 2022

10.

11.

- —F+=-A=+—H

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES (REVERSED)/ 10. FHIEEBSEERE T (H
RECOGNISED UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT B,/ BRAZBEBRTFEHE
LOSS MODEL, NET
2022 2021
—s== —E-—fF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FAT
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised on 5 EUWFKIE K & 4)
trade receivables and contract assets BE (B8 TR
REEE (1,145) 13,640
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 42(a)(ii). B ST B F A BT R 42(a)i) ©
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FiISHAEX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong. Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 (2021: HKS$2,000,000) of the profits of qualifying
group entities established in Hong Kong have been taxed at
8.25%, and profits above that amount have been subject to the
tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of the group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rate regime have been continued to
be taxed at a rate of 16.5%.

The PRC enterprise income tax had been calculated on the

estimated assessable profit for the year derived in Mainland
China at the rate of 25% (2021: 25%).

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

EBFERIIARE BB Z G ERE
S NI 16.5% (—F = —F : 16.5%) 2%t
KEHR - BRIBFSHMAT - REBK
Y HE B K& EE A H2000000%8 T
(=ZZ = — 4 : 2,000,000/ JT) % Fl #%
8.25% KTt REF - BB % S REAY 5 T
16 5% M ET - TAERERFIEZ
RS 2 EEE R G EEIZ165%
KRR R -

PEACERSHIIUAREEZERETER
b 2l 5T B R Bl om A 1R 25% (ZF — —
F o 25%) 2 ERTE -
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (coNTINUED)

Land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds of sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including costs of land and development and construction

1. FIEBE X @)
THIEEHRBE L MEE 2R (BE
EWEMSHRBNBR TN L (B21E
THIRA BEREESH))ZIER
R H#130% & 60% UL ©

expenditures.

2022 2021
—s-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT

Current tax BV HAR 18
PRC enterprise income tax FEMEMEE 120,574 842,018
PRC land appreciation tax R + 3B B 188,898 13,934
Hong Kong profits tax BEENEH 67 21
309,539 855,973
Deferred tax (note 30) EIER IR (FHEE30) 27,928 (423,846)
337,467 432,127

R FR

ARBERRDA

221



222

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % WK M

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 1. FIEBEX@®

Tax charge on the Group's (loss)/profit before tax differs from the REE BB A (BER),#F2 BHIER
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average Y BHERERRGEER 2R Z N
tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as BEAOBEGFEMSEREECEREN

follows: o
2022 2021

—g=-Z ===

HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT

(Loss)/profit before tax

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates

BrEE AT (E1R), S5 A (1,022,757) 1,063,934

REEMER 2 g X

in the respective regions THE 2 RIE (220,217) 312,343
Land appreciation tax TR AR 188,898 13,934
Tax effect of land appreciation tax THIEER R (47,224) (3484)
Share of results of associates Pak (=) W/NCIE ¥ 196,606 66,002
Share of results of joint ventures DA RRIHEE (34,443) (12,063)
Income not subject to tax B 7H R 2 WA (35,612) (90,018)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes ik d b3 43,285 86,871
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax BRFAIRER BB

losses &8 (6,366) (30,035)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised AR A ARER G

temporary differences =& (2,887) (23,711)
Adjustment in respect of current tax of BT EEA 2 R IE

previous period e B 8 B (20,327) 24,441
Tax losses/deductible temporary differences — REERFIEEIE, 0] HFL

not recognised 2R E R M B 275,754 87,847
Tax charge MIEF 337,467 432,127
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 21.5% (2021: Az INEFHRER215%(ZFT=—
29.4%). The year-on-year change is primarily caused by a change F:204%) c EBZERETIHRASE
in the relative profitability of the Company’s subsidiaries in the B /8 A R AB B b [ 2 4R BE & B
respective regions. M FTEL o

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



12.

13.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: final dividend and a
special dividend in respect of HK1.0 cent each per ordinary share
totalling HK$66,938,000).

A final dividend and a special dividend in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2021 of HK1.0 cent each per ordinary share
totalling HKS$66,938,000 (2021: final dividend and a special
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of
HK1.0 cent each per ordinary share totalling HK$66,938,000) were
recognised as distribution during the year.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE — BASIC
AND DILUTED

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the
(loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

Since there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares, the diluted
(loss)/earnings per share is equal to basic (loss)/earnings per
share.

12.

13.

R E
EETRErNBE—E-—F+—-A
=t+t—BHLEFEMNRE(ZZE=_—F:
REAMR B RAFRIR B FR L BRS1.08
fill - %858 566,938,000 7T ) °

MEE—T-_—F+_A=1+—RHILF
B2 KRB REFRIREEREBRE
1.0/l - 42%8 566,938,000 L (ZF =
—F pEBE_T_TF+ A =1—
BIEFEZ RBARBRERRESBIE
fi% & 8 A 1.0 (L - 48 B8 566,938,000/
TLIRAFEERRDIK °

R (ER) &BF — EX
Kk#E

SREK (BR),/ BN TRAD AR
BB A (B18), SRR A E N E S
TR BB R R E -

MR RA EAHEE 2 EE LB
WEREE(BR), /BN ESRER
(B18)/BFER -

2022 2021
—E-= — T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of N /A A R&AE A A (L
the Company (E518), & 7 (1,362,468) 89,209
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
Number of Number of
shares shares
B & A% 2
‘000 ‘000
T T

Weighted average number of ordinary shares R E31TE B2

in issue during the year hniE ¥ 5 AR # 3,346,908 3,346,908

R FR

ARBERRDA
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31 December 2022 =Z==F+=-A=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

“;“NdTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B R M

14. Y15 - BERRE

Movements in property, plant and equipment are as follows: M BERKEEBOT -
Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leasehold fixtures and Motor
buildings improvements Machinery equipment vehicles Total
HELHR HEME KA -£ER
BgF £ Ha B4 BHH wm
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TET FET TET FET FET TET
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-Z--f+Z=8
=+-BLEFE
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-_—_F—Hf—H 457,255 8,906 2,283 12,352 7,007 487,803
Exchange differences EXEZHE (34,768) — (67) (1,039) (566) (36,440)
Additions NE 15,000 - 209 4,028 1,672 20,909
Transfer from inventories BEBEEE 242,599 — — — — 242,599
Disposals HE - - (14) (502) (308) (824)
Transfer to investment properties (i) BB ERAWE () (5,774) — — - — (5,774)
Depreciation e (30,029) (8,841) (279) (4,694) (2,157) (46,000)
At 31 December 2022 RZZB-Z%+=A
== 644,283 65 2,132 10,145 5,648 662,273
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZF+=A
==
Cost BRAR 754,796 37,671 3,296 40,732 21,027 857,522
Accumulated depreciation and ZEHERAE
impairment (110,513) (37,606) (1,164) (30,587) (15,379) (195,249)
Net book amount IREFE 644,283 65 2,132 10,145 5,648 662,273
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-B--f+Z8
=+-ALFE
At 1 January 2021 —E-_—%—Af—AH 212,407 26,657 2,227 10,498 7491 259,280
Exchange differences EE%%}E 5203 = 24 338 203 5,768
Additions NE = = 222 5968 1,307 7497
Transfer from inventories BRAETE 272476 = = = - 272476
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RHBAR = = 75 — 411 486
Disposals & (89) ®) - (159) 27) (283)
Transfer to investment properties (i) BB EREWE () (161) = = = — (2161)
Depreciation nE (30,581) (17,743) (265) (4,293) (2,378) (55,260)
At 31 December 2021 —T-—%+=R
E +—H 457,255 8,906 2,283 12,352 7,007 487,803
At 31 December 2021
Cost 543,695 37,671 3,338 45113 24,291 654,108
Accumulated depreciation and LI E R E
impairment (86,440) (28,765) (1,055) (32,761) (17,284) (166,305)
Net book amount HREF(E 457,255 8,906 2,283 12,352 7,007 487,803

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

U]

(iii)

At the end of both reporting periods, the Group’s buildings
were erected on land under medium-term and long-term
leases in Hong Kong and a long-term lease in Mainland
China, respectively.

The amount transferred to investment properties upon the
end of owner occupation included the carrying value of
the property, plant and equipment amounting to
HK$5,774,000 (2021: HK$2,161,000) with fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income of
approximately HK$2,726,000 (2021: HK$39,424,000) during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's buildings with
carrying amounts of HK$195,283,000 (2021: Nil) have been
pledged as collateral for bank borrowings (note 29(a)).

14. ¥ - BERRKRE @

(i)

(iii)

REAEREHERE  A&EEET
2 RN & N B A AR 1 o
AEHHENEHEE Tt 5
%0

HE-_T-_—_F#+=-_A=+—H
IFE EEFHRERBER
EREMEZSHEBEEYE B
B & & 2 BR T E5,774,0007 7T
—E - —%F 12,161,000 7T) * I
REMEEWHERARLEZD
#92,726,0008 L (Z T = —F :
39,424,000/ 7T ) °

RZEBEZZF+=ZA=+—H "
AR T {8 /195,283,000 7T (—ZF —
—F  B)NEFEEIHERRT
Bz | & (K 7E29G0)) °

ARBERRDA

R FR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e % WK M

31 December 2022 =Z=—f+=-FA=+—H

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various properties under operating leases
with rentals receivable monthly. The leases have an initial terms
of 1 to 15 years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s
option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

15. REWYE

AEBNZLEHEETALHEZEYEIA
WEEARKES - HERIIE15F -

$E.iﬁﬂ\.fﬂgﬁﬁfﬁﬁ7¥<x9|\ﬁgﬂ
CRAARMERELREEERSAZY
iaﬂ&ﬂﬁ HEAHNHY TR EHREE
1%&/‘527%@)\%@5}1“:.%5 BEWHE
IRERE o

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
At fair value BEARE

At beginning of the year F 2,664,793 2,507,388
Transfer from property, plant and equipment %8 Y% « FE & & 8,500 41,585
Transfer from inventories EREEE 228,685 =
Additions NE 2,949 257,873

Fair value changes on investment properties A IEZRNER ZIHE W%
recognised in profit or loss DR EZE (68,814) (153,467)
Exchange differences ME H Z 5 (61,681) 11,414
At end of the year F IR 2,774,432 2,664,793

As at 31 December 2022, investment properties with the fair
value of HKS$186,457,000 (2021: Nil) have been pledged as
collateral for bank borrowings (note 29(a)).

The investment properties were fair-valued at 31 December 2022
by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent valuer (2021:
Cushman & Wakefield Limited). The fair value of the investment
properties was arrived at by considering the income
capitalisation of the properties or, where appropriate, by
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties in the same locations and conditions as direct
comparison. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

R-ZT-_—F+=-A= + EI AT
754186,457,00078 7T (= D EE) Y
%xﬁi%%eEW’E%%&HF*Z%&WDD
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REYWENR T _—F+_A=+—8H
ZAREEBY GEMBERITEAREA
TEHEE(ZE-—F  HERTE
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cONTINUED)

15. REWHE @)

Details of the Group's investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting

periods are as follows:

RBERLE - AEEREVMER AR
EERERMT

Fair value
as at
31 December
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
ARE
R-ZE-Z
+=A
E— -~ 1] E=H =+—H
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FExT FExT FExT
In Hong Kong NREB — 49,500 1,956,000 2,005,500
In Mainland China iz 58 B A 4, — 257,926 511,006 768,932
Fair value
as at
31 December
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
ARE
i
+=A
E— E_M E=MH =+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHETT FHET FHETT
In Hong Kong R E B — 45,800 1,967,000 2,012,800
In Mainland China 2 7 R B A 3t — 41,585 610,408 651,993

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 (2021: Nil).

FA - BE-—RRE-_RAAEFEZR
VEER(ZT-—F 1 HF)-

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

31 December 2022 =Z=—f+=-FA=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REWHE @)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within BERE=RAREERARAETE
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: ZEER
HK$'000
FHT
Carrying amount at 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—H—HBZ
fREE 2,079,100
Transfer from level 2 EEEHE R 385,788
Additions NE 257,873
Exchange differences 5= 11,414
Fair value changes on investment properties recognised EATéﬁiﬁEwu\ZTxﬁﬁ’F@%
in profit or loss AR EEE (156,767)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZE——F+= )EJ
=+—HBFk=Z=T=_=
—A—BZEEE 2,577,408
Additions NE 2,949
Exchange differences MEH R (49,337)
Fair value changes on investment properties recognised RIBRER IR EY
in profit or loss N EEE (64,014)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 R-ZB__%+_A
=t+t—BZEEE 2,467,006
228
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cONTINUED)

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the

valuation techniques and key inputs used), as well as the fair

value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 2 to 3) based on the degree to which the key
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated

15. BREWE @)
TREHENABTRENLENABEY B
KOS E R FHE A ERN R RS
ABE) - M RARERRE AREY A
AEHENTERREERT AL EHE
EAREERTMNOE(E-—REE=
&) -

statement of financial Fair value Valuation techniques and key
position hierarchy inputs Significant unobservable inputs
REMBERRRPEEEZ
REWE AREER FERTRBREEHAHE EXTUBRZEARE
Property 1 in Hong Kong Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties of 3% (2021: 3%)
ECEEN E WA BERRER ZRAELBYEZFEELTSES
WARBRATIHEEZ3(ZF - —%F : 3%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
1. Reversionary yield; and into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes,
2. Market unit rent of from HK$40.3/sq.ft/month to HK$54/sq.ft/month
individual unit (2021: from HK$40.8/sq.ft/month to HK$54/sq.ft/month)
BRBABIER MIZEMHS  MAEETSLREEY A= EAU
1. ERkEX R B LBRMR BB AFTAHIRW0IBITEMAET
2. ERIBLZHNTHSEMES (ZZ2=—F : A AT T HR408B T E4ETT)
Property 2 in Hong Kong Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties of 3.25% to 3.5% (2021: 3.25% to 3.5%)
B IEY) F=® W ASE ERRER  ZRAELBYX 2 FEENTISES
WA K BAL T35 (B B 2 3.25% E 3.5%
(ZZ=—% : 3.25%53.5%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
1. Reversionary yield; and into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes,
2. Market unit rent of from HK$23/sq.ft/month to HKS$33/sq.ft/month
individual unit (2021: from HKS$23/sq.ft/month to HK$33/sq.ft/month)
BARBABIER - mIZEMHES  RAEETSLREEY A=ZEAU
. ERkEX R B LBRAE BEABTHRBETERET
2. {ERIBAIE TS EME S -5 :ABAFTHIRBETESREL)
Other properties in Hong Kong Level 2 Direct comparison method based ~ N/A
on market observable
transactions of similar
properties and adjusted to
reflect the conditions and
locations of the subject
property
EREMYE E-® HERIBEERBOUYERZTS TEA

ABRR A AEFHEIARRZL
MEZIGERAE

—T-—F HEHMEERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e % WK M

31 December 2022 —ZE=—F+—

RA=+—R

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties held

by

the Group in the consolidated

statement of financial Fair value Valuation techniques and key
position hierarchy inputs
REPBERRRPEEEMZ

REWE DAAEEBR HERMREREARE

15. BREWE @)

Significant unobservable inputs

EATABEZ@EAYE

Property 3 in Mainland China

B A 33

Property 4 in Mainland China

B R ) 354

Level 3 Income method

F=MR WATE

The key inputs are:
1. Reversionary yield; and
2. Market unit rent of
individual unit
FRBABIER -
1. EHEKEE: R
2. fARIBHTISEMES

Level 3 Income method

?“d%
I
2

W AE

The key inputs are:
1. Reversionary yield; and
2. Market unit rent of
individual unit
BRE AR
1. ERKREE R
2. ERIBLZMTSEMES

Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties of 2.5% (2021: 2.5%)

ERkEXR ZEAELBMECFEEMMSES
WA K ER TR EEZ2.5% (=T =—&F : 2.5%)

Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, of
HKS$71.4/sq.m./month (2021: HK$76.1/sq.m./month)

MIBEMNAS KAEEDSLREEY B EHAU
B UBREE  BERABELANLET
—E-—F:BAFFHKI6IBETT)

Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties of 4.5% (2021: 4.5%)

ERRER ERAELBYE2FEENTSES
AR B TTIBEEZ45% (ZFZ—F : 45%)

Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes,
from HK$47.0/sg.m./month to HK$60.4/sq.m./month (2021:
from HK$51.4/sq.m./month to HK$66.0/sq.m./month)

MIZEMES - FKAEEDS L REE Y B BAUE
B UBRAK ABASTHIR0BTEEAET
TKR0ABT(ZF=_—F - AGABF I K148
Z8G AT T Ke6.047T)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REWHE @)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated

statement of financial Fair value Valuation techniques and key
position hierarchy inputs Significant unobservable inputs
REFBERRRPEAEEZ
REWE AAEEBR HERMREREARE EXRTABEZBARE
Property 5 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties of 3.5% (2021: 3.5%)
B %S BE=R WAE ERRER  ZRVELEMEZFEELTSEDS
WA R B TTIHEE23.5%(=ZF = —4F : 3.5%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
1. Reversionary yield; and into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, of
2. Market unit rent of HK$48.0/sq.m./month (2021: HK$51.5/sg.m./month)
individual unit
FRBABIER - MZEMAS  RAEETSLREEY A= EAU
1. EHEKREE: R B LBRAE  BAFTHK4B0ET
2. fARIBMHTISEMES TR —F:ZABFHKSISET)
Property 6 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties of 6.5% (2021: 6.5%)
R E A Y6 E=/R A% ERRER  ERAELBYEZFEEMTSES
WA KB TTIBEEZ65% (=T =—F : 6.5%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
1. Reversionary yield; and into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes,
2. Market unit rent of from HK$79.1/sq.m./month to HK$175.7/sq.m./month
individual unit (2021: from HK$73.9/sg.m./month to HK$164.0/sq.m./
month)
FRBABER - MiZEMHS  MAEETSLREEY A= EAU
1. ERKEE: Rk B UERRE BEASTHRIETE

2. {ERIBEAIMTIHZEMHES BREYFK AT (ZE_—F - ABAET XK
7398 TEB AT T K1640%7T)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e % WK M

31 December 2022

—ET-—F+=-A=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties held

by

the Group in the consolidated

15. REYE )

statement of financial Fair value Valuation techniques and key
position hierarchy inputs Significant unobservable inputs
REMBERRRPEEEZ
REW AREEBR AHERTREREABE EXTUBRZEARE
Property 7 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties of 4.5% (2021: 4.5%)
B ET £ WA ERRER ERAELBYEZFEELTSHESK
AREMTIHBEEZ45%(ZFZ—F : 4.5%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
1. Reversionary yield; and into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes,
2. Market unit rent of from HK$22.4/sq.m./month to HK$108.0/sq.m./month
individual unit (2021: from HK$24.8/sg.m./month to HK$118.0/sg.m./
month)
BARBABIER - MIZEMAS  RAEETS L RERL A= BAUE
1. EHEKREE: Rk B UBRAK ABABTHKRABTEGRAET
2. {ERIBEAIH TS EME S FARIBOBT(ZE=—F : AB AT FH K488 T
EBREFHAK180ETT)
Other properties in Mainland Level 2 Direct comparison method based ~ N/A
China on market observable
transactions of similar
properties and adjusted to
reflect the conditions and
locations of the subject
property
Fh B A3 E A ) 3% E_R HELBEENBUYZEZ TS TER

ABRR U AEFHEIARRZL
MEZ R E

Increase in the reversionary yield would result in a decrease in

the fair value of the

investment properties. Increase in the

market unit rent or market unit rate would result in an increase

in the fair value of the

In estimating the fair

investment properties, and vice versa.

value of the investment properties, the

Group uses market observable data to the extent it is available.
The management of the Group works closely with the valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and key inputs to

the model.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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16. LEASES 16. #HE
The Group as lessee AEBEREAEA
(a) Lease liabilities (a HEER
2022 2021
—Z==-= —T=—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Lease liabilities payable EREESE
Within 1 year —FRN 18,893 35,115
1to 2 years —FEMF 10,021 15,005
2 to 5 years MFEZERF — 1,385
28,914 51,505
Less: Amount due for settlement after W ERBBEETZ
1 year shown under non-current 1FIEEN 2
liabilities Gkl (10,021) (16,390)
Amount due for settlement within 1 year REEEE TN 215 R
shown under current liabilities S z&%5 18,893 35,115

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities range from 43% to 5.7% (2021: from

4.3% to 6.0%).

BERAREEaENMETFLES
ERFEGEN T43%=57% (=
T = — 5 43%560%) °

(b) Right-of-use assets (included in property, plant and (b) EFEHEZE (GIAYX BERKL
equipment) &)
2022 2021
—==-= —E——
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHET
Buildings BF
Carrying amount at year end FRIEEE 22,878 30,218
Depreciation charge for the year KEEFE 20,230 25,201
Additions to right-of-use assets CTRAREECRE 15,000 —

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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31 December 2022 =Z=—f+=-FA=+—H

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant
and equipment) (Continued)

The Group leases offices for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several office buildings. The
Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests. The leasehold land components of these owned
properties are presented separately only if the payments
made can be allocated reliably.

16. HE @)

REBERAMEA @)

(b) EAREEGIAYE BERRF
#) (%)
AEERERATUELE R

AIVHEESHNEBRERIZES
F-HADMBREEEHEEZE
N EE R B A 14 - 8 7E 78 B K & T
HARAIHER RER - N&
BEEAEGHNZEEREEAAA
AT 2 HAM o

Lo REBHRBELZERAE
FoARBRRETMERT 2
MEEA BREABREE L -
WEZSMEERFE —EBX
NHRE-ZEEEMEZHEL
HE D BB IEN AR
FENECH -

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases (c) HEERERBRAKIERT :
are as follows:

2022 2021
—E-= —E—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 2,542 3,599
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {F A EENERX 20,230 25,201
Expense relating to short-term leases HEAHEEEENER 21,089 21,511
Total amount recognised in profit or loss i85 R K A% 43,861 50,311
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 36(c) (d) FEMRSTERERERYE

to the financial statements.

R M FE36(0)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



16.

17.

LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) consisting
of 9 commercial properties in Mainland China and 7 commercial
and residential properties in Hong Kong under operating lease
arrangements. None of the Group's properties held for rental
purposes have been disposed of since the end of the reporting
period.

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

16. & @)

AEBEEHRBEEA
AREBERBCELHELHBAERLREY
¥ (KisE15)  BIER R A AEE
MERBEBN7EEERTEDE - A
s EARDAZR - AN BN & S R E
HERRNYE -

R-_T-_—_F+-_RA=+—H K&£EH
BETAHHENELHEET  JEERs
IRER AR SR AR 4E B IR M PR UK TR E R TB AN T ¢

2022 2021
—s-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT T T
Within one year —F R 67,630 55,454
In the second year F_F 43,131 32,876
In the third year EFE=F 24,805 19,845
In the fourth year FEPIF 17,776 13,340
In the fifth year FRE 13,050 9,126
After five years AFUE 45,188 10,044
211,580 140,685

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. REEE N R 2=

(a) Investments (a) ®E

2022 2021
—E-= — T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T T
At beginning of the year F1 3,306,006 3,472,096
Exchange differences PEH =58 (249,951) 97,917
Share of results of associates (iii) o B & R B ZE4E (i) (786,422) (264,007)
At end of the year FaR 2,269,633 3,306,006

R FR

ARBERRDA
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

17. REtE QAT 2 R @)

(a) Investments (Continued) (a) BE @)
Details of the Group's associates are as follows: AEECHE NG FBET
Proportion of Proportion of
equity interest voting rights held
Place of held by the Group by the Group at
incorporation and at 31 December 31 December
Name of entity Principal activities operation 2022 and 2021 2022 and 2021
R-BZZFR R-ZBZZFR
—B-—&£+=-H —B=--%+=8
R =t+—-H*x&E Z=+-BF5KHE
BEEEE TEXH R REREAERLH HEREELH
By EEEEEHEREERAA Real estate development Mainland China 50% 40%
(Langfang Wanheng Shengye Property
Development Co,, Ltd) (‘Langfang Wanheng") (i)
BHBERXEHEREERAA(HBHEED () FEHEER h R A,
TR ABEEREEARAR Real estate development  Mainland China 51% 40%

(Beijing Minmetals Vanke Real Estate Co., Ltd.)
("Beijing Minmetals Vanke") (i)
ITRABEMEXARAR (ERABERD ()

AETREREZARAA
(Tianjin Yijiahe Real Estate Company Limited)
(“Tianjin Yijiahe") (ii)
REMEZEEXERAA (RERES D )

MBS ERAERERAR

(Hunan Greenland Financial City Property

BHERR

Real estate development

FHERR

Real estate development

Development Co,, Ltd.) ("Hunan Greenland”) (ii)

MBS MM EEXER AR (DHRARM]) i)

U]

(i)

(iif)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

FHERR

These companies are sino-foreign equity joint
ventures established in Mainland China with
operating periods of 30 years. The Group accounts
for its investments in these companies as associates
as it only exercises significant influence over the
investees by minority representation in the boards of
directors. Pursuant to Articles of Association, the
Group has the right to cast 40% of the votes at
shareholders’ meetings of Langfang Wanheng, and
40% of the votes at shareholders’ meetings of
Beijing Minmetals Vanke.

During the year of 2020, the Group acquired 49%
equity interest in Tianjin Yijiahe and 50% equity
interest in Hunan Greenland. The Group accounts for
its investments in these companies as associates as
it only exercises significant influence over the
investees by minority representation in the boards of
directors. Pursuant to Articles of Association, the
Group has the right to cast 49% of the votes at
shareholders’ meetings of Tianjin Yijiahe, and 40% of
the votes at shareholders’ meetings of Hunan
Greenland.

The share of results of associates included the share
of allowance for impairment of inventories made by
associates (net of tax), which amounted to
HK$716,349,000 (2021:HKS$141,702,000).

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

B A

Mainland China

B A3t

Mainland China

B A

(i)

(iii)

49%

50%

49%

40%

ZE R R AR B AR L
ZHINEERE  BEHA
306 AN B H R Z
KREFEEBREETSOH
RETEERTEN  WH
BRZERA R ZERE AR
BBE N - RIEBEARE
B AEERBHEERRE
REHFBEL0%H L ZRE - B
FRIETABESERBRERS
155 400 M) L 2 HE o

R-ZZE-TF  REFWE
KB 52 A 49%H) AL AE K4
A% #5099 A% 4 o A AR
EEHRZILIEE FEREB
BEFELHRRITEEKX
FEN  MEBRZEAT
ZEANRI AEBENT -
BEARER  AEERK
EEEZARRARNSEF49%
RIRZHE - DA R A AR R 4% it
% A &4 40% HRZZRE o

DR E N REEBTES (R
& NRTEF ERERE
(ImBE™HRBE) 285
716,349,000/ T (—Z & = —
£F 1 141,702,000/ 7T) °



17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17.

(b) Summarised financial information of
associates
Summarised financial information in respect of material
associates of the Group is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in
the associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance

REEE N T 2 S @)
(b) BEQATRZHEERNBRE

AEBEABERRZHMBEER
BESNEHMT - 585 E R
REEVNBE AR BRE
NzEBHIRBEBENBREE

with HKFRSs. AlRH -
Langfang Wanheng BB B 15
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Current assets TENE B 2,539,406 2,707,786
Non-current assets FnBEE 22,241 3,392
Current liabilities nBaE 2,273,054 2,385,995
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T
Revenue for the year REFRA 5,055 219,610
Loss for the year REEEE (9,384) (17,131)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income — ANFEE 2 M
for the year (), A (27,206) 9,509
Total comprehensive expense for the year N4 € 2 M X (4258 (36,590) (7,622)

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17. REEE DTl 2 = @|)

(b) Summarised financial information of
associates (Continued)
Langfang Wanheng (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest

(7&)

B B 18 (4&)

(b) BEQRZHMBENMRE

LA BERNRREBHEER
REMBHRERAMERIAEH

in Langfang Wanheng recognised in the consolidated e ARENE < $ R
financial statements:
2022 2021
—ZE_— —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T
Net assets of the associate B NEl 2 BE R 288,593 325,183
Proportion of the Group’s interest in AEERBHEEZ
Langfang Wanheng 3 b 1 50% 50%
2022 2021
—E_— —E-—4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in  AN58 B ER¥h & 1B
Langfang Wanheng ZIREE 144,296 162,591
Beijing Minmetals Vanke IREEER
2022 2021
—E—_— —E-—4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Current assets mENE B 1,929,434 2,128,408
Non-current assets FEnBEE — 124
Current liabilities mENBE 6,998 21,148

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of

17. REEE QT 2 = @)
(b) BEQATRZHEERNBRE

associates (Continued) (&)
Beijing Minmetals Vanke (Continued) IREBEER (E)
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHT
Revenue for the year REFZA — —
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (BB), = F (6,540) 261
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  AFEEMEE
for the year (ZH)/ A (178,408) 60,092
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AEEE2E ()
for the year WA B (184,948) 60,353

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest

EXHBEHNRBREIERARES
RRERE M B HRERATRERZA

in Beijing Minmetals Vanke recognised in the consolidated SERRREE TR
financial statements:
2022 2021
—E=-= — T —%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHAT
Net assets of the associate BERNR s BEFE 1,922,436 2,107,384
Proportion of the Group's interest in AEBRIERABEER
Beijing Minmetals Vanke 2 Wz b 51% 51%
2022 2021
—==-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHAT
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in  ANEBRIL R AES R
Beijing Minmetals Vanke w2 BREE 980,442 1,074,766

R FR

ARBERRDA
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of

17. REEE DTl 2 = @|)

(b) BERNT 2HBERBE

associates (Continued) (%)
Tianjin Yijiahe XEEES
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Current assets TENE B 14,950,670 22,496,670
Non-current assets FnBEE 20,556 83
Current liabilities nBaE 7,659,820 13,137,751
Non-current liabilities FnBAaE 5,417,746 5,628,870
2022 2021
—s=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Revenue for the year REZWA 5,114,755 6,229,082
Loss for the year NEEEE (1,581,215) (258,973)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income — ANFEH 2 M
for the year () A (255,257) 109,942
Total comprehensive expense for the year 7N € 2 X 1 4258 (1,836,472) (149,031)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



7. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

17. REEE DTl 2 = @)

(b) Summarised financial information of (b) BMEQNTRZHMBERBE
associates (Continued) (&)
Tianjin Yijiahe (Continued) XEEZE ()
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial EXOBEMNBEEARERERES
information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest REEVBRRAFERZ RNE
in Tianjin Yijiahe recognised in the consolidated financial E S AREE 2 H AR
statements:
2022 2021
—B-C —E-—fF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T
Net assets of the associate B NEl 2 BE R 1,893,660 3,730,132
Proportion of the Group’s interest in REBRKEEREZ
Tianjin Yijiahe HE 75 EE 15 49% 49%
2022 2021
—E—= —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in  NEBRKZERZS
Tianjin Yijiahe a2 BREE 927,893 1,827,765
Hunan Greenland B AR
2022 2021
—E=-= B —%F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FER FHT
Current assets mENE E 930,033 1,004,874
Non-current assets EMBEE 122,159 156,234
Current liabilities mEN B & 536,222 541,659
Non-current liabilities FnBaE 81,966 137,682

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of

17. REEE DT 2 = @)
(b) BEQATZHEERBE

associates (Continued) (%)
Hunan Greenland (Continued) R AR (4E)
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Revenue for the year REFRA 94,915 194,271
Loss for the year KEEBE (7,199) (257,356)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  AFEEMEE
for the year (ZH)/ A (40,566) 17,286
Total comprehensive expense for the year ZN4F X 2 X (1 42 %8 (47,765) (240,070)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial L SCE S B RHBE BB R AR R
information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest REVBRERAMER I AEE

242

in Hunan Greenland recognised in the consolidated e ARENE 2 $1 R
financial statements:
2022 2021
—s=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TERT FHET
Net assets of the associate BERNR 2 BEFH 434,004 481,767
Proportion of the Group's interest in REBEMmEAZIZ
Hunan Greenland 1 % L A1) 50% 50%
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHET
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in  ZN58 B A 4 R 4% Mo A 2
Hunan Greenland ZERHEE 217,002 240,884

I —————
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(a)

18. REERA 2R

Investments (@ RE
2022 2021
—ZE—_— —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTHERT FHET
At beginning of the year F1 227,863 196,074
Additions g — 57,529
Exchange differences bE W =% (23,784) 6,688
Share of results of joint ventures (i) SIEEERRIEE®) 137,773 48,253
Others H Al — (80,681)
At end of the year F R 341,852 227,863
Details of the Group's joint ventures are as follows: REBZzEERRFBEOT -
Place of
incorporation and Proportion of equity interest
Name of entity Principal activities operation held by the Group
BRER TEER SEA R A i B FEEEEREES LA
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—fF
ERMNEREHERERRDA Real estate development  Mainland China 34.1% 34.1%
(Gekuangli Nanjing Property Development Co. Ltd.)
(“Gekuangli”)
BEMNEREWERBARAR ([BEH]) EEER FE A,
ARENEEHERZEARDA Real estate development ~ Mainland China 39.8% 39.8%
(Nanjing Kuanglijin Property
Development Co.Ltd.) (“Kuanglijin”)
ARENeEHERBARAR (BFE]) FHEER F R A,
EMZABHmERZEARAA Real estate development  Mainland China 10% 10%
(Guangzhou Anhe Real Estate Development Co. Ltd.)
("Guangzhou Anhe”) (c)
BMNZEEHEREARABR(EMNERE]) (O FEiEER F R,
WERSEXREARAR Real estate development  Mainland China 50% 50%
(Hunan Kuangmeng Property Development Co. Ltd.)
("Hunan Kuangmeng")
MERZEXRABEEARAR (THEEES]) FHEER B At
I RBERBMEEER AR Real estate development  Mainland China 40% 40%
(Beijing Kuangrongcheng Real Estate Co.Ltd.) (c)
IRBEREEZEFRAA © FEHEER B At
ERRREHEREERAA Real estate development  Mainland China 34.1% 34.1%

(Nanjing Yuexin Decoration Management Co. Ltd.)

BARIEREHERERAF

FHERR

FEI R

R FR

ARBERRDA
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18.

(CONTINUED)

(a) Investments (Continued)
These companies are joint ventures established by the
Group and other investors in Mainland China. The Group
accounts for its investments in these companies as joint
ventures as it exercises joint control over the investees
through its voting rights, as unanimous consent is required
for the relevant activities.

(i) The share of results of joint ventures included the
share of allowance for impairment of inventories
made by joint ventures (net of tax), which
amounted to HK$110,958,000 (2021: Nil).

(b) Summarised financial information of joint
ventures
As at 31 December 2022, none of Group's joint ventures
were individually material.

i)

(a)

(b)

ENT 2R @

BE @
FENRARER KT E KM E
HIREERIL 2 AERE - AR
AEBFBREBEIKIRE FT
R (R AEEREs ER—
KAE)  MEBNZERAZE
BEABETIAAEAT -

() DHEELCEEEBEDG
AEDEFIETFERBERE
(F0BR FHIE) 110,958,00078 TT
T —fF )

—_—

SERRAZHBERBE

RZE-_—_F#+-_A=+—8"
AEFBWEBERMES EANE &

NG

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FHT

The Group's share of profit for the year AEEEEAFEE G 137,773 48,253
The Group’s share of other comprehensive 7<= B & {f AN F & E At

(expense)/income for the year 2/ (X)), wA (23,784) 6,688
The Group's share of total comprehensive AN&EEEHAFEZE

income for the year WA 4258 113,989 54,941

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. B
(CONTINUED)
(c) The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of (c)

losses of certain joint ventures because the share of losses
of those joint ventures exceeded the Group's interests in
those joint ventures and the Group has no obligation to
take up further losses. The amounts of the Group's
unrecognised share of losses of those joint ventures for the

EENTZERE @

AEEDRIEERDIEETAE
EENEER REEDEZFE
ERENEBEREZRAKERZS
BECENER  MASELE
BEEAEE—FPER - AREAX
FERRFARERDHZEZAE

current year and cumulatively were as follows: PEREENSENT
2022 2021
—s-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Unrecognised share of losses of FRARERDEEE
joint ventures for the year EEE 15,488 —
Accumulated unrecognised share R+—A=+—8"
of losses of joint ventures ZHARERDIEEE
as at 31 December EEE 15,488 —

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R & B R R A

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. ZBHEMEEHWZEARE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AECUBERE
INCOME
2022 2021
—E-= T —fF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong REB LT ZRAFS
At beginning of the year F4 555,433 822,778
Additions NE 28,338 =
Fair value loss recognised in REMEEKEERZ
other comprehensive income AREERE (182,343) (267,345)
At end of the year Fax 401,428 555,433
The Group's equity securities investment is measured at fair value AEERFEHRBOBRABTHRER
at the end of the reporting period: NAfEEHE :

Fair value as at
A RE

31 December 31 December Fair value Valuation technique and

Financial assets 2022 2021 hierarchy key input
—E-= T —F
HKEE +ZA=+—-H +ZA=+t—H 2AAREHHE RERITREZ@ARE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRT FHET
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 401,428 555433 Level 1 Quoted prices in
income — Listed equity securities an active market
EREMZEARARAREFEIHBEE — E—& IERTSHNEEE AE

ETRRAE

The equity securities investment has been designated at fair BAEFEHRECHEERBBEMEEY
value through other comprehensive income, which, in the HERAREFE  MEZTRAEEEHAR
opinion of the Directors, resulting more relevant information for SERBEAEERATIANTN - HE
the Group's financial instruments based on how the Group FHRBEMNPETEEEER - FAER

246

manages its equity instruments. Dividend income recognised
during the year related to those investments held at end of the
year was HK$49,081,000 (2021: HK$59,922,000), a part of dividend
income was settled by script dividend which amounted to
HKS$28,338,000. There was no disposal or transfer of the
cumulative gain or loss within equity during both years.

HERMFENZEREGTBNREK
A 549,081,000 L (ZF = — F ¢
59,922,000/ 7T ) #B 7 A B A& DA R AX
BERAHAER - £%/528338000/ T °
RREFEEERP RN EERR
stk s g A o
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20. INVENTORIES 20. 78

2022 2021
—=E-= - —4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T
Properties under development ERPYE
— located in Mainland China (i) — AL B A (1) 19,364,770 25,339,100
— located in Hong Kong (i) — R EE) 6,948,179 6,078,169
26,312,949 31,417,269
Properties held for sale — FIELEME —
located in Mainland China iz 78 B A 3, 13,193,189 11,696,350
39,506,138 43,113,619
(i) Properties under development (i) BRPYWE
2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHERT FHT
Land use rights oMb {5 A R 18,141,754 23,027,702
Construction costs =N 8,171,195 8,389,567
26,312,949 31,417,269
As at 31 December 2022, properties under development R-E-_—_F+—-_A=+—H"
with carrying amounts of HK$12,729,428,000 (2021: BRI (B £12,729,428,000/8 70 (=&
HK$6,471,763,000) have been pledged as collateral for bank ——1% 16,471,763,00078 70 ) FUBE R
borrowings (note 29(a)). RYEEERERRITERZE
A& (i EE296)) °
e 247
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 21. ARE - EFRHEMEW
RECEIVABLES MIE
2022 2021
—EC-CHE —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T
Trade receivables, net (b) B S EWEIE - FE(b) 140,525 139,732
Deposits b 153,450 211,351
Prepayments (c) TERT IR (0) 744,158 891,132
Prepayments for land cost (d) FB A £ #hAK AR (d) 781,192 1,969,482
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary FE—RERKHE R A
(note 39(b)) FIE (Bt #E39(b)) 2,687 —
Amounts due from associates (note 39(b)) JE U Bt 2 X B FR I8
(M EE39(0)) 955,518 1,052,958
Amounts due from joint ventures (note 39(b)) FEURE & A FIFIA
(BT EE39(b)) 2,751,595 3,054,411
Amounts due from non-controlling FEUR KT B A A 2 FEIZE AR
shareholders of subsidiaries (note 39(b)) AR 3R 5K I8 (B 5E39(b)) 5,244,098 4,962,606
Others H A 236,584 241,224
11,009,807 12,522,896
@  The carrying amounts of prepayments, trade and other @ TENKIE - B R HMERKIE
receivables are denominated in the following currencies: ZEREETIA TS 'S8R
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
HKS BT 44,838 113,098
Renminbi (“RMB") ARB(TARE]) 10,964,969 12,409,783
Macao pataca (“MOP") SBPTHE ([DRPTHE D) — 15
11,009,807 12,522,896
248 1
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21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(b)  The aging analysis of trade receivables based on due date
for rental receivables, date of properties delivered to
purchasers and billing date of construction services

FRIE (@)

21. FANRIE - ESREMER

b) REVKHESIHAE VEIMAT
EXMEHMERBRERBED
REAHED EHREIALZ

certified is as follows: BRER DT :
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHT
Within 90 days 90 H A 119,632 109,665
91 to 180 days 912180H 3,784 3,006
181 days to 1 year 18BTAE—F 1,848 7,532
1 to 2 years —FEMF 31,960 22,020
Over 2 years M AF LA 26,978 43,048
184,202 185,271
Less: Allowance for impairment R ER (43,677) (45,539)
140,525 139,732

Movements in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B ZEAGRIAE L 2R ERE

ZEBHMT

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—%F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

TR FHET

At beginning of the year F1 45,539 31,842
Exchange differences M 5 =28 (1,316) 2,539
Allowance for impairment, net WA - FE 926 19,427
Written-off 85 (1,472) (8,269)
At end of the year FIK 43,677 45,539

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other

receivables are set out in note 42(a)(ii).

B 5 & E b fE U R IE 2R E R G
B AP 5E42()i) ©

R FR

ARBERRDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e % WK M

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 21. ANFE - EFGREMEW
FRIE (@)

RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(0 As at 31 December 2022, prepayments included prepaid
other taxes and other charges of approximately
HK$684,852,000 (2021: HK$845,219,000).

(d)  Prepayments for land cost represented payments to Bureau
of Planning and Natural Resources of PRC for the
acquisition of land in Mainland China and the amount will
be reclassified to inventory upon issuance of land use right
certificates.

(e)  The other items within trade and other receivables do not
contain past due or impaired assets.

(@

R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8"
FENFERERMEMHEBERE
% A 49684,852,000/8 7L (=& =
—4F : 845,219,000 7T) °

TEAS £ A HE P B A 1 e
THAXNTHERIARERE
IR 2 FRIE - Tt & BRI R R
LLMERAEERERA/TE -

B 5 M E A EYFRIARN 2 K MR
BT EEAHKEREEE -

22. CONTRACT ASSETS 22. EHNEE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Construction services EERS 92,983 240,503
Retention receivables B WAR E & 51,377 45,750
144,360 286,253

As at 1 January 2021, contract assets amounted to approximately
HK$203,146,000.

The contract assets from construction services primarily relate to
the Group's right to consideration for work completed and not
billed because the rights are conditioned on the Group's future
performance. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional, typically
upon the issuance of billing certificates.

RZBE-_—F—F—H GHEEZS
%8 5 #9203,146,00078 JT °

BERBHNEMNEETES NAKESL
K TREBMKREZEMN(EHRE
BRI AR R BH R RBH RGN - 8
ARELRE) ANEERNENKAE
RS (BERBHRELR) BREE
5 FEWRIA -
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22.

23.

CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Retention receivables are included in contract assets until the
end of the retention period as the Group’s entitlement to this
final payment is conditioned on the Group’s fulfillment of its
quality warranty obligation. As at 31 December 2022, retention
receivables with a carrying amount of HK$33,223,000 (2021:
HK$18,239,000) were expected to be recovered after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the
Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

22.

BHNEEm@®
ERRESFAEGHNEE EERIEH
HERIE - B ARE B EGZ & & 5
BFNAEEEREEERBERTAK
H-HE_ZTE-_—_F+-_A=+—8"
R T (33,223,000 L (ZF = — & -
18,239,000 7T ) HY & YR [E & T8 B
MEMB T —EARKED -

AEERBZERNEENERRDE
E RESASERABNEERLS

CONTRACT COSTS 23. BB
2022 2021
—s-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT T T
Sales commissions HEME 238,300 217,454

Contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions paid/
payable to property agents whose selling activities resulted in
customers entering into sale and purchase agreements for the
Group's properties. Contract costs are recognised as part of
selling and marketing expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the related
property sales is recognised.

ABRASREN,/ %R ENE
BRERS  REREBOHEIHES
HESTYERAEEYENEE
%o ANBATRERE N EHE B
R ERABRR AR BYE
REHBR—H -

ARBERRDA
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31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

24. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R & B R R A

24. IRHBRESRWITFK

RESTRICTED
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Restricted cash PR %1 3R & 724,314 1,077,095

The carrying amounts of restricted cash are denominated in the
following currencies:

SRR e 2 REETIATIIERDIE -

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

HKS BT 709,072 1,042,252
RMB AR 15,242 34,843
724,314 1,077,095

As at 31 December 2022, the weighted average effective interest
rate was 4.19% (2021: 0.25%) per annum.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting
period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits.

The restricted cash represents (i) regulated pre-sales proceeds of
properties, which will be released according to the completion
stage of the related properties; (ii) performance deposits for
construction projects; and (i) guarantee deposits for the benefit
of mortgage loan facilities granted by banks to the purchasers of
the Group's properties.

R-TE-_—F+-_A=+—8 nN#E¥F
BHEBFEMNE B419%(ZFE = —F:
0.25%) ©

RBEHRBEARZESEERRA
REeRRITERZIKREE -

ZRHBEEBOXRENDETRE R
I8 HIR BB E R TSR B (i)
BEIFE ZBEHRES  RGHBEERT
RITEATEBYMEER ZIRBE R
BFTIREE 2 B RTFA ©

I —————
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25. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS,
UNRESTRICTED

25. A ERFRERBITER

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—%F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FAET

Cash at banks RITH € 7,701,207 10,956,110
Cash on hand FHERE 154 16
Cash and bank deposits R RIBITHFK 7,701,361 10,956,126

The carrying amounts of cash and bank

deposits are

Re RRTERZREETDATIER

denominated in the following currencies: HIER ¢
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FA&TT
HKS BT 145,838 227,698
RMB AR 7,521,314 10,687,499
uss ET 34,209 33,537
MOP JRPI — 7,392
7,701,361 10,956,126

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting
period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits.

RBEMRBEARZESEERRR
Be RRITHERZEEE -

R FR
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31 December 2022 =ZE==#F+=A=+—8H

26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. g A
2022 2021
—E-= T
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
% k| A% £k k|
‘000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
T FHET T FET
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 FREEO.T
each B R 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: EBETREH
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 BREMEO.
each 7B T AR
Balance at beginning and end  F ¥ R F LK
of the year g s 3,346,908 334,691 3,346,908 334,691

254 I —————
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27. RESERVES

27. #1E&

Capital Investment  Cash flow
Share Contributed redemption revaluation  hedging Revaluation Other  Exchange  Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total
BER
BhRE  REEH by
RitiE BAERHR 1 B B EfEG HpEE EXGE REEW A%
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000
Tér TEr TEr TEr  TEr  TEr TEr  TEr  TEr  TEx
@ (o) ©
@ o) ©
Balance as at 1 January 2021 RZF=-%-F-HzEH 4275172 515336 769 265,041 (59,846) 4359 (296,986) (259464) 4819879 9264260
Fair value loss offinancial assets at far value through other BRAMRENERAR B EZHBE
comprehensive incore EFELIDREEE = = - () = = = - - (1)
Fair value gain on hedaing instruments in cash flow hedges RERARNARTIEL M kG = = = = 36407 = = = = 36407
(i on revaluation of owner-occupied properties upon transter o £ HRNEEBERENE 2 Ef
investment properties Wis = = = = = 39424 = = = 39424
Currency translation adjustments ExaE = = = = = = - 53999 — 589909
(Gain on partal disposal of equity interests n a subsiciary HER-ZHBAR DA B2 K5 = = = = = = a4 - - 844
2020 final dividend paid ZR-2-FERERE = = = = = = = - (6% (66%9)
Proft for the year FEaET = = = = = = = = 89209 89209
Balance as at 31 December 2021 RoB-—F+-A=t-B2kk 47511 51533% 769 (2304 349 878 Q%14 30M5 4810 968570
Fair value loss of financial assets t far value through other FRAMRENERAL B EZHBE
comprehensive income EFfEE2 MR - - - (182383) - - - - - (182383)
Fair value gain on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges RERARNARIEZ M kG - - - - 54709 - - - — 54709
(G on revaluation of owner-occupied properties upon transfer o~ £ HRNEEBERENE 2 ER
investment properties Y - - - - - 2726 - - - 2726
Currency translation adjustments ExAE - - - - - - - (1,646,618) — (1,646,618)
2021 final ividend paid SH-T--FRERE - - - - - - - — (66938  (66,938)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - — (1,362,468) (1,362,468)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 RIB--F+-A=t-RzE&s# 4,275172 515,336 769 (184,647) 31,270 46,509  (296,142) (1,316,173) 3,412,744 6,484,838

B CER
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31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

27. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(@

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

Contributed surplus mainly represents the excess of the fair
value of shares in Minmetals Land Investments Limited
acquired by the Company over the nominal value of the
new shares of the Company issued pursuant to the share
exchange agreement.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, contributed surplus
is distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition
that the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or
would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due, or (i) the realisable value of its assets
would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities,
issued share capital and share premium account.

Other reserve represents the differences between the
amount by which non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of consideration paid or received when
the Group acquired or disposed of partial interests in
existing subsidiaries.

As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, the
Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in
Mainland China are required to appropriate a portion of
their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior year losses) to
the statutory reserves at the rate of 10%. The appropriation
as at 31 December 2022, amounting to approximately
HKS$1,110,615,000 (2021: HKS1,111,171,000), was included in
retained earnings as at 31 December 2022.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

27. f#E @

(@

ERBREITEEARARARWE
Minmetals Land Investments
Limited & 3 2 A 7t E#E A R A
RIBR GO RRBREITIHRGD 2
RDEE 2 Z5E -

REARERFE  BEHAHKA
R TFRE - BETIERT
ARAPEEERFKEREH D
IREBALR  ()HARBRFHRN
EHDIREGRENIHE
B HMARREEZAZIEAE
EfEmMERERE BHEITK
AR B s B R Z 48D -

Hih AR IFERR RS R
CHREASBERBRHERBH
BRAAMEOERZFENHE K
MREMNAABEZHNER -

B HE AR B AR E - A QB
B At Ak 7 N i 2 BT B R | B
EE DR (EERETFE
BRIBAZLZERE XA
0% RZE__F+=RA=+—
B BREIRA A1,1106150007%
TL(ZF = —% :1,111,171,00078
JL)  BERERZZE=Z—_F+=A
=t HHORBAFNZA -



28. PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS 28. KAEAXRIHR
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Perpetual loan KABER — 2,448,182

On 28 December 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Borrower”), a fellow subsidiary and a bank (the
“Bank”) have entered into an entrustment loan agreement (the
“Perpetual Loan Agreement’), pursuant to which the fellow
subsidiary shall entrust the Bank to lend RMB2,000 million (the
“Perpetual Loan”) to the Borrower. The Perpetual Loan bears
interest at the benchmark interest rate for loans over five years as
quoted by the People’s Bank of China per annum. During the
year, the Group had fully repaid the Perpetual Loan.

N_E—tF+_HA=+/\B ' K7
—XRE2ENBARI(EHALD » —RE
ZWB AR M —RBIT([RITI)FTLE
TERmZ (CKABEFRBE])  BHE
ZMBRARZERITAMEBRAED
2,000,000,0007C A R# ([5)K A B FK]) ©
KABFTIZPEARBITFAMERR
FHEFHELEFFEGE - FR - K
SEERBHEBEKAER -

29. BORROWINGS 29. fERK
2022 2021
—E=-= —E=—F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FER T
Non-current FERED

Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITIER - BEHRQ) 1,386,825 3,204,312
Bank borrowings, unsecured (a) RITIER - EEH Q) 11,329,880 7,961,774
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b) ERES - BEH# Db 2,332,362 3,303,115
Bonds, unsecured (c) B EEH (0 893,197 —

Loans from non-controlling shareholders of a —XWEB R R IEEAR

subsidiary, unsecured (note 39(b)) REZERK
B (M3E39(0)) 1,234,064 —
17,176,328 14,469,201
Current mE

Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITIER - BB Q) 3,143,723 —
Bank borrowings, unsecured (a) RITIER - EEH Q) 2,975,325 6,547,465
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b) ERES - BEH# Db 973,837 —

Loans from non-controlling shareholders of a — KM B A RIFEER

subsidiary, unsecured (note 39(b)) R ER - &K
# (M7E39(b)) 39,554 —
7,132,439 6,547,465
24,308,767 21,016,666

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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e % WK M

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. &R (@)
(@)  Banking facilities @ IRITHE
The Group's aggregate banking facilities, including bank RZZEZZF+=A=+—8H"
borrowings, as at 31 December 2022 amounted to REEZRITRVE 25 (BIERTT
approximately HK$26,036,545,000 (2021: HK$22,132,989,000), 18 3%) 49 5 26,036,545,0007% 7T (=
of which approximately HK$7,140,630,000 (2021: T~ —4F 1 22,132,989,000/8 7T) -
HK$4,359,702,000) was unutilised. As at 31 December 2022, Ho REARLE X /R7,140,630,000
the collateral for the banking facilities was as follows: BIL (ZZ = —%F : 4,359,702,0007#

L) RZB-__F+-_HA=1—
B AEEERERSRBRITE

BZzEAmBAT :

()  Properties under development with carrying (i)  BRM{E%912,729,428,0007% 7T
amounts of approximately HK$12,729,428,000 (2021: —F = —1%F :6471,763,000
HK$6,471,763,000); BT ZERTYE

(i)  Property, plant and equipment with carrying () BRME{E #9195,283,000/8 T
amounts of approximately HK$195,283,000 (2021: R F B\ 2ME-
Nil); PR B 2

(i) Investment properties with the fair value of (i) A B #186,457,0007%8 TT
HK$186,457,000 (2021 Nil); —ECFE)ZREY

g

(iv)  100% equity interest in a subsidiary; and (v) —RIMBRA R Z100%[% 2

=R

(v)  Corporate guarantees given by the Company. v  ARBFEZRAIER -
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29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Guaranteed bonds

U]

On 26 April 2013, the Group issued the guaranteed
bonds (“2013 Guaranteed Bonds”) with a principal
amounts of US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000
bearing interest at the coupon rates of 5.50% and
6.50%, per annum respectively. The 2013
Guaranteed Bonds of US$125,000,000 will be
matured on 26 April 2023. The 2013 Guaranteed
Bonds with a principal amount of US$225,000,000
were matured on 26 April 2018 and were repaid
accordingly. The 2013 Guaranteed Bonds were
guaranteed by the Company and had the benefit of
a keep well deed from China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.
Upon the occurrence of a change of control
triggering event, the bondholders will have the
right, at the bondholders’ option, to require the
Group to redeem all, but not some only, of the
outstanding 2013 Guaranteed Bonds at 101% of
their principal amounts, together with accrued
interest. If the Group would be obliged to pay
additional tax amounts in respect of the 2013
Guaranteed Bonds as a result of any change in, or
amendment to, specified tax laws or regulations, all
outstanding 2013 Guaranteed Bonds may be
redeemed at the Group's option, in whole but not in
part, at their principal amounts together with
interest accrued up to but excluding the
redemption date.

The Group may at its option redeem the 2013
Guaranteed Bonds at any time, in whole but not in
part, at a Make Whole Price as of, and accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to (but excluding), the
redemption date.

29. &K @)
TEARE %

(b)

(i)

-z

ZZFR

RZE—=FWA=+~
B AEBEEHTERES
([Z2—=FBREFH]) -
K £ E 5 Al 4225000000
2 7T % 125,000,000% 7 © =
M F F X5 Bl A5.50%H
6.50% * 125,000,0003< JTH) —
T —FRREFBR-Z
—=FEWMA=-+xBEH -
7K 4 4 %8225,000,0003 JT £
:x—EiFﬁﬁ%E#:
—N\FEA=+/SAEH
&1,5\%' T ZFERE
FIBAARERER  WXH
AR &) F 412 B AR 5 A B
iiﬁ%%zf B4 0T 7k © AR
NEIEEESIES AR
=& BEHFBEABRER
HEZZRKRAAEEHERD S
*B(ﬁﬁ#*ﬁ 7)) REEHN-F
—=FHEREFZ101%8E
HREAE o ﬁlﬁiﬁ
BERIOE R BB NER
BHASEEAR = r—:¢
BREFZITEINGIE 2
B (ERMIER D) REED
T =FRREFAEAR
SBEEWEDR  BERe
BHAASEBEREZETEE
ERBAHZ 2517 B o

AEEF] BITEREETMAR
ﬁM%ﬁ TN - B
BERELN _T—=F#RF
E% &m@@$@ﬁDE@
B MR a s E R MR
MB(E) -
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31 December 2022

—ET-—F+=-A=+—H

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Guaranteed bonds (Continued)

(b)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

0]

(Continued)

“Make Whole Price” means with respect to the 2013
Guaranteed Bonds at any redemption date, the
greater of (1) the present value of the principal
amount of the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds, plus all
required remaining scheduled interest payments due
on the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds from the optional
redemption date to the maturity date (but
excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the option
redemption date), computed using a discount rate,
which is the rate per annum equal to the
semi-annual equivalent yield in maturity of the
comparable treasury issue, plus 0.50 per cent, and
(2) the principal amount of the 2013 Guaranteed
Bonds.

Early redemption options are regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host debt
instrument. The Directors consider that the fair value
of the above early redemption options was
insignificant on initial recognition and as at
31 December 2022 and 2021.

The effective interest rate of the 2013 Guaranteed
Bonds at the end of the reporting period was 6.85%
for USS$125,000,000 as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

29. &K @)

(b)

ERES (B)

(i) (%&)
[BREERIZEE-_T—=F
ﬂiﬁ%%?\&ﬂﬁﬁ B B H R
TR &EE() —=FE

1%1%#]1@%% Bt
—E—=FERESFDTR
WER ASERHAME %
TR E (BB IR EREIE [
BHMET ERGRBE)
FRANPTIRRBSHNE %
TEBRRBEARFFESRDY
FHRE - INEBD Z2050%
Q=T —=FEREHAARX
@ °

REELEESREEEE
TEAWEZIBRMBRAI
PTETH - E5RA LR
BERERYIRERRE KR
TECCFR T —F+
A=+ —AMARELET
EKRe

RIBE-_—_FR-_FT——F
+=A=+—H - 125000,000
ERT _E-=FHERES
B E R FIE 56.85% °



29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Guaranteed bonds (Continued)

(ii)

On 22 July 2021, the Group issued the guaranteed
bonds (“2021 Guaranteed Bonds”) with a principa
amount of US$300,000,000 bearing interest at the
coupon rate of 4.95% per annum. The 2021
Guaranteed Bonds will be matured on 22 July 2026.
The 2021 Guaranteed Bonds are guaranteed by the
Company and have the benefit of a keep well deed
from China Minmetals, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company. Upon the occurrence
of a change of control triggering event, the
bondholders will have the right, at the bondholders’
option, to require the Group to redeem all, but not
some only, of the outstanding 2021 Guaranteed
Bonds at 101% of their principal amounts, together
with accrued interest. If the Group would be obliged
to pay additional tax amounts in respect of the
2021 Guaranteed Bonds as a result of any change in,
or amendment to, specified tax laws or regulations,
all outstanding 2021 Guaranteed Bonds may be
redeemed at the Group’s option, in whole but not in
part, at their principal amounts together with
interest accrued up to but excluding the
redemption date.

The effective interest rate of the 2021 Guaranteed
Bonds was 5.10% as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

29. &K @)
EARE % (8)

(b)

(ii)

-z

ZZFR

RZE-Z—FEA=-+=
B AEBEEHTERES
([Z2=—FBREFH]) -
K & & ¥ 4300,000,0003%
UL ZEF FE B495%
—EC—FREREFBRZ
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31 December 2022

(@)

T _Ft+=ZA=+—H

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. &R (@)
Bonds o &F
On 8 June 2022, the Group had lodged an application to RZEZZF-ANH ~&H
the National Association of Financial Market Institutional MABERITETSR 2B HE R
Investors, for the issuance of domestic directional debt HEE BTERNTREERE
financing instruments (‘domestic directional debt financing TRA(ZZEZ—_FEAEMRES
instruments in 2022") that were applied for non-public BETH] BHERECRESE
issuance to specific investors. On 16 August 2022, the FAREIT - RZTEZ_FN\AH
application had been approved. On 21 September 2022, +RNB ZEBEENE - R
the Group issued this unguaranteed bonds (“2022 Bonds") T —FNA=Z+—H AKHE
with a principal amount of RMB800,000,000 bearing 1T 7R 4 800,000,000 7C A R EEEY
interest at the coupon rate of 4.6% per annum. The 2022 BEREF (I ZFTZ__FF
Bonds will be matured on 19 September 2025. %)) EEFNERICN T
ZHFEHFRBR=ZZTE_AFNAT
JLBEIHE] -
The effective interest rate of the 2022 Bonds was 4.71% as RZEZZF+=ZA=+—8H"
at 31 December 2022. R _FEFNEBRENER
471% °
The maturity of the Group’s borrowings is as follows: d AEBERZBBBERAT :
2022 2021
—E-= —E—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Bank and other borrowings RIT R HEME K
Within one year —FRr 6,158,602 6,547,465
In more than one year but no more than —FEME
two years 6,717,230 3,206,806
In more than two years but no more MEZERF
than five years 7,233,539 7,063,757
More than five years FFU E — 895,523
20,109,371 17,713,551
Guaranteed bonds and bonds BRESRES
Within one year —FRA 973,837 —
In more than one year but no more than —FEWE
two years — 971,924
In more than two years but no more MEERF
than five years 3,225,559 2,331,191
4,199,396 3,303,115
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29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(e)  Bank and other borrowings totalling HK$18,835,754,000
(2021: HK$17,713,551,000) are interest bearing on a floating
interest rate basis. The weighted average effective interest
rates at the end of the reporting period were as follows:

29. &K @)

(e)

18,835,754,000/8 L (=& = —F :
17,713,551,0007 7T ) 2 $R77 & EAtb
BFIRZ BT L5 B o AR B
HBEZMEFHERMNERT

2022 2021
—E-C —E - —4F
HK$ RMB HKS RMB
BT AR HBTT AR
Non-current FE R &
Bank borrowings IRITIERX 6.25% 4.41% 1.93% 4.80%
Loans from non-controlling — XK B R R IR
shareholders of a &R 2 B 5K N/A N/A N/A
subsidiary TERA 6.18% i A 38 A
Current mE
Bank borrowings AT N/A
5.87% 4.75% 1.95% N iE A
() The fair values of borrowings approximate to their carrying (f) RZAREEEREERS °

amounts. The fair values are determined based on
discounted cash flows.

(@ The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

t&
AREDRCURREREETE -

AEBEERZREEIIATIE
IR -

2022 2021
—EgE-C —_EF_—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TATT

HKS BT 15,316,514 15,487,110

RMB AR #& 5,686,054 2,226,441

uss ETT 3,306,199 3,303,115

24,308,767 21,016,666

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

30. DEFERRED TAX

30. IEZEBIIE

2022 2021

—EB=-= T

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FAT

Deferred tax assets IEAER T A BE 754,807 871,999
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEEE (316,495) (370,398)
438,312 501,601

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the

year are as follows:

FRECHEEERABENESHNOT

Deferred tax assets EEHEBEBEE
2022 2021
—E-= — T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Tax losses HIAEE
At beginning of the year =) 22,082 34,066
Exchange differences [E o =58 (406) 421
Recognised in the profit or loss RIBESTER 2,961 (12,405)
At end of the year F IR 24,637 22,082
Temporary difference on accruals and contract ~ fEEtERARENAEE
liabilities 2=
At beginning of the year F 4] 757,935 374,885
Exchange differences fE N =58 (61,827) 11,371
Recognised in the profit or loss NIBZRTER (62,994) 371,679
At end of the year F R 633,114 757,935
Others Hfb
At beginning of the year =) 91,982 33,939
Exchange differences & X =58 (8,315) 1,848
Recognised in the profit or loss RIBRER 13,389 56,195
At end of the year F IR 97,056 91,982
264 |
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30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 30. & LE IR (a0
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHEEE
2022 2021
=== —E-—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Fair value gain A ERE
At beginning of the year F7) 171,937 223,109
Exchange differences 5 ER (21,587) 10,932
Recognised in the profit or loss M8 R (30,960) (62,104)
At end of the year FR 119,390 171,937
Accelerated tax depreciation IRFIBT &
At beginning of the year F4 28,972 26,956
Recognised in the profit or loss RIB SR 3,147 2,016
At end of the year F 32,119 28,972
Undistributed retained earnings RO IRRBEF
At beginning of the year F4 106,466 78,020
Payment during the year FRRK (7,750) —
Recognised in the profit or loss i8R R (4,052) 28,446
At end of the year Fax 94,664 106,466
Others Hth
At beginning of the year F1 63,023 38,281
Exchange differences N ER (5,850) 1,477
Recognised in the profit or loss Rz TER 13,149 23,265
At end of the year FIKR 70,322 63,023

R FR

ARBERRDA
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31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

In respect of HK$847,729,000 (2021:HK$899,102,000) temporary
difference associated with undistributed retained earnings, the
Group has not recognised deferred tax liabilities of
HK$42,386,000 (2021:HK$44,955,000), as the Directors currently
intend not to distribute the retained earnings outside Mainland
China in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward
to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefits through
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group had unrecognised tax losses in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$1,686,235,000 (2021:HK$1,281,075,000) which
can be carried forward against future taxable income and have
no expiry date, and unrecognised tax losses in Mainland China of
approximately HK$759,308,000 (2021:HK$465,479,000) which will
expire at various dates up to and including 2027, with amount of
HK$222,247,000 tax losses generated from the acquisition of
Chengdu Xiangkuang Real Estate Co. Ltd. in 2022, as it is not
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the
tax losses can be utilised.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$1,081,775,000 (2021:
HK$354,759,000) that have not been recognised as deferred tax
assets as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % WK M

30. iE ZE 4 18 (@)

EEHEE S @)

R IRIREE B F B BR RS = £ 5847,729,000

HBIT(ZF = —4F : 899,102,000/ 7T) °

MR E BRI & BN AR RAGRE

BA DR E R BEARIEN AL EL
4 o b T SRR AL B 1R & (5 42,386,00078 7T

(_ T — —4F : 44,955000/8 7T ) °

wt,\c.iﬁﬂi%ﬁﬂaEEWZLLMIE&F
THA BB F=RA 1 6EFE B AR K
FERTL R AR 2 B /FJ%I?E R-ZZE—
—E+-A=Z+—H AEBREBA
HEEPKEARRERRBA Z RKER
TR 75 B 18 49 /1,686,235,00078 70 (—F =

—4F : 1,281,075,00078 7T) * H I & 5| HH
B - mERBEAMES 2 AERTHIEE
B ’]7%759308000/%%(_” —F:
4654790008 7T) - REE Tt F
(BIEZE) L2 TR B A AR =
S FRENBEEEEBRARE
A B B T8 5 18 55222,247,00078 7T 0 A A
AR AT BE B FER T A vl (L ) B B TE &
BIAEIK S -

REBEER  AEBE M AERBELER
TR & E R Al R R R 2 855 1,081,775,000
7T (& — —4F : 354,759,000/ 7T)
B A A F] B/ FE AR B % K AT 4L ) A ]
HORR R By 2= B DAEIR 8 o



31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31. EZ R EMENSRE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Trade, bills and contract payables (b) T)’E& &4
JE H K (b 2,413,338 3,188,827
Retention payables ﬁéﬁﬁﬁ.ﬁ 26,697 21,972
Accrued construction costs, other accruals and ~ FEETESEER - Hith
other payables FEETE R R H M
J& - 3R IE 5,832,214 6,470,109
Rental deposits received Bk eZze 10,410 8,927
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (note 39(b)) & B R /E A A
A (T EE39(0)) 2,613,562 1,090,401
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of & {5t} /&8 X &1 FF4% A%
subsidiaries (note 39(b)) AR 3R FRIR
(Bt 3E39(0)) 585,540 2,054,568
Amounts due to associates (note 39(b)) FE B 2 R B3R
(Bt 5E390 ) 2,021,119 2,463,129
Amount due to a joint venture (note 39(b)) Eff—xR&<E QA
HIE (i FE39(b)) 57,219 41,666
Deferred revenue (c) FEIEW A () 271,363 316,528
13,831,462 15,656,127
Less: Deferred revenue, amortise after 1 year B IERBEEETZ
shown under non-current liabilities 33 v
EFEWA (250,256) —
Amounts due for settlement within 1 year shown REIAEE N Z1ER
under current liabilities Btz &% 13,581,206 15,656,127
1 267
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

(@)  The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are
denominated in the following currencies:

31. ES R HMENFIE @
25BN RE Y EEE T

(@

AT B 51K -

2022 2021
—s=-= —E- %

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHE T

HKS BT 510,040 521,990
RMB AR & 13,257,950 15,070,147
uss$ eI 63,472 60,327
MOP SELPT — 3,663
13,831,462 15,656,127

(b)  The aging analysis of trade, bills and contract payables of
the Group based on invoice date is as follows:

(b)

AEEES FBRRAHNEMNK
RERNBERBERZREROTAT :

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Within 90 days 90H A 1,205,235 1,503,667
91 to 180 days 912180 H 181,691 388,955
181 days to 1 year 18BIRE—4F 531,540 974,484
1 year to 2 years —FEMF 340,507 98,687
Over 2 years A A b 154,365 223,034
2,413,338 3,188,827
()  Deferred revenue @ IBEEWA

As at 31 December 2022, included in deferred revenue was
a government subsidy of HK$268,131,000 (2021:
HK$312,500,000) towards the cost of construction of its
assets. It transferred to other income on a systematic basis
over certain period when the related assets commence to
use.

R-_TE-_—F+-_HF=+—8"
SFAETEW AR AT EEE
3 E% Ak AR B9 & B)268,131,00058 JT
—ET——4 :312,500,000/87T) °
EEMEERKREAR  ERA
THRZEGEEEE T H 4
WA e
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32.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

32. B ERE

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—%F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET FHT

Sales of properties SHE W 11,415,551 15,848,803

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to

approximately HK$12,787,885,000.

The Group receives the considerations in advance from sales of
properties to customers. The advance receipts result in contract
liabilities being recognised until the customer obtains control of

the completed property.

During the year, HK$7,140,383,000 (2021: HK$8,713,780,000) of
revenue recognised relates to brought-forward contract liabilities.

33.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

R-_ZE-_—F—HF—H A4y8aE2%
%8 5 #912,787,885,00078 TT, ©

AEERATEFHEMFARNKE - B
WHREERERGNAE EEEFP]
BEERMENES -

FA BRI AF7,140,383,000/%8 T
Z—E—% :8,713,780,000/8 7T ) W K &5
EEAHNEHNEE-

33. Hitpi K &EE (& E)

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Derivatives under hedge accounting HimEst N 2iT4E
I8
Other financial assets Bt BEE
Cash flow hedges — Interest rate swap (a) IR &8 ¥
— &= H(a)
Matured after twelve months 1218 A 1% 2 87 31,270 =
Other financial liabilities Hi B aE
Cash flow hedges — Interest rate swap (a) BeREHH —
F == H (a)
Matured within twelve months 1218 A 7 2 A — 18,868
Matured after twelve months 1218 A 1% 21 87 — 4,571
— 23,439

R FR

ARBERRDA
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31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

33. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

(CONTINUED)

(@)  Cash flow hedges:
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following interest rate swap contract designated as highly
effective hedging instruments in order to manage the
Group's interest rate exposure in relation to the bank
borrowings on a floating interest rate basis. The Group
entered into interest rate swap contract in which the
Group would receive interest of one-month HIBOR and pay
monthly interest at a fixed rate based on the notional
amount of HK$1.0 billion (2021: HKS$2.0 billion).

There is an economic relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument as the terms of the
interest rate swap contract match the terms of the
expected highly probable forecast transaction (expected
payment date of the bank interests). The Group has
established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging
relationships as the underlying risks of the swap contract is
identical to the hedged risk components.

31 December 2022

33. Hit MK &EE (&)

(@

WEREE P -

RIFEIR  NEEHES T 545
EEBSE AR H T AEFI R
BHAK  BEHETBEAEERE
ZENF R B 2 RITIE AT E Y
BRI R &L B o AN 5 B B AT 3 I R
BEHAY Bt NEEE KR
—ERAETRITRERETEZ
FE RREBEZESBIOESB T
(ZZE——F: EET)RETE
FEZBAME -

WEHIHEE RERTAZHEFE
RERE AASNEEHEON
FRFRETEH = R R BE TR R R 5
iR GRITH BRI 1 A 81)
TR - RS QR EER
e £ 4% S b &9 [ fx 4B KRB 0 4R
[l - ARE SR HRBERREE 18
g puiln S

—E-—Ff-A=+-¢

Swap
=8

Notional amount Maturity
ERTH FHA

Other financial assets

Hib 15 & E

HK$1,000,000,000 January 2024
1,000,000,0007% 7T —E-_WF—A

31 December 2021

From floating rates to

fixed interest rates

P % B A R = B E A R

—F-—%tZA=t—H

Swap

Notional amount Maturity
EERTHE B

Other financial liabilities

Hinr s & &E

HKS$1,000,000,000 October 2022
1,000,000,0007% 7T —E-=F+A
HK$1,000,000,000 January 2024
1,000,000,0007 JT —ENE—A
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33.

34.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

(CONTINUED)

(@) Cash flow hedges: (Continued)
During the vyear, fair value gain of HK$54,709,000 (2021: fair
value gain of HK$36,407,000) has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.

PENSION OBLIGATIONS

The Group participates in a defined contribution pension scheme
and a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") scheme for the eligible
employees in Hong Kong. Before 1 December 2000, a defined
contribution pension scheme was provided to certain eligible
employees employed by the Group. The Group ceased the
contributions since 1 December 2000, upon introduction of the
MPF scheme.

Under the MPF scheme, the Company and each of the Hong
Kong subsidiaries of the Company make monthly contributions
to the MPF at 5% of the employees’ cash income as defined
under the MPF legislation. Contributions by both the Company/
Hong Kong subsidiaries and their employees are subject to a
maximum of HK$1,500 per month per employee and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The Group’s contributions to the
pension scheme and MPF scheme are expensed as incurred.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the
Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement plan for its
employees in Mainland China as determined by the local
government. The Group is required to contribute to the plan at a
certain percentage of its employees’ salaries as specified by the
local government, and the Group has no further obligations for
the actual payment of the pensions or post-retirement benefits
beyond the annual contributions made.

33.

34.

HtBBEE (B6)w@®

@ JRerREHH: (B)
RAEE - AR EHRE54,709,000
BL(ZE=_—F  2aEKZE
36,407,000/ 7T) B R E fib 2 E
HAER > WA EZE R o

RAKEEE
AEELHEBECEREE2RTEHEM
REAREFTERBHERES ([8E
EDEt8 —FTETF+-_A—-RBZ
Al AREREBRAZETAERESR
RH—FERUFRASAE - N31E
wEEFEE  AEEE_TTTF+
“A—BREEFELABHK -

RIEBREEFE ARARARAEE
BB ARAE AREERERESA
BIERZETWAZSNIEL RIES M
Ko RXRR,/BEENBRARAREEEZ
FARRERY REAIIEE 15008 -
B@ R BIMREEREEE - X
KB RAEFE kBB S HRR
EERY|X o

RIBFBE A OERRE  AEESE
TEAMESREMBRFRERBRRE
BRIRFT EIMEH R - AEEAZM S
B2 REZE—ELLHINE T TERZ
AEIER  AREHERBNNERKRS
SR IR AR N AR 6 2 R
—FERG

—T-—F HEHMEERAT
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31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

35. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS

On 11 January 2022, the Group acquired 51% interest in
Chengdu Xiangkuang Real Estate Co., Ltd.("Xiangkuang"), which is
engaged in real estate development. The purchase consideration
for the acquisition was in the form of cash, with approximately
HKS$65,623,000 paid at the acquisition date.

As there is no other asset (excluding cash and prepayment)
acquired, the Group considered that the acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Xiangkuang as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

35. WIBEE

RZE-_—_F—H+—H AXEEHIKE
HEEEEXEER AR ([BHE])51%4HE
AN ERMERRE - WEEE
A B8 B R (B 4965,623,00078 7T AR & AU
AT -

HRYERMKBEE(TEEREER
BNRE)  AEERRKEN— XTI
EBREEWIF—MEE-

FREAANEERBENKREBSHNA
REMT :

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

WS s i 58 2

NN

HK$'000

FHET

Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted PNERHIR S RIBITHER 65,703
Inventories EE 1,608,723
Other receivables E b JE Y RIR 2,401
Other payables Eh FE T 5RIR (1,550,402)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BARBEFERBNEEFERE 126,425
Non-controlling interests FE P2 I e 2 (60,802)
Satisfied by cash AR & T A 65,623

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a
subsidiary is as follows:

WE—ENEARNRESRESTNT :

HK$'000
FHT
Cash consideration paid BNBRESRE (65,623)
Less: cash and bank deposits acquired B BEREEIR S RIBITHER 65,703
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included & AKREBEBHREESRENR LB S
in cash flows from investing activities ZEMRA TR 80
272
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

36. M RERERME

Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before tax to (a) BRBiAT (BE) SRRELE
cash (used in)/generated from operations: % (A, MELEREZ
B :
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (518), % A (1,022,757) 1,063,934
Finance income WA (178,863) (249,115)
Finance costs BE TS BN 138,144 163,076
Depreciation e 46,000 55,260
Fair value changes on investment KEMENREED
properties 68,814 153,467
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised ~ FEEAE EEEER T
under expected credit loss model (E1#), TR
WIEE R (1,145) 13,640
Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for FERERECRE
impairment of inventories o] 4% ) 550,403 (47,598)
Share of results of associates DG E R R EE 786,422 264,007
Share of results of joint ventures DiHEERAIEE (137,773) (48,253)
Operating profit before working capital LEESEHA 2L
changes =ikl 249,245 1,368,418
Decrease in inventories FEER D 3,065,916 45,145
Increase in prepayments, trade and other FENFIB - BH ME
receivables fth & 5 TR IR 3 AN (77,853) (1,955,521)
Increase in financial assets at fair value FEiREHMEE W EE
through other comprehensive income NREFEZIHE
BEEN (28,338) =
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets AHEERD
(3% hn) 141,893 (77,143)
Increase in contract costs A HIRK AN IE 1N (39,282) (123,020)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other B 5 Rk H AR IR
payables CRA), /18 hn (1,775,189) 3,634,944
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities EHEBERELERZ
and deferred revenue CRLA) /1N (3,107,943) 2685217
Decrease/(increase) in cash and bank ZPRHI3E & R IR1TE
deposits, restricted FOR A (HE ) 352,781 (877,313)
Exchange adjustments bE H S (240,031) 217,135
Cash (used in)/generated from operations &2 %75 (BT ) /Bt
EXE® (1,458,801) 4,917,862

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

TES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. ZEREHRERMZT @
(b) METHFELEEBEHER

Non-cash changes

FRE2H

1 January Financing Exchange Other Interest 31 December

2022 cash flows ()  adjustments  changes (ii) expense 2022

—E-CE

—EC-CF g +=A

-B—-B B&REnH ERAZ Ht280) FERX =t+-8

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000

THAT TERT THAT TERT THAT TER

Guaranteed bonds ERES 3,303,115 - 3,084 - - 3,306,199

Bonds &% - 931,440 (38,243) - - 893,197

Bank and other loans RITREMER 17,713,551 1,428,387 (297,579) 1,265,012 — 20,109,371
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries &t Rl Z KB A7

B 1,090,401 1,615,603 (92,442) — — 2,613,562

Amounts due to associates FEATEE AR IR 2,463,129 (233,189) (208,821) - - 2,021,119
Amounts due to non-controlling  EFHI B A AIFEE

shareholders of subsidiaries USSR 2,054,568 (11,304) (174,183) (1,283,541) — 585,540
Amount due to a joint venture ERN—RKEERH

] 41,666 19,086 (3,533) - - 57,219

Lease liabilities HERME 51,505 (36,240) (3,893) 15,000 2,542 28,914

26,717,935 3,713,783 (815,610) (3,529) 2,542 29,615,121

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (conNTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

36. MEBRERERM =T @

(b) MEFBFELEREZHE

financing activities (Continued) (&)
Non-cash changes
FReEY
1 January Financing Exchange Other Interest 31 December
2021 cash flows (i) adjustments changes (ii) expense 2021
—E-—&
2o -F TZA
—R—RB RERLREN EXEE  Hu2) fEmx =1+—A
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS000
THT TBT THT TBT THT TBT
Guaranteed bonds EREH 3,287,288 16477 (650) = - 3303115
Bank and other loans BITREMIER 16,283,835 1,342,004 58510 29112 — 17713551
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries R R ZHBAR
U 1,543,209 (498,108) 45300 — - 1,090,401
Amounts due to associates B ERRHE 2,283,256 112850 67,023 = = 2463129
Amounts due to non-controlling ERHBAREER
shareholders of subsidiaries REFA 1,792,178 209,781 52,609 — — 2054568
Amount due to a joint venture ER-REERA
HE = 41,666 = = = 41,666
Lease liabilities HEAME 71743 (29,876) 39 - 3599 51,505
25,267,509 1,194,834 222831 29,112 3599 26,717,935
@) The cash flows from bank loans and other borrowings make up the (i) RERITERREMMERZESR

net amount of proceeds from borrowings and repayments to
borrowings in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(i) Other changes include amortisation of front-end fee of interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

BRKGARSRERTEIME

RIERERERZFHE -

(ii) Hip BB Et S RITERGHE

Rz -

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % WK M

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

36.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (coNTINUED)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the

36. mEBREREXRMH T @

() HERSRHLAE
RARSRBRANBERSR

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: MARREAT ¢
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Within operating activities BEEFA 21,089 21,511
Within financing activities BEEFA 36,240 29,876
57,329 51,387

(d) Major non-cash transaction
During the year ended 31 December 2022, loans of
HK$1,283,541,000 from non-controlling shareholders of a
subsidiary were transferred from amounts due to
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, which
constituted a non-cash transaction.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2022, guarantees given to banks for
mortgage facilities granted to certain purchasers of the Group's
properties amounted to HKS$8,919,141,000 (2021:
HKS$11,189,256,000). Such guarantees will terminate upon the
earlier of (i) the issuance of the property ownership certificate
which will generally be available within one year after the
purchasers take the possession of the relevant properties; or (ii)
the repayment of mortgage loans by the purchasers. After taking
into account the net realisable value of the related properties
and the low default rate, the Directors consider that the fair
values of the financial guarantee contracts at initial recognition
and subsequently at the end of each reporting period are not
significant.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

d EXFRERS
REBEZZT__F+_A=+—
BIEFE B RARZIFEZERE
B 301,283,541,00078 7T & B FE
B B A 5] FE 50 A% AR SR SR IE 8 B A
R BRIERERS -

7. BBER

RZZEZZF+=-—A=+—H ®%ET
REEMEER 2IRBRE ML FIRT
2 YEIR#8,919,141,000/8 T (=& = —
F 1 11,189,256,000/870) ° Z FHERF R
YR BEAERRI  (VEEMENF
BE(RAREXEERAWEL —F
WIEER) 5 2k (i) ERERIRBRK - EEE
ZEMENERFERMEENLE &
ERBMBERENREIARBES R
HEHRHARBLTERK ©
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38.

39.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. EAXEIE
The Group had capital commitments as follows: REEFERAENT :
2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Contracted but not provided for: EHEREES T
Expenditure in respect of acquisition of land use 7 [ 4 3t & F3 #E U B8
rights ZAX 1,550 —
Expenditure in respect of property, plant and BEWE - WE k&
equipment H2HAXZ 221,337 —
Expenditure in respect of investment properties HREAREME Z X 183,729 —
406,616 —

Capital commitments mainly include contractual commitments
for the acquisition of land use rights and contractual obligations
to purchase, construct or develop property, plant and equipment
and investment property or for repairs, maintenance or
enhancements.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's certain
inventories transferred to property, plant and equipment and
investment properties when there was evidence of a change in
use. Therefore, the corresponding capital commitments increased
accordingly.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
China Minmetals, which is controlled by the PRC government.
Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed below or in other notes
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group also
conducts businesses with entities directly or indirectly owned or
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the
PRC government (‘government-related entities”) in the ordinary
course of business. In establishing its pricing strategies and
approval process for transactions with other government related
entities, the Group does not differentiate whether the
counter-party is a government-related entity or not. The Group is
of the opinion that it has provided, in the best of its knowledge,
adequate and appropriate disclosure of related party transactions
in the consolidated financial statements.

39.

BAAEIZEREBINERENS
RIASE  ANEE  ZEXREYE
BB MBHEHMEE  REXBCERED
ENBERER -

BE_Z-_—_F+-A=1t—HIEF
B EEEBERPBEEREMNER K
SEMNETEFEEREYE  BEMR
EAREEUFEHE - At - HEMNE
A IRNE A ATIg N o

BB S X5
AEEARFHRPEAE(ZARBTP
BB AFZES) E T — REKE AR AAE
BB o BR DA ARG B 75 gk E A B
AR ENERG AR RENERRET
MR FZI  AEBTRERXBGBIET
B BT E RS AR A S -
RZEHEZERZENE R ([HTEEH
X ETRBER - AREREEAM
BT AERE R XY R 5 TE BT R EH
BIERWESHHTRE SBUNHEED
R-AKERR  BERM  ER&
BUBBERANBEN RS LT RE
EHWE -

—T-—F HEHMEERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % WK M

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BEE AR5 @)
(CONTINUED)
The Group has entered into various transactions, including sales, REE B P B R B E M BT AR B 1 5
purchases, borrowings and other operating expenses with other FINEZIER S (BIEHE - BE Bk
government-related entities during the year in which the HiKEBR) MEERS BEL
Directors are of the opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain TR RZER SRS A EEM BT
the identity of the counterparties and accordingly whether the HREEETIHIER -

counterparties are government-related entities.

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed in notes 8, BrEF IS TRARPIEES © 90 21 R3VFTRFILAY
9, 21 and 31 to the financial statements, the Group had the R MEHIN  NEEEEFH H R AN E
following material transactions and balances with related parties, ERER—MREBHFETZIEARG R
which were carried out in the ordinary and normal course of BRI -

business of the Group:

(a) Transactions with related parties (a) BEERB A 2R 5
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T

Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries for 48 TR XM B A AlA

real estate development projects (i) MEMEZRIAR
ZEEEKAN() 2,360,873 2,810,306
Management fee income from fellow BIEES =N
subsidiaries (ii) BIRE A 2,794 4813
Rental and management fee income from  [A) [&] i /8 2 5] 42 EX
fellow subsidiaries (i) HeRERE
WA Gii) 8,956 9,582
Interest expenses on lease liabilities with a A1 — %K [F KM B A &l
fellow subsidiary (iv) XNz HEBER
Biv) 180 235
Interest expenses to fellow subsidiaries (v) AR Rl B A 7 X 1+
Z BT H W) 7,335 41,058
Interest expenses to non-controlling M fT /8 A ) 2 FEFERR
shareholders of subsidiaries (v) BRZA2HMBEL
i (v) 112,197 127,575
Interest income from a fellow subsidiary — EL—KRF &M B A
(viii) Al FLEA (viii) 34,583 44,122
Interest income from an associate (ix) W — KB &N A2
FLE U A (%) — 1,788
Interest income from joint ventures (x) WELE &R A2 &
WA (%) 84,293 136,729
Interest income from non-controlling U BB /8B A B2 FEdE
shareholders of subsidiaries (vii) AR A% 3R 2 F B A
(vii) 28,196 26,026

278 I —————
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BB HF X5 )

(CONTINUED)

(b) Balances with related parties (b) EERAEE &gk

2022 2021
—s=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET

Construction payable to fellow subsidiaries &1 R X B A 7] 2

for real estate development projects (i) EHEZREIEEZE
EFIA() 1,593,036 1,633,625

Lease liabilities with a fellow subsidiary (iv) AR — KR XM B R
PN 4=%-{(%) 9,243 3,000

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (vi) XRIEE L= NGIE:
T8 (vi) 2,613,562 1,090,401

Amounts due to non-controlling FE BT /B 1 R R AR
shareholders of subsidiaries (vi) A% B8 ZTE (vi) 585,540 2,054,568
Amounts due to associates (vi) JE A<F B & X =) FRIA (vi) 2,021,119 2,463,129

Amount due to a joint venture (vi) e — %E\%A GIES
6 (vi) 57,219 41,666

Amounts due from non-controlling FE LT B A B2 FEdE
shareholders of subsidiaries (vii) HQHX%W\IE (vii) 5,244,098 4,962,606
Amounts due from associates (ix) JE W Bk 2 R B FRIE (ix) 955,518 1,052,958
Amounts due from joint ventures (x) ElEER TT T8 (x) 2,751,595 3,054,411

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary (ix) U —K[RE R B
A) I (ix) 2,687 —

Current deposits placed in a fellow GFER—XRARWEB
subsidiary (viii) A a2 s B AF R (viil) 3,320,865 3,651,743

Loans from non-controlling shareholders of KRB —ZRKIB AR 2

a subsidiary (xi) IR ZER
(xi) 1,273,618 —

Perpetual loan with a fellow subsidiary *E—RRARXMEL

(note 28) A ZKABERK

(Bt 5E28) — 2,448,182

R FR

ARBERRDA

279



280

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries for real
estate development projects were based on terms
mutually agreed by both parties.

Management fee income and receivables from fellow
subsidiaries of the Company were based on the
terms in the agreements entered into between the
parties involved.

Rental and management fee income received from
fellow subsidiaries of the Company was based on
the terms in the agreements entered into between
the parties involved.

The Group has entered into a lease agreement for
the use of an office with a fellow subsidiary for three
years in 2022, based on terms mutually agreed by
both parties.

Interest expenses to fellow subsidiaries and non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries were based
on terms in the agreements entered into between
both parties.

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Except for the balances of HK$704,830,000 (2021:
HK$809,075,000) bearing interest at 3.85% per
annum, the amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries are interest-free. The
balances are unsecured and repayable on demand.

The interest rate of the current deposits placed in a
fellow subsidiary which is a non-banking financial
institution ranges from 0.46% to 1.15% per annum.
The balance of current deposits was included in
cash and bank deposits.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

39, FA B4

(b) E2FE
()

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

R 5 )

B 2 56k ()
REMEREEBL TREK
BB R )2 R EERK AN Th ik &
FHABEZ GRET -

A RRRRZMBRRZ
ERBRATREBEEBTNQ
77 T a] 3 % 1R i o 2 1R REE
=

EEAVNSIICES = FNZIEN: )
HekEBEEWRATDRER
BARI KT RIS Z A% 2

{RFREE °

REBE—RE R BAF
RZZZ—FHEETRE=
F2RWARHERZRE - HE
RE R KRBT Z KR -

RIEE =N = PNE]
R R A 2 M B h
TIRBEB BRI W] Z

A IRREETE ©

B RRREAR - HB2
AISEERRARR B A AR
SEARZRETEEH
%8 RAREFEE -

& %5 #2704,830,00078 7T (=
T~ —4F 1 809,075,0007 7T )
BETE  FFE B385%
JiE s B BB 2 B FE T B AR SR K
BAERE - B BERT R
BIRBKIEE -

GFER—XRARWBRF
GERTTS BigiB) 2 /E 1T
RIEEBRFEFE046%E
1.15%T B o JEHI 7 3R 64 58
AR S RIERITER



39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(c)

(ix)

(xi)

The amounts due from associates and a fellow
subsidiary are interest-free. The balances are
unsecured and repayable on demand.

Except for the balances of HK$1,930,373,000 bearing
interest at 8.8% per annum (2021: HKS$1,853,412,000
borne interest at rates ranging from 6.0% to 8.8%
per annum), the amounts due from joint ventures
are interest-free. The balances are unsecured and
repayable on demand.

At 31 December 2022, the loans from non-
controlling shareholders of a subsidiary were
unsecured, bearing interest at 6.2% per annum and
repayable within 1 year to 4 years.

Key management compensation

39. BEE AR F @)

(b) EEEREER 246k ()
() FEUEEE DR R —RE KK
BRAAZHEARS - &8
REIEIE R AR E KIS -

(x) F‘?,\uﬁ% 1,930,373,0007 7T & &t
R R A88% (Z B = —
¢ ©1,853,412,0007 JT & 5t
BRI R AH60%E88%)
ElEERBIFIBEARE
R BERRRARES 1;
ﬁ

x) RZZBEZZF+ZA=+—
B RE—XWBAEIZIE
%m&%z%%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ '
FREE620RBR—FE
PUFEANEE -

() EEEBAEZEHM

2022 2021

—=E-= T —F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

TR FHET

Salaries and short-term employee benefits ¥ & & 52 818 B & F 8,296 10,420
Pension costs — defined contribution BREKAN — EREMH

plans ErEl 317 320

8,613 10,740

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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31 December 2022

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

—E_—_#+-fF=+—H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

Nd_TES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR ELE:

40. REFETHWHMBETA

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T 8

As at 31 December 2022

Financial assets

RZZEZZF+=ZA=+—
MEEE

Financial assets at
fair value through
other

comprehensive

R|BEMR - S BT AERREER

income
EREM2EKE
BAfESERZ
BMkEE
Financial assets at
fair value through Equity Financial assets at
profit or loss investments amortised cost Total
EBBEEANE REBHAETIRZ
SRZHMBEE BARE BEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT THERT FET FTERT
Financial assets at fair value FEREM2EKE
through other BARENEZ
comprehensive income BT & EE — 401,428 — 401,428
Other financial assets Hih 15 A E 31,270 — — 31,270
Trade receivables B 5 WA — — 140,525 140,525
Amounts due from associates MBS & 2 B FUE — — 955,518 955,518
Amounts due from joint i RN F
ventures - — 2,751,595 2,751,595
Amounts due from non- AP A B 2 3E
controlling shareholders of PERRAR R RIE
subsidiaries — — 5,244,098 5,244,098
Amount due from a fellow Y — KRR B
subsidiary NAIRIE — — 2,687 2,687
Financial assets included in BIERERNIE
prepayments and other B 5 REME
receivables WO TE A ) B 7
BE - — 241,310 241,310
Deposits B& — — 153,450 153,450
Cash and bank deposits, XRHIR S RRIT
restricted &3 — — 724,314 724,314
Cash and bank deposits, TREHIHRE R
unrestricted RITFR — — 7,701,361 7,701,361
31,270 401,428 17,914,858 18,347,556
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 40.

CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2022

BRERNESWHBE TR @

R-ZFZ—F+-A=1+—H

Financial liabilities MEaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
2 85 A A B BR
2B a&E Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TFHET
Borrowings &3 24,308,767 24,308,767
Trade, bills and contract payables BY ZBRRENER
FIE 2,413,338 2,413,338
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary BN —XERE R A
IR 2,613,562 2,613,562
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders  FEAFf & 2 7] JE32 AL B 2R
of subsidiaries HIA 585,540 585,540
Amounts due to associates FE AT B & A B FRIR 2,021,119 2,021,119
Amount due to a joint venture FERT— E\%’D\ AIRIE 57,219 57,219
Financial liabilities included in other payables /&7 7 £ i & {~ B R BY
HBaE 5,630,483 5,630,483
Lease liabilities HEEE 28,914 28,914
37,658,942 37,658,942

B CER

ARBERRDA
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31 December 2022

- —F+=-A=+—H

CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2021

Financial assets

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R & B R R A

40. IZERE P WEE T A @

RZEZ—F+=-HA=+—H
BBEE

Financial
assets at fair
value through

other
comprehensive
income
FEREAM
EEWEE
NREFEZ
WBEE
Financial assets
Equity at amortised
investments cost Total
bivg i In N
BARKE BReHBEE Bt
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FAT FAT FAT
Financial assets at fair value FREMEEWREAR
through other comprehensive  BFfEZ B EE
income 555,433 — 555,433
Trade receivables 2 5 W RIE = 139,732 139,732
Amounts due from associates g NE P O] = 1,052,958 1,052,958
Amounts due from joint B A & R RIFIA
ventures — 3,054,411 3,054,411
Amounts due from non- FEUS BT /B A F) 2 FEFE AR AR
controlling shareholders of REIE
subsidiaries — 4,962,606 4,962,606
Financial assets included in BIERBERNFIE B K
prepayments and other H ith & Yo RI8 A B9 B 7S
receivables BE = 237,611 237,611
Deposits e — 211,351 211,351
Cash and bank deposits, Z PR IR & RIRITFER
restricted — 1,077,095 1,077,095
Cash and bank deposits, TZRHIIRE RIBITFR
unrestricted — 10,956,126 10,956,126
555,433 21,691,890 22,247,323
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As at 31 December 2021

Financial liabilities

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

40. IREHE MBI TAE @

RZEZ—F+=-HA=+—8H

MEaE
Financial
liabilities at fair Financial
value through liabilities at

profit or loss ~ amortised cost Total
FHRBE IR
AREFEZ  REHEKART
MEaE ERoMBEE 5t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHT T FHETT
Borrowings B — 21,016,666 21,016,666
Trade, bills and contract B9 ZEEREDEN
payables RIE = 3,188,827 3,188,827
Amounts due to fellow P& R R Y 8 A B 5RIE
subsidiaries — 1,090,401 1,090,401
Amounts due to non-controlling  FE{ BT B 2 &) FE 428 A% I 5R
shareholders of subsidiaries FRIH — 2,054,568 2,054,568
Amounts due to associates JE < B & X R 5RIE = 2,463,129 2,463,129
Amount due to a joint venture B —KAE R BIFIA — 41,666 41,666
Financial liabilities included in B ¥R E b & ZRIBAHY
other payables B aE — 6,101,754 6,101,754
Other financial liabilities Hi g aE 23,439 — 23,439
Lease liabilities HEAR = 51,505 51,505
23,439 36,008,516 36,031,955

R FR

ARBERRDA
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs
approximate their fair values. The fair values are estimated using
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flows.

The financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income represent equity securities listed in Hong Kong. As at

BT EREZAREBERAARE
[E 4%

EEARRBHERAAENTBEER
MHAENEREREAAEBERE A
AEDERAREEBELRIEHRRA S
mAGET

iﬁ%@ﬁ@’iﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiz,ﬂ?fﬁ
EFE%“%&F%%LWZ%$§*

31 December 2022, equity securities amounting to RZEBE-_—_F+_A=+—8H" &
HK$401,428,000 (2021: HK$555,433,000) was measured at fair % £401,428,0008 0 (= = :—i
value and based on quoted market prices of an active market 555,433,000/%75)EL/\’&/‘ME&#E%EH%

(Level 1) at the end of the reporting period.

Other financial assets represent interest rate swap contract
designated as highly effective hedging instrument in order to
manage the Group's interest rate exposure in relation to the
bank borrowings on a floating interest rate basis. As at
31 December 2022, fair value of other financial assets amounting
to HK$31,270,000 (2021: other financial liabilities HK$23,439,000)
was measured at the present value of future cash flows
estimated based on the applicable yield curves derived from
quoted interest rates at the end of the reporting period and
contracted interest rate discounted at a rate that reflects the
credit risk of various counterparties and categorised in Level 2.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2021: Nil).

HARMS (F—H) 25 RENES

Ht B EERE T EARERIA
NARIEHAEL  HENERERAER
ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ1m2ﬂfﬂmom:g
T+ RA=+—H Ht¥WKEE
Z“A@ﬁmzmmm%mhf7f—
& EAh B 7S & 523,439,000/ 7T) ¢
E&%Fﬁ%MAfﬁﬁ(aﬁ%%i
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow

(a)

interest-rate risk, fair value interest-rate risk and equity
securities price risk for financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income), credit risk and liquidity risk.
These risks are managed by the Group's financial
management policies and practices as described below to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

(i)

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.
Majority of the subsidiaries of the Group operate in
Mainland China, with most of their transactions
denominated in RMB, functional currency of the
respective group entities. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from the exposure of
RMB against USS. It has not hedged its foreign
exchange rate risk.

In addition, the conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the exchange rate, and rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

At 31 December 2022, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against USS with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year
would have been Nil (2021:Nil) higher/lower mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of assets and liabilities denominated in a
currency that is different from the functional
currency of the Group’s entities.

(a)
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest-rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest-rate risk arises from
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on restricted and unrestricted bank deposits and
borrowings issued at variable rates. Other than the
concentration of interest rate risk related to the
movements in Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
and the loan interest published by the People’s Bank
of China, the Group has no significant concentration
of interest rate risk.

The Group maintains a close relationship and
communicates regularly with its finance providers to
explore financing alternatives to monitor and
mitigate interest-rate risk. The Group has entered
into interest rate swaps to hedge against its
exposures to changes in cash flows of its certain
interest payments of borrowings (see note 33).

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for
non-derivative instruments at the end of the
reporting period. No sensitivity analysis has been
presented for bank balances as the Directors
consider that the fluctuation in interest rates on
bank balances is minimal.

If interest rates on HK dollar-denominated
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, (i) post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 would
have been HK$15,617,000 (2021: HKS$4,000,000)
lower/higher in respect of the finance cost charged
to the profit or loss; and (i) properties under
development would have been increased/decreased
by approximately HK$112,790,000 (2021:
HKS$109,117,000) for finance cost capitalised into
properties under development.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest-rate risk (Continued)

If interest rates on RMB-denominated borrowings
had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, (i) post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2022 would have
been HK$14,118,000 (2021: HKS$13,396,000) lower/
higher in respect of the finance cost charged to the
profit or loss; and (i) properties under development
would have been increased/decreased by
approximately HK$12,248,000 (2021: HK$3,302,000)
for finance cost capitalised into properties under
development.

Fair value interest-rate risk

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates
primarily to the guaranteed bonds issued at fixed
rate.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
the financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair
values at the end of each reporting period.

Equity securities price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
because of investments held by the Group and
carried at fair value on the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group’s equity securities
price risk is concentrated on equity instruments
operating in property development industry sector
quoted in the Stock Exchange. The Group will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.

If the market value of the equity securities held by
the Group increased or decreased by 10% and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's
equity would increase or decrease by approximately
HK$40,143,000 (2021: HKS$55,543,000) as at
31 December 2022.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk primarily arises from deposits
with banks, trade and other receivables, contract
assets and guarantees provided in respect of
mortgage facilities (note 37).

The credit risk on deposits with banks is limited
because the counterparties are banks with sound
credit ratings assigned by credit-rating agencies.

In respect of trade and other receivables and
contract assets, individual credit evaluations are
performed for those debtors with significant
increase in credit risk or related parties. These
evaluations focus on the customer's financial
position, past history of making payments and take
into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. For the rest which
consist of a number of customers with common risk
characteristics, the Group uses aging to assess the
impairment. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers. Monitoring procedures
have been implemented to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade and other receivables and contract
assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure
adequate provision for impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

]
R FR

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables are collectively assessed based on
provision matrix as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
within lifetime ECL, except for those with significant
increase in credit risk which are further assessed
individually. As at 31 December 2022, the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables assessed
collectively was HK$155,054,000 based on provision
matrix.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided
HK$14,529,000 (2021: HKS$15,246,000) and Nil (2021:
Nil) impairment allowance for trade receivables and
contract assets respectively, based on the provision
matrix. In addition, as at 31 December 2022, the
Group provided HK$29,148,000 (2021:
HK$30,293,000) and Nil (2021: Nil) impairment
allowance for trade receivables and contract assets
with significant increase in credit risk which were
assessed individually.

The credit risk on other receivables is limited
because most of the counterparties are related
parties with sound credit. For other debtors or
related parties, the impairment allowance was
immaterial for both years.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group has assisted in arranging bank financing
for certain purchasers of property units and
provided guarantees to secure obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. If a purchaser defaults on
the payment of its mortgage during the term of the
guarantee, the Group is able to retain the property
sales proceeds received from the purchasers and sell
the property to recover any amounts paid by the
Group to the bank. The management considers the
credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided
to property purchasers is limited because the
facilities are secured by the properties and the
market prices of the properties are higher than the
guaranteed amounts.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on loans
to related parties and amount due from related
parties, but the exposure is considered limited as the
counterparties are at a good financial position.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk on trade and other receivables and contract
assets, with exposure spread over a number of
customers.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks, which
are mainly state-owned banks and with high credit
ratings in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

42, IEEREERERE @

(a)

Bt 7 @ B A 3= (&)
(i) 1SEEBR BT ()

AEBECDHHRETYEE
N2 BERTHRITHE - I
HERCEERBRHEE
& o B REERBREER
BB - AIAKEARE
BEFPERIRZMEHEMS
IR - WP G E AEE
AEERNTRITZER -
EEERRABEERHED
MBEROEERRER
AAEMBRE I RMERE
R BEEMENTESR
EREHE -

AEE ST B M
U B RSt 5 SR AR (E B & T
Rk HERBEBRAR
BRI AR RET

AEEIEHE 5 K EME
WA R BN EEAEER
EESTRAR AREHEE
BOBRZREF °

AEBRERRNE TR
(EERBARITRNTE
A R EBEEFRDHR
THRBECEEEESR
R o

I —————
MINMETALS LAND LIMITED



42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

(ii)

42 IEEREERERE @

Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) MERBREZX @)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 1EERERERBEFFEG (&)
(Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging SN &S A = F
The tables below show the credit quality and the TRETRERAKEEER
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the RWEEEERGEREER
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past b HEZ AR B HEH
due information unless other information is available (BRIEEEHMEFTBZAR
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging K THERA RS HER) R
classification as at 31 December. +Z A=+ —HHEFELRR
Bl °
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts T BANBEENRE
for financial assets. wiE -
As at 31 December 2022 RZEBEZZF+ZA=1+—
H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A EH
FEFR 2UBHEEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£-% ot E=85 GR(474 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TET TER
Trade receivables* g 5 g — - — 184,202 184,202
Amounts due from associates JE B R R R
— Normal** — [EE* 955,518 — — — 955,518
Amounts due from joint ventures  EURA & A RIFIE
— Normal** — Eg* 2,751,595 - - - 2,751,595
Amounts due from non-controlling  FEUFf B 2 7) 2 FEHE R
shareholders of subsidiaries e
— Normal** — Eg* 5,244,098 - - - 5,244,098
Amount due from a fellow EY—RAZNELA
subsidiary HIE
— Normal** — EE* 2,687 — — — 2,687
Financial assets included in BERENTE - B5
prepayments and other R A EKHIEARN
receivables AR
— Normal** — EE* 248,208 — — — 248,208
— Doubtful** — R — — 15,887 — 15,887
Deposits e
— Normal** — B 153,450 — — — 153,450
Contract assets* BHEE" - - - 144,360 144,360
Cash and bank deposits, restricted 2[R HIR & RIBITER
— Not yet past due — KB H 724,314 — — — 724,314
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEED
— Not yet past due — KB 7,701,361 — — — 7,701,361
17,781,231 — 15,887 328,562 18,125,680

R FR
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(ii)

42 BIEEREERERE @

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BI#EKEEZE @)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 15E/E R BEFE (E)
(Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging S=ERRFEBARR (&)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2021 N=ZB=—F+=—A=+—
H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 785
=EEE 2HEHEEBE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£ F-& E= 5Ll 9zA @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET THET FAEL THET
Trade receivables* B ZEKFE = = = 185,271 185,271
Amounts due from associates JENUEE & R R FOR
— Normal** = IR 1,052,958 — — — 1,052,958
Amounts due from joint A B ARFE
ventures
— Normal** — E&E* 3,054,411 = = = 3,054,411
Amounts due from non- =N P 30
controlling shareholders of B
subsidiaries
— Normal** — FE= 4,962,606 — — — 4,962,606
Financial assets included in BEREAFE  B5K
prepayments and other H At R Y RRIA R 9 A1
receivables KEE
— Normal** — &= 251,556 = = = 251,556
Deposits ik
— Normal** — Ez 211,351 = = = 211,351
Contract assets* ANEE = = = 286,253 286,253
Cash and bank deposits, X HHEE RFATFR
restricted
— Not yet past due — k@8 1,077,095 — — — 1,077,095
Cash and cash equivalents Re kRS EEN
— Not yet past due — KB H 10,956,126 = = — 10,956,126
21,566,103 — — 471,524 22,037,627

*¥

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies

the simplified approach for impairment.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments and other receivables is considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii)  Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities. Management aims to maintain flexibility in
funding by keeping credit lines available.
Management monitors the rolling forecasts of the
Group's liquidity reserve (comprising undrawn
borrowing facilities (note 29(a)) and cash and bank
balances (note 25) on the basis of expected cash
flow.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities at amortised cost into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the
end of the reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including both principal and interest). To the extent
that interest rates are at variable rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of each reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial
instruments. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted contractual net cash (inflows)
and outflows on derivative instruments that settle on
a net basis. When the amount payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by
reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of
the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the
Group's derivative financial instruments is prepared
based on the contractual maturities as the
management consider that the contractual
maturities are essential for an understanding of the
timing of the cash flows of derivatives.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued)

TES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42 ERARBEEZRERE @)

(a) MERREZE @)
(i) GEE L E R (E)

Total
Within Between Between undiscounted Carrying
1year 1and2years 2andS5 years cash flows amount
RER
- -Z@E MELE HEREAHR REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TERL TR TET
As at 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZA=1+-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities FNERBEE
Borrowings EES 8,384,134 7,349,987 11,434,328 27,168,449 24,308,767
Trade and other payables LHREMENTE 8,043,821 - - 8,043,821 8,043,821
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary ERRZNBARZE 2,613,562 - — 2613562 2,613,562
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of FERBARFEERREHE
subsidiaries 585,540 - - 585,540 585,540
Amounts due to associates ERBEARE 2,021,119 - = 29 2,021,119
Amount due to a joint venture ER—RAERAH 57,219 - - 57,219 57,219
Financial guarantee contracts HBERSH 8,919,141 - - 8,919,141 -
30,624,536 7349987 11434328 49,408,851 37,630,028
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND 42, BIEEREEZERERE @

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) MEEREEZE @
(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (iii) 7 By E % B e (4)
Total
Within Between Between Over  undiscounted Carrying
Tyear Tand2years 2and S5 years 5 years cash flows amount
RER

—Fn  -EmF WMERF  BFNL RENBHE HEE
HK$'000 HKS'000 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 000
TAT TATL TAL TAT TATL TAL

As at 31 December 2021 RZB=-§
T-A=1-A
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiTENBER
Borrowings &R 7133330 992,180 22883330 21016666
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTE 9,290,581 - 9,200,581 9,290,581
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ERRZHBAR
HR 1,090,401 — 1,090,401 1,090,401
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of  FET T2 RIFER R
subsidaries REFE 2,054,568 = 2054568 2,054,568
Amounts due to associates RS ARHE 2463129 = 246329 2463129
Amount due to a joint venture ER-REEAT
HR 41,666 — 41,666 41,666
Financial guarantee contracts HBERAN 11,189,256 — 11,1895 =
33,262,931 4,580,202 10,177,618 992,180 49012931 35957011
Derivatives — net settlement TR — 548
Interest rate swaps Hl&im 25678 (1,761) (382) = 23535 23439
' 297
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based
on expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the Group considers that it is more likely than not
that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safequard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The total equity and borrowings of the Group represents
the capital structure of the Group. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including current and
non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and bank
deposits.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (conTINUED)
(b) Capital risk management (Continued)
The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are

42 IEEREERERE @

(b) EXEREE @)
RZEZ—FR T -—F+=

as follows: A=+—RAzaELENT :
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FiBT
Total borrowings BRAEEE 24,308,767 21,016,666
Less: Cash and bank deposits o IRE RRITER (8,425,675) (12,033,221)
Net debt B H5 15,883,092 8,983,445
Total equity e e HAEE 16,812,098 23,117,911
Gearing ratio BELE 94% 39%

43. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 43. LR EHE

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform ETHRESBEENHE  LWEAFED

to current year’s presentation.

2IRFT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

31 December 2022 =ZE==#F+=A=+—8H

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 44, T ENE A FFHEE
SUBSIDIARIES

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at (@) RA=FE-_—_F+=-A=+-—
31 December 2022: B ENBAFSIXK:
Percentage of equity interest
RAERES L
2022 2021
it et -4 —T-_-F
Particulars of issued share Directly  Indirectly held Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ ital/paid-up capital held by the by the held by the held by the
Name of subsidiary operation (note (i)) Company Company Company Company  Principal activity
BRORA/MRRARE ZRas08 BEAALE  ERAARE  BEAKRE
KEARER HRRL/ EE% (GE0) BE B #5 BE TERH
Best Pearl Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
1,000 shares with no par value
BRERERAR &k 1000 7T NERE
1000R & A
BERZERHERLERAR Mainland China RMB778,013,150 - 100 - 100 Real estate development

(Boluo County Bihua Property Development
Company Limited ‘Boluo County Bihua') (iii)

BEEZZRBERZERAR FEML 778013150 AR FHEXR
(BB2Z))6)

IRBEEERERAR Mainland China RMB12,001,000,000 - 100 — 100 Provision of management
(Minmetals Shengshi Guangye (Beijing) Co, Ltd) senvice and investment
holding
AREERE LR ERAT PR 12001000000 AR % RHEEREREARR
Bright Circle Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 — 100 Property investment
10,000 shares with
no par value
BERAR &b 10000757 NERE
1000 EEE
Eastrend (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HKS2 - 100 — 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
RE(ER)ERAR &k BT NERE
WREAE
BUTREEHEREERAR Mainland China RMB520,000000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Foshan Kuangsheng Property Development Co,,
Ltd)
BUTREEBERSBRAR PERM 5200000007 A% FHERR
Excel Capital Global Ltd. British Virgin Islands Uss1 100 - 100 — Fund raising
1 share of USS1 each
Excel Capital Global Ltd. RBRAES EH &%
\REBRERIZT
Expand Lead Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - 100 — Fund raising
1 share of USS1 each
RHARAR RERLES 1% £%
\RERARIZT
Great Way Properties Limited Hong Kong/Mainland China HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
BREXERAR &5/ RENL BT NERE
WREAE
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

List of principal subsidiaries as at
31 December 2022: (Continued)

(a)

4. TEMBE LA TFE @

(a) R=ZEBE-ZF+=ZH=1+—
H> TEMBAFSK:

(%)
Percentage of equity interest
BRARHAS L
2022 2021
kSt 1 —T-—F
Particulars of issued share Directly Indirectly held Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ capital/paid-up capital held by the by the held by the held by the
Name of subsidiary operation (note (i)) Company Company Company Company  Principal activity
BRORA/MRBRARE ZRa408 BEGLLE  EE6ARE  BEHARE
KWEARER 2R/ EE% (B&EG) B8 kR #5 BE TEEH
ENTHERMEREBRAR Mainland China RMB120,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangyue Property Development Co,,
Ltd)
EMTRERBERSERAR FEMAL 1200000007 AR FHERR
BIHEERERAT Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Kuangjin Property Development Nanjing Co, Ltd.)
BRLERRERARA HER 1000000007 A R FHERR
BENEARERAF Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Kuangmei Property Development Nanjing Co, Ltd)
BXHEERERAR HER 1000000007 A R FHERR
BARt EERHERSERAR Mainland China 15555,000000 - 50 - 50 Real estate development
(Langfang Kuangshi Jiye Property Development Co,
Ltd. *Kuangshi Jiye") (iii) & (iv)
BYREEXEHERTARAT FER 5500000037 FHEER
(THRHEREZ ) i R (v)
Linkcheer Limited Hong Kong HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
ERARDA ik 2ET nERE
WRERE
Luck Achieve Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong Us$2 - 100 — 100 Securities Investment
2 shares of USS1 each
FEARAA RBRIER/BR ET BHRE
WREBREEIXT
Massive Leader Limited Hong Kong HKS1 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
1 share with no par value
ERERAR EE 17T FHERR
IREEE
Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Company  Hong Kong HKS1 - 100 — 100 Design and installation of
Limited 1 share with no par value curtain walls
HBREA(BE) IRERAR &k BT Rt R ERE
IRERE

ARBERRDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

31 December 2022 =ZE==#F+=A=+—8H

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 44, T BB A TFEE @)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at (@) RA=FE-_—_F+=-A=+-—
31 December 2022: (Continued) B ENBAFSIXK:
(%)
Percentage of equity interest
BRABHAS L
2022 2021
kSt 3 —T_—F
Particulars of issued share Directly  Indirectly held Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ ital/paid-up capital held by the by the held by the held by the
Name of subsidiary operation (note (i)) Company Company Company Company  Principal activity
BRORA/MRBRARE ZRa408 BEALLE  EE6ARE  BEHARE
KEARER ELEAE E3 (B3EG) B’E kR #5 BE TEEH
Minmetals Land Capital Limited British Virgin Islands Uss10 100 - 100 — Fund raising
10 shares of US$1 each
IBRRARERAR ABRAES 0%7T &%
WRERERIXT
Minmetals Land Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$990 100 - 100 — Investment holding
99 shares of US$10 each
Minmetals Land Investments Limited ABRRES/BE 990%7T RERR
WRERABIET
TRBRREEE R BERARA Mainland China RMB4,971,652952 - 100 — 100 Provision of management
(Minmetals Land Investment Management (Beijing) service and investment
Co, Ltd) holding
IBERRAEE(IR)ERAR HE R 497165292 AR REEERBRRARR
IRBERDREERAA Mainland China RMB280,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Wuhan) Development Co, Ltd)
DRLE (RE)REERAA FERAL 2800000007 AR FHERR
IRRR(ENEEEL£ARAR Mainland China US$100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Yingkou) Hengfu Properties Co,
Ltd) (i)
IRER(Z0)EREFERAR PERL 1000000003 70 EHERR
HEBRREHERZERAR Mainland China RIMB600,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Hunan Kuangdai Property Development Co, Ltd.)
HERKELERRBRAR PERL 6000000007 A RH FHERR
ONFEM Finance Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1,000 100 - 100 — Provision of financing for
1,000 shares of USS1 each group companies
ONFEM Finance Limited ABRAES/EE 1,000 7T AEEARARERE
100RERARIZT
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

List of principal subsidiaries as at
31 December 2022: (Continued)

(a)

4. TEMBE LA TFE @

(a) R=ZEBE-ZF+=ZH=1+—
H> TEMBAFSK:

(%)
Percentage of equity interest
BRARHAS L
2022 2021
kSt 1 —T-—F
Particulars of issued share Directly Indirectly held Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ capital/paid-up capital held by the by the held by the held by the
Name of subsidiary operation (note (i)) Company Company Company Company  Principal activity
BRORA/MRBRARE ZRa408 BEGLLE  EE6ARE  BEHARE
KWEARER 2R/ EE% (B&EG) B8 kR #5 BE TEEH
Oriental Dragon Construction Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong and HK$10000 - n — 71 Investment holding
Mainland China 10,000 shares with no par
value
RAEERARAR B/ BERTENL 100007570 RERR
1000 EE1E
Texion Development Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 - 100 — 100 Property investment
50,000,000 shares with no par
value
PRERERAR EE 5000000077 NERE
50000000 & (&
Top Gain Properties Limited Hong Kong/Mainland China HKS2 - 100 — 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
EREXERAR &t/ AN W NERE
WRERE
Virtyre Limited Hong Kong HKS20 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
Virtyre Limited i WHT NERE
WHERE
RENERHERZERAR Mainland China RMB350,000000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Wuhan Runling Property Development Co, Ltd)
RERBEHERRBRAA FER 3500000007 AR FHEER
ENEEEHERZERAR Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 - 51 — 51 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangrong Property Development Co,,
Ltd) (‘Guangzhou Kuangrong’) (i)
EMNBEREAEREERAR FEMAL 1,000000000TC AR RHERR
(TEMmER D) (i
BEERERAR Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Kuangzhong Property Development Nanjing Co,
Ltd)
BTHEERERAR HER 1000000007 A K% RHERR
HEBREEERAR Mainland China 15$45,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Hunan Kuangxiang Real Estate Co, Ltd) (i)
AERRERERAR () FEMAL 4500000057 RHERR
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'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

31 December 2022 =ZE==#F+=A=+—8H

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 44, T BB A TFEE @)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at (a) R=ZEBE-_ZF+=-H=1+—
31 December 2022: (Continued) B TEMBARIE:
(%)
Percentage of equity interest
BRABHAS L
2022 2021
kSt 3 —T_—F
Particulars of issued share Directly  Indirectly held Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ ital/paid-up capital held by the by the held by the held by the

Name of subsidiary operation (note (i)) Company Company Company Company  Principal activity

BRITRA/MRRARE ER4ALE MEAALE  ERARRA  MEAAAF
HEAREE ELEAE E3 (B3EG) B’E kR #5 BE TEEH
ENTHEEEREBRARA Mainland China R\B2,400,000,000 - 51 = 51 Real estate development

(Guangzhou Kuangmao Property Development Co,,
Ltd) (‘Guangzhou Kuangmao) (i)

EMTBXEBERSERAR FERAL 24000000007 AR FHERR
(TEMmTR ) (i)

RTREEERSERAR Mainland China RMB900,000,000 - 51 =
(Shenzhen Kuangrun Property Development Co,,
Ltd) (‘Shenzhen Kuangrun”) (ii)

RATRARLEREERAR R 9000000007 AR FHERR
(PRSI D) i

o

Real estate development

ENTHEREAERAR Mainland China RMB2,500,000,000 - 51 — 51 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co,, Ltd)
(‘Guangzhou Kuangyu') (ii)

EMTBRBRAERAR FERAL 25000000007 AR & FHERR
(TREMmER ) i)

ENTRARMEREBRARA Mainland China RIIB2,181,280,000 - 459 = 459 Real estate development

(Guangzhou Pincheng Real Estate Development
Co, Ltd) (‘Guangzhou Pincheng’) (il

EMTRARLERSERAR FERAL 2181280000 AR K FHERR
(TEM &) i)

KAEHEEZERAR Mainland China RMB300,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Chengdu Shengkuang Real Estate Development
Co, Ltd)

BRBERERERAA FERL 3000000007 AR FHEZR

REBREELERAR Mainland China RMB200,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Chengdu Kuangyi Real Estate Development Co,,
Ltd)

RBBEEEERAR PERAL 2000000007 AR % EHERR

ABRHEREREERARA Mainland China RIMB612,244,900 - 51 — 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land Hunan Development Co, Ltd)

IBRERRREERAR PERAL 6124490 AR EHERR
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

List of principal subsidiaries as at

(a)

31 December 2022: (Continued)

4. TEMBE LA TFE @

(a) R=ZEBE-ZF+=ZH=1+—
H> TEMBAFSK:

(%)
Percentage of equity interest
BRARHAS L
2022 2021
kSt 1 —T-—F
Particulars of issued share Directly  Indirectly held Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ capital/paid-up capital held by the by the held by the held by the
Name of subsidiary operation (note (i)) Company Company Company Company Principal activity
BRITRE/MRRAHE ERAALE MEAALE  ERARRA  MEEARF
HWEARER 2R/ EE% (B&EG) B8 kR #5 BE TEEH
BWHENE) REERAR Mainland China RMB3,000,000 - 51 = 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Xiangtan) Development Co, Ltd)
HREE (R REERAT FER 8000000TEA R FRERR
REHERR) BEERAR Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 — 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Taian) Development Co, Ltd)
RLE (FR)REERAT FER 10000000TEA R FHERR
R RERHERRERAR Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 — 51 Real estate development
(Taian Runling Property Development Co, Ltd)
FRRAREHERRBRAA FER 10000000TEA R FHERR
Bt EGEMNERAF Mainland China RMB2,197,250,000 - 55 — 55 Real estate development
(Kuangjin Property Development (Suzhou) Co, Ltd)
(‘Kuangjin’) (v)
BIE (B M) BRAR HER 2197250000 AR K FHERR
(E:£1)0)
HERERHEREERAR Mainland China RMB400,000,000 - 51 — 51 Real estate development
(Hunan Kuangya Real Estate Development Co, Ltd)
(‘Kuangya')
ARRERHEREERAR HER 400000000 A R FHERR
(s
KBEHEZERAR Mainland China RMB20408.200 - 51 N/A N/A Real estate development
(Chengdu Xiangkuang Real Estate Co, Ltd)
(‘Xiangkuang’) (vi)
BBEREXERAA(ER]) () HER 20408200 AR TR TR BRERR
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e % WK M

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at
31 December 2022: (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

(i) The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise
stated. None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital
in issue at any time during the year ended
31 December 2022.

(iiy  These are BB BEABEE D Z established in
Mainland China with operating periods ranging from
15 years to 40 years.

(i) These are NG EMRZ established in Mainland
China with operating periods ranging from 20 years
to 30 years.

(iv)  Although the Group owns 50% equity interest in
Kuangshi Jiye, it has control over Kuangshi Jiye by
holding 60% of the voting power over the board of
directors of Kuangshi Jiye, which require simple
majority votes of the directors on making decision
on relevant activities.

(v)  During 2021, the Group has received capital injection
of RMB988,760,000 from a non-controlling
shareholder, holding its equity interest in Kuangjin
to 55%.

(vij  On 11 January 2022, the Group acquired 51%
interest in Xiangkuang, with approximately
HK$65,623,000 paid by cash at the acquisition date.
On 16 January 2022, the Group and non-controlling
shareholder had agreed to convert their loans into
investment cost in Xiangkuang which amounted to
HK$875,726,000 (including HK$429,106,000
contributed from non-controlling shareholder) in
accordance with the respective shareholding.
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have materia
non-controlling interests:

Place of incorporation

4. TEMBE LA TFE @

(b)

and principal place of Proportion of equity interest held Proportion of voting rights held

ARBEAFERKRRERK
FEZEMBRARZHE

TREJAEBABEERFER
BEEEZFEEMBRRZHF

%

(Loss)/profit allocated to Accumulated non-controlling

Name of subsidiary business by non-controlling interests by non-controlling interests non-controlling interests interests
HMRIRTTEE FERRREZAE FERRRER A aFERRRERD B
WEARAH WY RAEEED L REEEDL 2 (58)/ 57 EHEZEY
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E--& -E-—® CZE--E -—E--F —E--& CZE--F
T=A T=A T=A +=A t=A T=A
=t-H E—F =t+-R =t-B ZBzZf ZT--% =t+-8 E—F
HK$000 HK5000 HK$000 HKS000
TET FEL TER THL
Guangzhou Kuangmao Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (19,392) 234637 1,324,258 1,647,092
BMBR FE R
Guangzhou Kuangrong Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% 4,794 206,742 754,229 819,060
MR RE R
Beijing Wanhu Mainland China 49% 49% 40% 40% 740 (7,740) 2,416,056 2,639,083
TREH FE R
Minmetals Land Hunan Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (35,938) (64,146) 1,379,608 1,545,155
HRNENR REAL
Guangzhou Kuangyu Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (16,453) 45 1,612,559 1779217
EMEE FE R
Kuangshi Jiye Mainland China 50% 50% 40% 40% 3,568 (11,429) 399,708 432,980
B EZ RE R
Shenzhen Kuangrun Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% 39,019 (1,748) 529,052 537,069
R FE R
Kuangjin Mainland China 45% 45% 45% 45% (6,882) - 1,099,432 1,208,503
] REAL
Xiangkuang Mainland China 49% N/A 49% N/A (12,210) N/A 439,034 N/A
& FE R TiEh TER TER TiEh
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests (199) 834 38,633 41,103
REFERRRELRNE
AIEEAMBEAR
(42,953) 377,602 9,992,569 10,649,268

Summiarised financial information in respect of each of the
Company’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financia
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.

BARASEEEEEANFEBRK
RiER 2B AR ERE
ZHIWMT - L THEERBE
KNEEANHER S -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEME
e BB RME

31 December 2022 =ZT==F+=-A=+—H

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
(Continued)

NTS

4. TEHB LA FFE @

(b) EEEXRFEERBRRESZN
F2EMNBLTZFRE @)

Kuangshi Jiye e B %
2022 2021
—=E-= —ET-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Current assets MEEE 1,689,751 2,116,900
Non-current assets ERBEE 1 8,455
Current liabilities VEE=RiT 890,336 1,259,383
Total equity e e B EE 799,416 865,972
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Revenue for the year REZWA 268,125 619
Cost and expenses for the year ANF E KA R S 260,990 23,476
Profit/(loss) for the year REERFN,(ER) 7,135 (22,857)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income AEFEHt2mE (2 H),/
for the year WA (73,691) 25,010
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AFEEEME (), WA
for the year R (66,556) 2,153
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from KEETHEERSRA
operating activities O i) #58 4,016 (43,815)
Net cash outflow from investing KREFHEARSRL
activities FE — —
Net cash inflow from financing activities BE /& EEER KA
R — —
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BERA/CRL) F8E 4,016 (43,815)
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 44, T BB A TFEE @)

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEARFEZERBERERN
that have material non-controlling interests F2EHB LR ZFE @
(Continued)

Beijing Wanhu It REH
2022 2021
—E-= — T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Current assets mENEE 5,311,693 5,831,580
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,275 2,486
Current liabilities ViE2E=RiT 383,241 448,183
Total equity e R 4,930,727 5,385,883
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Revenue for the year REZRA — 89,735
Income/(expenses) for the year REFWA(ZH) 1,510 (105,530)
Profit/(loss) for the year REERN,(ER) 1,510 (15,795)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income AGFEHt2m (2 H),/
for the year WA (456,666) 153,807
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AFEEEME (), WA
for the year e (455,156) 138,012
Net cash inflow from operating LETHEERSTA
activities R 6,807 884
Net cash inflow from investing activities & & & E £IR &R
F R — =
Net cash outflow from financing EEEBEAR S RN
activities FER — —
Net cash inflow WEmAFE 6,807 884

R FR

ARBERRDA

309



310

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

31 December 2022

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

- —F+=-A=+—H

4. TEHB LA FFE @

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries

that have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

(b) EEEXRFEERBRRESZN
F2EMNBLTZFRE @)

Guangzhou Kuangrong -k £
2022 2021
—=E-= - —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Current assets mENEE 1,608,355 1,828,722
Non-current assets ERBEE 59 93
Current liabilities VEE=RiT 69,170 157,265
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE — —
Total equity e 48R 1,539,244 1,671,550
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Revenue for the year REZA 68,531 2447317
Cost and expenses for the year RELRARZ M 58,748 1,984,587
Profit for the year AN 2k A 9,783 462,739
Other comprehensive (expense)/income AEEH AL 2mE (),
for the year WA (142,089) 41,290
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AFEEEME (), WA
for the year R (132,306) 504,029
Net cash outflow from operating KEFEBEARSRT
activities HEE (194,201) (1,009,690)
Net cash outflow from investing KREFHEEHRSRL
activities il (5) (23)
Net cash outflow from financing BEEHEAE SR
activities R — (207,899)
Net cash outflow R m i FEE (194,206) (1,217,612)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 44, T BB A TFEE @)

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b)

AERBEAFERRREZHN

that have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

FEEMBER R ZHE @

Guangzhou Kuangmao V-Zk ¥4
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHT
Current assets mENEE 5,913,098 6,024,243
Non-current assets EMENE E 162,823 80,563
Current liabilities mEEE 3,373,353 2,736,422
Non-current liabilities EMEBBE — 6,971
Total equity ] 2,702,568 3,361,413
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Revenue for the year REZUWA 49,493 2,627,193
Cost and expenses for the year ANF KA R S 89,069 2,148,341
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (BE), =T (39,576) 478,852
Other comprehensive (expense)/income AEEH b 2@ (),
for the year L ON (619,269) 89,258
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AFEE2ME (), WA
for the year MR (658,845) 568,110
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from KEEBELAR
operating activities (R mAFRE (1,011,346) 951,133
Net cash outflow from investing KREFDEARSRL
activities R (137) (60)
Net cash outflow from financing BEEHEARES RN
activities R (349,290) (428,984)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be Ont),/ RAFRE (1,360,773) 522,089

R FR

ARBERRDA
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e BB RME

31 December 2022

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

- —F+=-A=+—H

4. TEHB LA FFE @

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

that have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

(b) EEEXRFEERBRRESZN
F2EMNBLTZFRE @)

Shenzhen Kuangrun YA
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Current assets mENEE 5,465,604 6,135,142
Non-current assets EMENE E 143,393 146,327
Current liabilities mEBEE 4,529,300 5,185,107
Non-current liabilities JEMEBEE — 302
Total equity MR 1,079,697 1,096,060
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTET FHT
Revenue for the year REFZRKA 353,192 —
Cost and expenses for the year REFRARZ M 273,562 3,568
Profit/(loss) for the year REZ @A, (EE) 79,630 (3,568)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income AFEEH b 2mE (),
for the year ON (95,993) 31,305
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AFEZ2ME (), WA
for the year #azE (16,363) 27,737
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from EEEHEER S
operating activities () WA FHE (332,765) 2,669,587
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BEEHEERSHEAN
investing activities (i) JH 58 75,637 (334)
Net cash outflow from financing BEEBEARS RS
activities FHE — (2,386,222)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be R/ MmATFE (257,128) 283,031

ANNUAL REPORT 2022




44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 44, T BB A TFEE @)

SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b)
that have material non-controlling interests

AERBEAFERRREZHN
FEEMBER R ZHE @

(Continued)

Minmetals Land Hunan B E R
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHETT
Current assets MENEE 4,486,365 6,896,878
Non-current assets ERBEE 818,101 937,760
Current liabilities mENB & 1,838,364 4,519,562
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 650,576 161,698
Total equity R 2,815,526 3,153,378
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Revenue for the year REZHKA 2,936,626 1,563,952
Cost and expenses for the year IE E KA F S 3,009,968 1,694,862
Loss for the year NEEEE (73,342) (130,910)
Other comprehensive expense for the ~ AEEH b2 M H
year (264,510) (42,672)
Total comprehensive expense for the ~ ANFE 2 E X HAR%E
year (337,852) (173,582)
Net cash outflow from operating KEFBMFRESRL
activities R (372,213) (382,526)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from KEEBEEHES
investing activities () mAFRE (1,249) 27,947
Net cash inflow from financing activities Ei & /EZEFTFIEERA
R 289,069 223,619
Net cash outflow R FE (84,393) (130,960)
313
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e BB RME

31 December 2022 =ZE==#F+=A=+—8H

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. TEHB LA FFE @

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

(b) EEEXRFEERBRRESZN
F2EMNBLTZFRE @)

Guangzhou Kuangyu M
2022 2021
—E-C %
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHT
Current assets MENEE 7,335,289 4,422,713
Non-current assets IERBEE 54,372 23,251
Current liabilities mEEE 2,079,745 812,135
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 2,282,730 220,157
Total equity e AR 3,027,186 3,413,672
Equity attributable to owners of the RRAEIHEE ARIEARE
Company 1,414,627 1,634,455
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou &M #2312 A% A% R dE 2
Kuangyu 1,358,396 1,498,438
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou & /NTEE M B A7) 2 FEHE
Kuangyu’s subsidiary AR A% R AE 2 254,163 280,779

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
(Continued)

4. TEMBE LA TFE @

(b) EAEEARFERKRRERM
FEEMBER R ZHE @

Guangzhou Kuangyu (Continued) BEMEE (F)
2022 2021
—E—_— —E-—4F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHER FHT
(Loss)/profit for the period attributable AN AL FEME (E518), Vi
to: A
The owners of the Company RABER A (14,081) 2,974
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou & M1 22 3 128 B A% B8 48 2
Kuangyu (13,528) 137
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou EM#EE M B A R 2 I
Kuangyu’s subsidiary i A% R e 2 (2,925) 315
Other comprehensive (expense)/income ANEEEMZ2m (),
for the year WA (355,952) 167,230
Total comprehensive (expense)/income ANFEEEME (ZH), WA
for the year FEE (386,486) 170,656
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive — LATN A L&A (E518), 3%
(expense)/income attributable to: MEk2@E(ZH)BA
4aEE
The owners of the Company RAREER A (219,828) 119,473
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou & JH B2 FE 128 P AR R M 25
Kuangyu (140,042) 42,866
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou B /NTEE M B A 7] 2 JEHE
Kuangyu's subsidiary e E (26,616) 8317
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from KEEHEERSRA
operating activities (R H) F58 1,226,625 (2,551,635)
Net cash outflow from investing BRETHELHRS AL
activities FER (5) (179)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from BEEEAR S
financing activities (m),/mAFRE (998,654) 2,735,561
Net cash inflow REeMAFRE 227,966 183,747

R FR
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e BB RME

31 December 2022 =ZE==#F+=A=+—8H

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (cCONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. TEHB LA FFE @

(b) EEEXRFEERBRRESZN
F2EMNBLTZFRE @)

Kuangjin E5y
2022 2021
—=E-= - —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Current assets mENEE 3,611,994 2,904,867
Non-current assets ERBEE 15,545 649
Current liabilities VEE=RiT 659,470 219,952
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE 524,887 —
Total equity e 48R 2,443,182 2,685,564
2022 2021
—=E=-= - —4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT
Loss for the year REEEE (15,293) —
Other comprehensive expense for the ~ AREEH 2 M H
year (227,089) —
Total comprehensive expense for the — ANFE2HE T H 4258
year (242,382) —
Net cash outflow from operating KEFBMFRESRT
activities FER (380,417) —
Net cash outflow from investing BREFMFHESRL
activities FEE (216) —
Net cash inflow from financing activities g% & & EFTEIR &R A
R 529,235 —
Net cash inflow REMAFE 148,602 —

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

4. TEMBE LA TFE @

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEARFEZERBERERN
that have material non-controlling interests F2EHB LR ZFE @
(Continued)

Xiangkuang =
2022
—E-=
HK$’000
FHExT
Current assets mENE E 1,883,193
Non-current assets FEnBEE 105
Current liabilities mENEE 976,116
Non-current liabilities FnBAaE 11,194
Total equity = BEE 895,988
From 11
January 2022
(date of
acquisition) to
31 December
2022
H=ZE==
—A+—H8
(KR =
—E-=
+=ZA=+-—H
HK$’000
FExT
Loss for the period NEAE AR (24,918)
Other comprehensive expense for the period AEHEMEEEZ N (78,907)
Total comprehensive expense for the period AHHEAES LB (103,825)
Net cash outflow from operating activities KETEBEAR &N EE (4,906)
Net cash outflow from investing activities WEEBEER S RLFE —
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEEBSELERRRAEE 61,981
Net cash inflow REMAFE 57,075

—E-—f% HEHERRALA
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31 December 2022 =Z=—f+=-FA=+—H

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

=

45. XD B 2 A AR K fE R

(a) RRATBZBBR

Company
2022 2021
—sE=-= B —%F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FAT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRARZKE 842,965 805,822
Loan to subsidiaries BERTH B QA 3,462,020 —
4,304,985 805,822
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U Y B8 2 B 3KIR 12,671,570 18,927,302
Loan to subsidiaries BEXTHBAR 2,740,946 —
Other receivables H b FE U 5K IR 5,590 5,587
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted ~ T [R#I3R & M R1T
T 76,293 65,450
15,494,399 18,998,339
Total assets BEMBTE 19,799,384 19,804,161
EQUITY Em
Share capital & 334,691 334,691
Reserves B 5,209,747 5,215,435
Total equity e HAEE 5,544,438 5,550,126
LIABILITIES =N
Current liabilities mEEE
Borrowings &K 2,740,946 —
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE 1 BT B 2 R FIB 7,996,718 14,193,205
Accruals and other payables FE & RIB [ H M FE -
A 55,262 60,830
10,792,926 14,254,035
Non-current liabilities 3F/}|L§ﬂ afE
Borrowings &3k 3,462,020 —
Total liabilities BERRE 14,254,946 14,254,035
Total equity and liabilities m kB ERRE 19,799,384 19,804,161
Net current assets MEEEFE 4,701,473 4,744,304
Total assets less current liabilities BEBBERIDEE 9,006,458 5,550,126

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

(b) Statement of reserves of the Company

45, QT Z AR R R R ER
E30 D)

(b) RATF zREEBEK

Capital
Share Contributed redemption Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
REE ERERH HEERE RERA “m
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIT TEL THIT TEL THIT
(note 27(a))
(HizE27())
Balance at 1 January 2021 nZT=—
—A—Rz#&s 4275172 491,773 769 397731 5165445
2020 final dividend paid IRHZZZZERER
B - — — (66,938) (66,938)
Profit for the year ERET — = = 116,928 116,928
Balance at 31 December 2021 i St
+=A=1+-8
b3 4275172 491773 769 447,721 5215435
2021 final dividend paid IRH-F=—F
KRS - - - (66,938)  (66,938)
Profit for the year ERRN - - - 61,250 61,250
Balance at 31 December 2022 WZZE--F+-R=
T—Rz & 4,275,172 491,773 769 442,033 5,209,747

46. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 46. it /& Bt B Rk 3k

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 23 March 2023.

AR ER - E-_=FE=HA=-+=H
EEERS I EWIRETZ -

ARBERRDA
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

B

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

EAREHRA  RXESBESN

“23rd Metallurgical”

[AE=1+="]

"AGM”
ERBFKE]

"Album Enterprises”

(2P

“Beijing Vanke”
[ERER ]

“Beijing Wanhu”
[t &)

“Board”

[EFg]

“Brightway Asset”
[FEEE]

“Bye-laws”

[RREIER]

“CERI"
[ 8 7 ]

“CG Code"
[EEEETA

“China”, “Mainland China” or “PRC"
[H B gl [ A B A 4

“China Merchants”

[HER

“China Minmetals”

[FhE R

“China Minmetals Group”

(PEAEEE]

“CMCL”
[ AR ]

‘CMN’
[hfEA k]

THREFBEG U TRE

The 23rd Metallurgical Construction Group Co., Ltd. of Minmetals*
hE- T AEREEERAF

annual general meeting of the Company for 2023

AR —_ZE_=FERRBFRE

Album Enterprises Limited

EREEARAF

Beijing Vanke Co., Ltd.*
EREMEEERAF

Beijing Wanhu Property Development Co., Ltd.*
EtREHFEHEREFRAF

the board of directors of the Company

ARBZEFE

Brightway Asset Management Limited
REEEEEARRAA

the Bye-laws of the Company
RRF 2 ERAL

Capital Engineering & Research Incorporation Ltd.*

PR TIRRMAR AR

the Corporate Governance Code
EEARTA

the People’s Republic of China
hEARAM

China Merchants Land (Shenzhen) Limited*
BEBREHM ORI BRA A

China Minmetals Corporation

TEABESEEARRA A

China Minmetals and its subsidiaries

o B T e BB A A

China Minmetals Corporation Limited*

FEAERODARRA A

China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Metals Company Limited*

hEAEEBRNARRAR

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



“CMNH"
[HREA Bk

“Company” or “Minmetals Land”

RAVNCIR AN 320y

“Condo Hong Kong”
[ B A1 E 7

"Director(s)”

[E%]

"Fifth Plaza Co"
[ERESNF

“GFA"
[4BBmEEAE]

"Group”
[AR&EHE ]

“Guangzhou Kuangmao”

(BN AR ]

“Guangzhou Kuangrong”

[EMNEEER ]

“Guangzhou Kuangyu”

[EMNiEE]

“Guangzhou Merchants”

[EMN A

HKS”

[&7t]

“Hong Kong” or "HKSAR”
(&8

“Hunan Kuangdai”

[ A ]

“Jiahe Risheng”
[ 32740 A 2% |

“June Glory”
[June Glory

"Kuangshi Jiye”
[0 tH B2 |

China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Holding Company Limited*

hEAEEBIERARAR

Minmetals Land Limited

hiEEARAQA

Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Company Limited

Rl (FE) TIEARAF

director(s) of the Company

RRBZES

Beijing Fifth Plaza Real Estate Co., Ltd*

ERERAESEFRERATA

gross floor area

REHEEE

the Company and its subsidiaries

AR MEMERA]

Guangzhou Kuangmao Property Development Co., Ltd.*

BMNTREEXFEHERZEER AR

Guangzhou Kuangrong Property Development Co., Ltd.*

BMNERFEHERZEFR AR

Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co., Ltd.*

BMHREEREBR AR

Guangzhou Merchants Property Development Ltd.*

ENBREFEHEGR AR

Hong Kong dollars
BT

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

B E B R BIITERER

Hunan Kuangdai Property Development Co., Ltd.*

HEEREHERZEERAR

Minmetals Land (Hunan) Jiahe Risheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*

BERERCHE) BMAREHERERR AR

June Glory International Limited
June Glory International Limited

Langfang Kuangshi Jiye Property Development Co., Ltd.*

By EEEEEMEREFRAA

TR FR

IRBERRDA

321



322

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

AR

“Liaoning Industrial Park”
[EEEXE

“Listing Rules”
[ETmRAN

“Massive Leader”
[ =45
“Minmetals Cheerglory”

[RAERR]

“Minmetals Finance”

[ B 1 75

“Minmetals HK"

[BAERE]

“Minmetals Land Holdings”
[ i A 4R P

“Minmetals Land Wuhan”

[ Rzt A R |

“Minmetals Properties Hunan”

[RREY ]

“Minmetals Real Estate”

[hEE %]

“MLI"
[MLI

“MLIML"
[AEERNE]

"MMG"
[AEER]

“Model Code”
[1ZE A =7 Al

"NAV"
[&EFE]

"OFL"
[OFL]J

Minmetals (Liaoning) Industrial Park Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*

hiE(EE) EXEERERAA

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited
ERBMAERIMERRARES LMRA

Massive Leader Limited
= /NC]

Minmetals Cheerglory Limited
hiERRARAR

Minmetals Finance Co., Ltd.*

hiEEEMBEBERET AR

China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited
PEAREEERBRAF

Minmetals Land Holdings Co., Ltd.*
REEERER AR

Minmetals Land (Wuhan) Development Co., Ltd.*
HEE (BUZ) BEARR QA

Minmetals Properties Service (Hunan) Co., Ltd.*

hEMERY OAE) BRAF]

Minmetals Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
TEEXBRAT

Minmetals Land Investments Limited
Minmetals Land Investments Limited

Minmetals Land Investment Management Limited

IRERREEEBRAF

MMG Limited
hEERBRAA

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
FHBETAESETESFXZNRESTE

net asset value

BEFE

ONFEM Finance Limited
ONFEM Finance Limited

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED
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“RMB"
[ARE]

“SFO”
[7& %5 K& &B ]

“Share(s)”
[ 1n ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 2R

“Share Option Scheme”

[FE AT &)

“Shengshi Guangye”
[ A%t R 2

“sq.ft.”
RN

usq.m.lr

[ 75K )

“Stock Exchange”
(B 32 P

“Texion”
[T

Uss”
ESH

“Wuhan Runling”
[HEBEER]

"Xiefeng”
(52 ]

“Zhongrun Chengzhen”

[ B ]

vy
[%]

* For identification purpose only

* EHRFH

Renminbi

AR

Securities and Futures Ordinance

&7 R E R D)

the ordinary share(s) of par value HKS$0.1 each of the Company
ARREREEIAE T Z BB

the shareholder(s) of the Company
ENNCI A

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 7 June 2013

ARRABR T -—=FRNALARAZBREE

Minmetals Shengshi Guangye (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
hiEEEERE (L) BRAF

square feet

FHR

square metres

F K

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERMEZ AR RNT

Texion Development Limited
BITEEER AT

United States dollars

eV

Wuhan Runling Property Development Co., Ltd.*
RNEBHEFMERERRAR

Ningbo Yinzhou Xiefeng Corporate Management Co., Ltd.*
BERTHEMNBELREEGFRAA

Hunan Zhongrun Chengzhen Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
MR EREERERAR

per cent

Bt

—E--f% HEHEBRALA
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ABOUT CHINA MINMETALS CORPORATION

EARTELIREEERAT

Founded in 1950, China Minmetals is one of the largest State-owned
conglomerates that operates globally with core business in exploration,
mining, smelting, processing and trading for metals and minerals,
finance, real estate, and mining and metallurgic technology. China
Minmetals was ranked 58 among the US Fortune world top 500
enterprises in 2022.

China Minmetals has, in recent years, actively participated in
commercial estate development, construction and installation business
after it has a footing on the residential development and industrial
estate business. Accordingly, it has equipped with considerable
resources and has residential and commercial estate development in
the Pan Bohai Rim region and the eastern and central part of China.

China Minmetals through its Hong Kong subsidiary, Minmetals HK,
holds approximately 61.88% equity interest in Minmetals Land. Upon
the approval of inclusion of property development and operation to
the core business of China Minmetals by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council, China
Minmetals announced its intention to transform Minmetals Land into its
listed real estate flagship. Through gradual asset injection and
consolidation of its real estate resources, China Minmetals aims at the
listing of its real estate business and turning Minmetals Land eventually
into a leading real estate development corporation which creates
better returns to its Shareholders, employees and the society.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

TEABR - NATERYL  BRASBRE
MR - RE R MBS UEkE
B BHE  BANMRATE  BITEREK
EMALEALEEE - —T-—F ffTA
A5 B = ) F st t SR 50058 (%581 ©

MER ARABRAFERBEMNIEWEA
AR BHR2EEmEMEMBETEER &
RTLENHERER - Ed - PRARTIIRY
HIE  ERE RPELCEREMRSSE
BREERmERM -

TEARBSBENREEZHBAR —&BR
BEA R EL61.88%E - B%HREAE
EEBERZE e APR ARG BIE
FEHELEAER —HEEEKRE PEA
BEIEHARIRE AE B E EFr M —
TR BBBR IR BAETEHESR
B BREHMEXSMNEE T SREAE
MEITERA—KEEHERFHINZENNE
FEMERLE BRE BEIMHSAEES
BE -




hiEithE

MINMETALS LAND

LEOI®TOI®]

PE R

BAENERDBRBER T RPBEREAE /&
18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

B 5 Tel: 2613 6363

{EH Fax: 25819823

B H Email : info@minmetalsland.com

#HE Website : www.minmetalsland.com
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